AHETAAALY

08045218

ODYSSEY

Improving the Quality of Life

Received SEC

ROCESSED

APR 0 3 2008 R 08 2008

HOMSON 4
Washington, DC 20549 FINANCIA)

2007

Annual Report




nor one that we make lightly. But rationalizing our
portfolio in this way allows us to focus more ume and
resources on those areas that offer the mose poteneial.

Sccond., we combined certain of our programs and revised
marketing strategics in others to achieve a more balanced
paticnt mix that should reduce the average length of stay
for those programs. ‘That effort, in turn, will enable us o
manage the Mcedicare cap more effecuvely.

Last year, we continued to invest in new information
systems that are improving our ability to communicate and
manage cfficiently. In fuct, the success of our I'T inttiative
played an important role in enabling our company to
undertake the acquisition of VistaCare. We implemented a
new billing system, and we are adding new systems in the
arcas of sales and marketing. Thesc investments added w
our costs in the short term bur should pay for themselves
in the long run.

Finally, we continue to strengthen our management team
with outstanding lcadership and expertise. [n 2006,

expericnce as an executive officer in healtheare companies,
became our Chief Financial Officer. In August of 2007,
Craig Gogucn joined our Company as Chief Opcrating
Officer. Craig has ¢xtensive experience in healtheare
operations in a highly decencralized business environment.
At DaVia, Inc., a national provider of kidney dialysis
scrvices where he served most recently, he led a division
that included more than 100 outpatient dialysis centers and
acute-care dialysis units with revenucs in excess of $300
million. We believe be is an excellent fit as we work to
tmplement our strategies, ¢nhance our operations and
improve our performance,

As we look forward to 2008, our primary objectives are to
maintain the VistaCare census and proficability, integrate
VistaCare's corporate functions into our Dallas Support
Center, improve our organic growth by instituting new
marketing strategics. grow through selective strategic
acquisitions, continue to manage our lengeh of sty by
focusing on a balanced patient mix, reduce our operating
costs, and improve our recruitment, regention and
development of our senior program level management.

A Commitment to Quality

Even as we work to operate more cost-efficiently, we will
not compromisc on the quality of our care. To us,
delivering quality services is more than a business strategy
— though it certainly is a stracegy that has helped
distinguish our Company. It is also our commitment o
case the suffering for those at the end of life and o help
case the burden on their families. And it is our mission
and reason fur being here. Each day, cach Odyssey

employee can go to work with the saasfaction that comes
from knowing we will be of value to sumeone who depends
on us during a difticule time of transition. That assurance
drives us to work even harder to be our best — and
become even better as a company.

Looking Ahead with Confidence

We believe that the marketplace continues to present our
Company wich cxcellent opportunities for growth. As che
populadon continues to age — the U.S. Census Burcau
estimarcs that, by 2020, more than 53 million Americans
will be age 65 or older— the need for hospice services
should also increase. During the pase 15 years, public
awareness and acceptance of hospice care have steadily
increased as well. Yer the market remains notably
underserved. Our industry also remains heavily
fragmented, and the majority of the counery’s hospice
providers are small operators. As the industry continues
to grow, we expect consolidation to accelerate, And s one
of the largest companies in our ficld — and having grown
significantly larger with the addidion of VistaCare — we are
well positioned to take advantage of this oend.

Ouwrs 15 an important mission. Our work matrers. That
recognition adds even more to our sense of responsibilicy
to Odysscy’s sharcholders. During the past year we
fulfilled that responsibility in ways that we believe will not
only fuel our suceess in the ctirrent environment, but will
propel us to greater success as the market continues o
evolve. We passed a rurning peine in 2007. We completed
the foundation for a seronger future. We approach that
furure wich enthusiasm and confidence. We also approach
it with gratitude for the caring efforts every day of our
employees, upon whose work our Company’s repucation for
excellence was bullt. And we remain grateful, as always, to
our shareholders fur your support and your investment.

Sincercly,

2 # P

Robert A, Lefton
President and Chief Executive Officer




Letter to Shareholders

For our company. 2007 was a ycar of transition. As one

of the country’s largest and most respected providers of
hospice care. we are leaders in a ficld thar will continue to
grow during the coming decades. However, we currently
operate in an envirenment where Medicare reimbursement
caps have created challenges for companices in the hospice
industry. ‘To address those chalicnges, we ok a number
of steps last ycar to operate more cffectively within the
Medicare cap framework. We have also made significant
investments that we believe will strengthen our long-term
ability to improve operating résules and make the most

of our opportunities. In addition, we have assembled an
experienced management team and remain optimistic
aboue what lics ahead for our enterprise.

On March 6. 2008. we reached an important milestone

in our transition — and what we belicve will be a

turning point in our history. We announced the completion
of our acquisition of VistaCare, Inc. (formerly listed on
NASDAQ under the symbol VSTA), which operates
approximatcly 35 Medicare-certified hospice programs.
The cash transaction was valued at $147.1 million ac a
price of $8.60 per share,

With this transaction we have extended our indusory
leadership and the geographic reach of the markets we
serve. Te greacly facilitates che achievement of two of our
primary goals: to accelerate revenuce groweh and increase
patient volume. Odyssey now owns and operates
approximately 110 locattons in 30 states, and cach day

we serve an average of approximately 12,000 patients and
their families. Morcover. we expect to exceed $600 million
in nce revenues during 2008, The joining of our companies
also increases our visibility, which adds value by supporting
our recruitment and development cfforts.

We believe the combination is a natural one. VistaCare's
organizational culture, philosophy and commitment to
excellence dovetail neatly with our own. We also were
artracted by che synergies we idencified. Especially
compelling to us is that no operational or Medicare cap
improvements will be necessary for this acquisition to be a
success. Our management team has a strong record of
managing acquisitions and integrations. and we anticipate
the combining of vur operations to proceed smoothly
throughout 2008,

The new Odyssey is stronger than either company was
before. Even before the acquisition we believe we laid a
solid foundation for the fucure through the implementation
of our operaung strategies. Now, we are positioned

for even greacer things. It would be an understatement

to say that we are excited about what lies ahead for

our organization.

Delivering Compassionate Care, Cost Efficiently

We provide services thar meet a demonstrated need to
improve the qualicy of life for patients and cheir families
near the end of a life’s journey. We do it all in a way that
brings quality and compassion together.,

Our registered nurses provide and coordinate care as we
provide medications and equipment to our patients’
residences. Qur home care atdes assist patients with
activitics of daily living. Our medical social workers
provide advice and counseling to patients and their
familics. Chaplains and counsclors offer spiritual support.
During periods of ¢risis, we provide continuous home care.
If adequate care is not feasible in the home, we provide or
arrange for short-term care in inpatient facilities. We offer
respite care to give family members a much needed break
from caring for ctheir loved one.

In addition to serving the physical and emotional needs of
our paticnts and their familics, we also meet an important
nced in the marketplace for payers seeking enhanced
quality while controlling costs. For patients, we provide
comprchensive management of services and products
through an interdisciplinary team. Our team approach
helps ensure coordinared care and clear acecountability.

In stark contrast, without hospice care. terminally il
patients often receive poorly coordinated services from an
array of providers, with little accountabilicy for clinical
outcomes or costs. Along with higher cxpense. this
uncoordinated approach also may lead to higher stress for
families during an alrcady difficult time. According to the
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, half of all
costs to Medicare accrue during the final ewo months of
bencficiaries” lives. But, by delivering better coordinated
care — mostly in paticnes’ residences instead of more
expensive settings — hospice programs have been shown
to reduce coses subseantially. In face, as one industry study
estimated, for every dollar spent on hospice care, the
Medicarc program saved $1.52.

Strategies for a Changing Environment

During 2007, we implemented several importane strategies
that we believe will cnable Odyssey to operate more
profitably within the Medicare cap and ro grow our
business while maintaining the quality of care thac has
abways been our hallmark.

First, we undertook a review of our entre portfolio. Our
analysis led us to close 11 of our hospice programs in
locations where our competitive positon, the effeets of the
Medicare cap andfor the size of the market had contribured
to operating losses.  Prior to our acquisition of VistaCare,
VistaCare had also made plans to close several of its
programs, and we are moving forward with those
arrangements. The decision to exit a market is not casy,




Financial Highlights

Year Ended December 31, Average Daily Patient Census
(i thousands, except per share) 2007 2006
Net patient service revenue $ 404,872 $ 384,981
Operating cxpenses 386,671 354,339
Income from continuing operations before
other income (expensc) 18,201 30,642
Other income (expense) 2.287 2,389
income from continuing vperations before
provision for income taxes 20,488 33,031
Provision for income taxes 6,830 11,659
Income from continuing operations 13,658 21,372 2003 |55
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (1.547) (1.643) 2004
Net income _ $ 12111 $ 19729 2005 W
2006
lncomf: (loss) per common share: 2007 |
Basic:
Continving operations $ 0.41 $ 0.63
Discontinued operations (0.4 {0.05)
Net income $ 0.37 5 0.58
Diluted: 2003
Continuing operations $ (.41 $ 0.62 2004 &
Discontinued operations (0.05) (0.05) 2005 B
Net income $ 0.36 3 (.57 2006
2007 PR
Weighted average shares outstanding;
Basic 33029 34. 145 The above information is bused on continuing vperations.
Diluced 33,188 34,529
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 (as amended, the “Securities Act™) and Section 2 1E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (as amended, the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this
report, including statements regarding our future financial position and results of operations, business strategy and
plans and objectives of management for future operations and statements containing the words “believe,” “may,”
“will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements are
subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from those anticipated or implied by the forward-looking
statements. Such risks, uncertainties and assumptions inciude, but are not limited to the following:

LI

. general market conditions;
. adverse changes in reimbursement levels under Medicare and Medicaid programs;

. our ability to successfully integrate and maintain the operations of the hospice programs acquired through
our acquisition of VistaCare, Inc.;

. adverse changes in the Medicare payment cap limits and increases in our estimated Medicare cap
contractual adjustments;

. decline in patient census growth;

. increases in inflation including inflationary increases in patient care costs;

. challenges inherent in and potential changes in our growth and development strategy;
» - our ability to effectively implement our 2008 operations and development initiatives;

. our dependence on patient referral sources and potential adverse changes in patient referral practices of
those referral sources;

. our ability to attract and retain healthcare professionals;

. increases in our bad debt expense due to various factors including an increase in the volume of pre-
payment reviews by Medicare fiscal intermediaries;

. adverse changes in the state and federal licensure and certification laws and regulations;
. adverse results of regulatory surveys;

. delays in licensure and/or certification;

. government and private party legal proceedings and investigations;

. cost of complying with the terms and conditions of our corporate integrity agreement,

. adverse changes in the competitive environment in which we operate;

. changes in state or federal income, franchise or similar tax laws and regulations;

. adverse impact of natural disasters; and

. changes in our estimate of additional compensation costs under FASB Statement No. 123(R).




In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated or
implied in the forward-looking statements. Many of these factors are beyond our ability to control or predict. Given
these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements, which
reflect management’s views only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any of the
forward-looking statements or publicly announce any updates or revisions to any of the forward-looking statements
contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions,
circumstances or assumptions underlying such statements.

PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview and Business Strategy
Overview

We are one of the largest providers of hospice care in the United States in terms of both patient census and
number of Medicare-certified hospice programs. We started in 1996 with a single hospice program; at year-end 2007
we provided care from 72 Medicare-certified hospice programs in 29 states. On March 6, 2008 we completed our
acquisition of VistaCare, Inc (“VistaCare™). After the completion of the VistaCare acquisition we now serve
approximately 12,000 patients and their families each day through approximately 110 Medicare-certified hospice
locations in 30 states.

Hospice services are designed to provide a wide range of care and services to terminally ill patients and their
families. The first hospice in the United States opened in 1974. In 1982, Congress enacted legislation to create the
Medicare hospice benefit, and hospice care became a covered Medicare benefit in 1983. We are highly dependent on
the Medicare program. Services provided under the Medicare program represented approximately 92.7% and 92.4%
of our net patient service revenue for 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Under the Medicare hospice benefit, a patient is appropriate for hospice care if two physicians determing that in
their clinical judgment the patient’s life expectancy is six months or less if the terminal illness runs its normal course
and the patient agrees to forego curative treatment for the patient’s terminal diagnosis. Medicare’s hospice benefit
covers a broad range of palliative (or comfort) services, including counseling and psychosocial services for
terminally ill patients and their families. Medicare beneficiaries who are hospice appropriate and elect to receive
hospice care have virtually all caregiving, medicat equipment, supplies and drugs related to the terminal illness
covered by Medicare.

A central concept of hospice care involves the creation of an interdisciplinary team that provides comprehensive
management of the healthcare services and products needed by hospice patients and their families. An
interdisciplinary team is typically comprised of:

. a physician;

= apatient care manager;

. one or more registered nurses;

. one or more certified home health aides;

. a medical social worker;

»  achaplain;

. a homemaker; and

. one or more specially trained volunteers.




We assign each of our hospice patients to an interdisciplinary team, which assesses the clinical, psychosocial and
spiritual needs of the patient and his or her family, develops a plan of care and delivers, monitors and coordinates
that plan of care with the goal of providing appropriate care for the patient and his or her family. This
interdisciplinary team approach offers significant benefits to hospice patients, their families and payors, including:

. the provision of coordinated care and treatment;
. clear accountability for clinical outcomes and cost of services; and
* the potential reduction of stress and dysfunction of patients and their families.

In contrast, the treatment of terminally il) patients outside the hospice setting often results in the patient receiving
medical services from physicians, hospitals, home health agencies, skilled nursing facilities, and/or home infusion
therapy companies, with little or no effective coordination among the providers. This lack of coordination often
results in a lack of clear accountability for clinical outcomes and an increase in the cost of services provided. These
patients and their families also generally do not receive the psychosocial and bereavement counseling services
provided as part of the Medicare hospice benefit. For a complete description of our hospice services, see * -Our
Hospice Services and Centralized Support Center.”

Business Strategy

Our mission is “To Serve All People During the End of Life’s Journey.” For us, that means providing quality,
responsive care to all patients in our service areas who are appropriate for hospice, regardless of diagnosis. It also
means continuing to increase the number of patients and families we serve in our existing service areas and
expanding into other geographical areas, The key components of our strategy for 2008 include:

Maintain VistaCare census and profitability and integrate VistaCare corporate functions: On March 6, 2008
we completed our acquisition of VistaCare. Following the completion of the VistaCare acquisition we now serve
approximately 12,000 patients and their families each day through approximately 110 Medicare-certified hospice
locations in 30 states. Our primary goal during this integration period is to maintain the VistaCare patient census
and site level profitability while implementing the best practices from each organization. We are currently in the
process of integrating the VistaCare corporate functions with our own corporate functions at our Support Center,
the name for our corporate headquarters in Dallas, Texas. We anticipate that the VistaCare corporate support
functions will be fully transitioned to our Support Center by the end of the fourth quarter of 2008.

Grow organically and through acquisitions: We intend to continue to pursue a focused and strategic
approach in our development plans, including both organic growth and acquisitions. Our average daily patient
census for 2007 was 7,790, an increase of 1.2% over our average daily patient census of 7,700 in 2006. Listed
below are the sizes of our Medicare-certified hospice programs for the quarters ended December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2007, respectively, Prior year numbers have been restated to reflect discontinued operations.

Number of
Medicare-Certified
Hospice Programs

within this Daily
Patient Census

Range
Daily Patient Census 2006 2007
L) O ST P O PO O TP PSP 14 13
B L O ST PP PO TP OYPP IO 22 25
TOL-200. et st es et st sa e st sa e enea s s et et eme s et e e e e nbeen et ereeaeabed 27 27
4 1 O OO PP PP YPPP S 6 7




In general, our program level margin increases as a program’s average daily patient census increases. Qur
objective is to increase the number of patients that each of our hospice programs serves, thus improving our site-
level margins and leveraging our corporate overhead. Our overali margins in 2007 were negatively impacted by
the Medicare cap contractual allowance (see **- Governmert Regulation and Payment Structure™), the write-off
of approximately $3.1 million in previously capitalized costs related to several certificate of need (*CON”)
applications, and the investments we made in seven start-up inpatient units, three Medicare-certified hospice
programs and four alternate delivery sites that we opened curing 2007 and the implementation of our new
integrated billing system.

Organic Growth: Each of our hospice programs has a team of community education representatives
(“CERs") who work with referral sources in the healthcare community - primarily physicians, nursing homes,
assisted living facilities and hospitals - to educate them about hospice care in general and our services in
particular. As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 255 CERs, who are supported by a centralized
training and education department in our Support Center. Same store growth, that is, average daily census
growth of programs that have been Medicare certified for 12 months or more, was 4.1% and 2.3% in 2006 and
2007, respectively. We opened three new Medicare certified programs in 2007. We also expanded the service
areas of several of our existing programs by opening four alternate delivery sites in 2007. We expect to open two
to three new Medicare-certified hospice programs in 2008. Qur primary focus in 2008 will be to improve same
store growth at our current programs by continuing to refine program level marketing plans, utilizing improved
community education materials, and improving our development and retentien of quality community education
representatives.

Growth through selectively acquiring other hospices: Qur development team identifies, evaluates and
acquires hospices that complement our existing geographic footprint, In 2006, there were approximately 3,036
Medicare-certified hospice programs in the United States according to the Medicare Payment Advisory
Commission’s (“MedPAC”) publication “A Data Book: Healthcare Spending and the Medicare Program, 2007”
(2007 MedPAC Data Book™). Approximately 52% of these programs were operated by not-for-profit
organizations. In February 2007 we acquired a small hospice program that we merged into our existing program
in Athens, Georgia. On March 6, 2008 we announced that we had completed the acquisition of VistaCare.
Following the acquisition of VistaCare we now operate approximately |10 Medicare-certified hospice programs
in 30 states and provide hospice services to approximately 12,000 patients and their families each day. We will
continue to identify and evaluate other strategic hospice acquisition opportunities in 2008.

Manage our length-of-stay: We are continuing to take a broader view of managing the Medicare cap, (see “-
Government Regulation and Payment Structure™} by actively managing our average length-of-stay on a market-
by-market basis. A key component of this strategy is to analyze each hospice program’s mix of patients and
referral sources to achieve an optimal balance of the types of patients and referral sources that we serve at each
of our programs. We believe this strategy will increase our net patient service revenue by reducing our Medicare
cap contractual/adjustment. Developing new relationships and thereby adjusting patient mix takes time to
implement and will continue to be an ongoing process.

Manage our costs more effectively: In 2007 our costs increased at a faster rate than our growth in net patient
service revenue. Our inpatient development efforts contributed to this increase in costs as did an increase in our
patient admission and patient discharge volumes. Our costs, particularly our labor costs, are typically higher
during the first few weeks following the start of care for a new patient and in the last few weeks prior to a
patient’s death. In addition, increases in our mileage reimbursement expenses and normal salary adjustments
increased our operating costs. We have developed and implemented additional labor management tools to
improve our management of labor costs and expect to begin to see the benefits of these management tools in the
second quarter of 2008.

Improve the recruitment, retention and development of our senior program level management: We recognize
that our most significant asset is our employees. One of our goals during 2008 is to improve the recruitment,
retention and development of our local program leadership which we expect will reduce overall employee
turnover and improve the operations and profitability of each of our programs.




Complete our portfolio review: During 2007 we completed the disposition of seven underperforming
programs. We will continue to review our portfolio of programs and dispose of additional underperforming
programs, including one or more underperforming inpatient units, in order to focus our efforts on our more
profitable programs.

Principal Office and State of Incorporation

Our corporate offices are located at 717 N. Harwood, Suite 1500, Dallas, Texas 75201, Our telephone number is
(214) 922-9711, and our website is www.odsyhealth.com, We were incorporated in Delaware in August 1995 and
began operations in January 1996.
Hospice Services and Payment

The Medicare hospice benefit covers the following services for palliative care, and we provide each of these
services directly or by contracted arrangement:

. Nursing care

. Medical social services

. Physician services

. Patient counseling (dietary, spiritual and other)

. General inpatient care

. Medical supplies and equipment

. Drugs for pain control and symptom management

. Home health aide services

. Homemaker services

. Therapy (physical, occupational and speech)

. Respite inpatient care

. Family bereavement counseling

Medicare is our largest payor for hospice services. For patients not eligible for Medicare, many private insurance
companies and most states with a Medicaid hospice benefit offer substantially similar services for patients and
families and substantially similar payment schedules to hospice providers.

The Medicare hospice benefit has always covered prescription drugs for palliative purposes. Even though recent
legislation added coverage for prescription drugs to Medicare, hospices are still required to cover drugs for palliative
care. Thus, beneficiaries in hospice care will continue to be covered for symptom management of their terminal
iliness through the hospice benefit. Drugs for conditions unrelated to the terminal illness may be covered through the
optional Medicare drug benefit.

While the Medicare hospice benefit is designed for patients with six months or less to live, a patient’s hospice
services can continue for more than six months as long as the patient remains eligible. Initially, both the hospice
medical director and the patient’s attending physician must certify that in their clinical judgment the patient’s life
expectancy is six months or less if the terminal illness runs its normal course. The initial certification period is for 90
days. This initial period is followed by an additional 90 day period and an unlimited number of 60 day periods. At
each recertification period, a physician, either our medical director or the patient’s attending physician, must re-

certify that the patient’s life expectancy is six months or less on a forward looking basis, that is, not counting the
days that have elapsed since the initial certification or most recent recertification.




Medicare primarily makes per diem payments to hospices for each day a beneficiary is enrolled for hospice care.

The per diem payment structure is based on four levels of care (see below); the majority of care provided by us is
routine home care. Medicare per diem payments for each level of care are subject to a wage index which varies
based on the geographic location where the services are provided.

Our Current Reimbursement Range
Level of Care : Description of Care {Inclusive of Wage Index)*

Routine Home Care ...........cocoveeerane Hospice services provided in the $116.54-5198.92
patient’s home or other residence.
Accounted for 97.2% and 96.9% of
our total days of care in 2007 and

2006, respectively.
Continuous Home Care ................... Continuous care provided in the $680.19-$1,160.99
patient’s home or other residence {(per diem equivalent)

during a period of crisis to manage
acute pain or other medical symptoms
for a minimum of eight hours per day,
with nursing care accounting for at
least half of the care provided. Paid
on an hourly basis. Accounted for
0.9% and 1.2% of our total days of
care in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

General Inpatient Care.........cc.......... Care provided in a hospital or other  $524.08-$865.47
inpatient facility to manage acute
pain and other medical symptoms that
cannot be managed effectively in a
home setting. Accounted for 1.7% of
our total days of care for both 2007
and 2006.

Respite Inpatient Care ........cooovveevnn Care provided for up to five days ina $124.63-$191.76
hospital or other inpatient facility to
relieve the patient’s fumily or other
caregivers. Accounted for 0.2% of
our total days of care for both 2007
and 2006,

*  Includes VistaCare programs

Medicare base payment rates for hospice care are updated annually based on the hospital market basket index,
and are further adjusted by a wage index to reflect healthcare labor costs across the country. The table below lists
Medicare hospice base payment rate increases for the past five years. These rate increases do not include the effect
of wage indexing.

Percentage
Effective Date of Rate Increase Increase
OCODET 1, 2003 ..ottt vt ee et se e et e st e vt e sre s ns v s bssress e s nensnonsasnsesnsesnsesensbesasesnens 3.4%
OCIODET 1, 2004 ..o.oooooeoe et ss st e e s st e s aesa s e emssasines ot snaarassssresaneassaren 3.3%
CI0DET 1, 2008 .ottt bt s e et e e s s e s ates s s e tese s ae e et e e s s e e ant s e ananteateasese e rone e antas 3.7%
OCLODEE 1, 2006 ..ottt ettt et e st es st e e s e smsesm e esesss s secasecasesnsesnsarnsornsornrsaresntesares 3.4%
OCEODET 1, 2007 ettt ettt e eeee et e e et e et e e e et e st e e esmee s tanesseannsansnneassaaarsasrnsssnseassnttsas assnntssaresarets 3.3%




Hospice Utilization and Market Opportunity

We believe that the following trends in hospice utilization and the aging population are positive indicators for the
hospice industry:

Acceleration in Hospice Use: The number of Medicare beneficiaries electing hospice care has increased from
513,840 in 2000 to 864,201 in 2005, a 70% increase, according to the 2007 MedPAC Data Book. According to
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service (“CMS”), Medicare spending for hospice care has grown from
less than $2.9 billion in 2000 to $8.2 billion in 2005, and is estimated to increase to approximately $9.8 billion
for 2006. Hospice use has also increased considerably among Medicare patients in nursing facilities and those
with non-cancer diagnoses. From 1992 to 2000, use of hospice by beneficiaries in nursing facilities grew from
11% to 36% and the percentage of new hospice patients with non-cancer diagnoses rose from 24% to 49%.
Approximately 32% and 31% of our 2006 and 2007 admissions, respectively, were diagnosed with cancer.

Length of Stay: According to the 2007 MedPAC Data Book, the average length of stay for Medicare hospice
beneficiaries was 67 days in 2005, an increase of 2 days over 2004, In 2005, the average lengths of stay in
hospice varied widely by state, from a fow of 40 days in Connecticut to a high of 122 days in Mississippi,
according to the 2007 MedPAC Data Book. According to MedPAC’s June 2006 “Report to the Congress:
Increasing the Value of Medicare” the average length of stay for Medicare hospice beneficiaries has increased
between 2002 and 2004 , however, the median length of stay has remained relatively short al approximately two
weeks. Our average length of stay in 2006 and 2007 were 84 and 85 days, respectively.

Aging Population in the United States: According to the 2000 census conducted by the United States Census
Bureau, an estimated 35.0 million persons, or approximately 12.4% of the total United States population, were
age 65 or over. The United States Census Bureau currently projects that the population of persons age 65 and
over will rise to an estimated 54.6 million, or approximately 16.3% of the total United States population, by the
year 2020, :

Our Hospice Services and Centralized Support Center

Our Medicare-certified hospice programs are comprised of teams of caregivers, clinicians responsible for
assuring Medicare compliance, admissions coordinators, CERs and a small administrative staff. Administrative
functions such as human resources, payroll, employee benefits, training, reimbursement, finance, accounting, legal
and information systems are handled for all our hospice programs at our centralized Support Center.

Caregivers: We provide a full range of hospice services (see "~ Hospice Services and Payment” for list of
services and levels of care). At the time of admission to our hospice program, each patient is assigned to an
interdisciplinary team of caregivers including a physician, nurse, home health aide, social worker and chaplain. In
addition, we have trained volunteers, managed by a volunteer coordinator, who provide non-medical support
services such as running errands or providing companionship to the patient. Our care is designed to provide pain and
symptom relief for the patient, but it extends beyond the patient’s physical needs: nurses counsel families and loved
ones on caring for patients and expectations as the terminal iliness progresses; social workers and spiritual care
coordinators assist the patient and the family as appropriate; therapists, dieticians and other disciplines are assigned
as needed and bereavement coordinators provide various support services to families and loved ones for at least 13
months after the patient’s death. Our medical directors are physicians who are under contract with us to provide
certain clinical and administrative services, including oversight of patient care and weekly participation in
interdisciplinary team meetings to review our patients.

At the time of a patient’s admission, the nurse responsible for the patient develops a plan of care, which
delineates the services, supplies and medications the patient will receive. The plan of care varies by patient and
family situation and changes as the patient’s condition evolves. However, a typical plan of care would include
several visits by a nurse and home health aide weekly and the services of social workers, chaplains and volunteers as
appropriate for the particular patient and family situation. In the days immediately after a patient’s admission and in
the time shortly before the patient’s death, the needs of the patient and family tend to be more intensive. Our
services are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

Community Education Representatives: Each of our hospice programs has a team of CERs who educate the
healthcare community about hospice in general and our company specifically. Our CERs work primarily with our
referral sources, which include physicians, hospital discharge planners, nursing homes, assisted living facilities and
managed care and insurance companies. Qur CERs utilize educational materials, most of which are available in
several different languages, prepared by our centralized training and education staff.




Increasing Our Patient Census: The average daily patient census, which is an important indicator of our
financial results, is a function of our admissions and changes in our patients’ average Jength of stay. These factors
are not only influenced by the quality of care we provide and the work of our CERs with referral sources, but also by
the aging population in this country and the increasing acceptance and understanding of hospice. In 2007, our
average daily patient census was 7,790, an increase of 1.2% over 2006; admissions in 2007 were 32,757, an increase
of 1.1% over 2006; and our average length of stay in 2007 was 85 days, a 1.2% increase over 2006.

Where We Provide Our Care: Our patients reside in their own homes and in nursing homes and other long-term
care facilities, including assisted living facilities, which Medicare considers the patient’s residence. We have
contractual arrangements with these long-term care facilities to provide hospice care to our patients who reside in
those facilities.

Each of our hospice programs also has contracts with inpatient facilities, including hospitals or skilled nursing
facilities, to provide general inpatient care and respite inpatient care. In addition, we operate our own inpatient
hospice facilities where we provide general inpatient care and respite inpatient care. We do not have any current
plans to develop any additional freestanding inpatient units in 2008; however, we will continue to evaluate
opportunities to develop additional facility-based inpatient hospice facilities in select markets in 2008.

Medicare-Covered Care: The Medicare hospice benefit, which is similar to the benefits provided under
Medicaid and most commercial insurance, is designed to provide palliative care, that is, pain and symptom relief,
rather than curative care, In addition to hospice services provided by our caregivers, we provide medicat supplies
(such as bandages and catheters}, durable medical equipment (such as hospital beds and wheelchairs), and drugs for
pain and symptom relief related 1o the terminal diagnosis.

Diagnoses: The following table lists the terminal diagnosis. by disease for our admissions in 2005 through 2007,

Percentage of

Patients Admitted
by Primary Diagnosis
Primary Diagnosis 2005 2006 2007
L0 4 T2 O OO RO 32% 32% 31%
End-stage heart diSEase.........ccccocvrvvmviiviirevcncnnreresssrerermrnnsssesessssesnsesesesssnsnsons 20 18 18
DIMENTIA. .- cecrrirtiriist st eesestests et esb et or e bt sns et abs bhbabae s e nreas 19 19 17
DIEDIIILY covverererercrererccecresvsrenie e s ste s sae e e et ns st e rr snennnsenra e neens 13 15 9
LUNE QiSEASE ..covrarrniiririnrrrereasiisiisenrissssssmissssssssnsssssesssssatn srsseanasssesassasesans 8 8 8
End-stage Kidney disease.........ccvovcrniennecimneineinine s eees 3 3 3
End-stage liver diSEase .........ccvviiiiiveecrecisteine et srast e earasnnes 2 2 2
OHREL ... e et e e et e v _3 _3 2
Totals 100% 100% %o
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Hospice Programs, Inpatient Facilities and Support Center

Hospice Programs and Inpatient Facilities: Below is a listing of our 72 hospice programs that were Medicare-

certified as of December 31, 2007,
Alabama
Birmingham
Mobile
Arizona
Phoenix (two inpatient
facilities)(1)
Tucson (one inpatient facility)(1)
Arkansas
Little Rock
California
Bakersfield
Los Angeles (West Covina)
Orange County (Garden Grove)
Palm Springs (Rancho Mirage)
{one inpatient facility){1)
San Bernardino
San Diego
San Jose (Campbell)
Santa Ana (Garden Grove)
Ventura County
Colorade
Colorado Springs
(one inpatient facility)(1)
Denver
Delaware
Wilmington
Florida
Daytona Beach (Palm Coast)
Miami
Georgia
Athens
Atlanta (one inpatient facility)(1)
Savannah
Ilinois
Chicage - South (Chicago)
Indiana
Fort Wayne
Indianapolis

Louisiana

Baton Rouge

Lake Charles

Minden

New Orleans (Metairie)
Massachusetts

Boston

Michigan

Detroit (Southfield) (one inpatient
facility)

Mississippi

Gulf Coast (Gulfport)
Jackson

Missouri

Kansas City

St. Louis

Nebraska

Omaha

Nevada

Las Vegas (one inpatient facility)(1)
New Jersey

New Jersey (Piscataway)
New Mexico
Albuquergue

Ohio

Cleveland (Mayfield Heights)
Columbus (Gahanna)
Toledo (Maumee)
Oklahoma

Oklahoma City

(one inpatient facility)(1)
Oregon

Portland (Beaverton)
Pennsylvania

Harrisburg (Camp Hiil)
Philadelphia (Blue Bell)
Pittsburgh

Rhode Island
Providence (Warwick)
South Carolina
Charleston (North Charleston)
Tennessee

Memphis
Nashville

Texas

Amarilto (one inpatient facility)(1)
Austin

Baytown

Beaumont

Brownsville

Bryan-College Station (Bryan)
Conroe (one inpatient facility)(1)
Corpus Christi

Dallas {one inpatient facility)(1)
East Texas (Tyler)

E! Paso

Fort Worth (one inpatient facility 1)
Houston (one inpatient facility)(1)
Lubbock

San Antonio

(one inpatient facility}(1)

Tempte

Waxahachie

Virginia

Arlington (Vienna)

Norfolk

Richmond

Wisconsin

Milwaukee (West Allis)

(1) We had a total of fifteen inpatient facilities as of December 31, 2007 with a total of 172 beds.
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Below is a listing of the 38 hospice programs of VistaCare that were Medicare-certified as of December 31,
2007.

Alabama Massachusetts Texas

Phenix City Boston Austin
Arizona Nevada Amarillo
Phoenix Reno (Sparks) Corpus Christi
Tucson New Mexico Dallas
Colorade Albuquerque Ft. Worth
Denver Hobbs Greenville
Georgia Ohio Houston North
Athens Columbus Houston Post Oak
Atlanta Oklahoma Lubbeck
Columbus Oklahoma City Plainview
Emory Tulsa San Angelo
Macon Pennsylvania San Antonio
Savannah Philadelphia Temple
Indiana South Carolina Utah
Indianapolis Greenville Ogden
Evansville Salt Lake City
New Albany

Terre Haute

Support Center: Our corporate office in Dallas, Texas, which we call the Support Center, provides centralized
services and resources for each of our hospice programs including financial accounting systems such as billing,
accounts payable and payroll; information and telecommunications systems; clinical support services; human
resources; regulatory compliance and quality assurance; training; and legal support. We are in the process of
transferring the corporate functions of VistaCare to our Support Center. This transition is expected to be completed
by the fourth quarter of 2008.

We utilize a variety of software programs to manage our operations. Various electronic management reports
assist in labor utilization and productivity and show operating trends of our various hospice programs. We utilize
our intranet system $o assist in standardizing our operational procedures and for certain web-based training. We
utilize a tracking system to manage contact and relationship data associated with our CER’s and their referral
networks. As we have previously disclosed, we are in the process of implementing a new integrated billing system.
We completed the implementation of the new billing system during the first quarter of 2008 at our existing hospice
programs and will begin the conversion of the VistaCare hospice programs during the second quarter of 2008. We
regularly evaluate relevant technology that could enhance our business processes and efficiency.

Government Regulation and Payment Structure

The healthcare industry and our hospice programs are subject to extensive federal and state regulation. Our
hospice programs are licensed as required under the laws of the states where we provide service as either hospices or
home health agencies, or both. In addition, our hospice programs must meet the Medicare conditions of participation
to be eligible to receive payments under the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

What are Medicare and Medicaid? Medicare is a federally funded and administered health insurance program,
primarily for individuals entitled to Social Security benefits who are 65 years of age or older or who are disabled.
Medicaid is a health insurance program jointly funded by state and federal governments to provide medical
assistance to qualifying low-income persons. Twenty-eight of the 30 states in which we currently operate offer
Medicaid hospice services. We have not been adversely affected by the absence of a Medicaid benefit in the two
states in which we currently provide service that do not have a Medicaid hospice benefit. We cannot assure you that
the various states will not change or eliminate their Medicaid hospice benefits nor can we assure you that Congress
will not change the Medicare hospice benefit.
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Medicare Conditions of Participation. The Medicare program requires each of our hospice programs to satisfy
prescribed conditions of participation to be eligible to receive payments from Medicare. These conditions of
participation describe requirements associated with the management and operations of our hospice programs.
Compliance with the conditions of participation is monitored by state survey agencies designated by the Medicare
program. In some cases, failure to comply with the conditions may result in payment denials, the imposition of fines
or penalties or the implementation of a corrective action plan. In extreme cases or cases where there is a history of
repeat violations, a state survey agency may recommend a suspension of new admissions to the hospice program or
termination of the hospice program in its entirety. On May 27, 2005 CMS issued proposed regulations that would
change the current Medicare conditions of participation. We anticipate that CMS will issue the final regulations in
2008 implementing the new Medicare conditions of participation. We do not expect the final regulations to have a
material impact on our results of operations.

The Medicare conditions of participation for hospice programs include the following:

. Governing Body. Each hospice must have a governing body that assumes full responsibility for the policies
and the overall operation of the hospice and for ensuring that all services are provided in a manner
consistent with accepted standards of practice. The governing body must designate one individual who is
responsible for the day-to-day administrative operations of the hospice.

. Direct Provision of Core Services. Medicare limits those services for which the hospice may use individual
independent contractors or contract agencies to provide care to patients. Specifically, substantially all
nursing, social work and counseling services must be provided directly by hospice employees meeting
specific educational and professional standards. During periods of peak patient loads or under
extraordinary circumstances, the hospice may be permitted to use contract workers, but the hospice must
agree in writing to maintain professional, financial and administrative responsibility for the services
provided by those individuals or entities.

. Medical Director. Each hospice must have a medical director who is a physician and who assumes
responsibility for overseeing the medical component of the hospice’s patient care program. These
physicians may be employed by or under contract with the hospice.

. Professional Management of Non-Core Services. A hospice may arrange to have non-core services such as
therapy services, home health aide services, medical supplies or drugs provided by a non-employee or
outside entity. If the hospice elects to use an independent contractor to provide non-core services, then the
hospice must retain professional management responsibility for the arranged services and ensure that the
services are furnished in a safe and effective manner by qualified personnel, and in accordance with the
patient’s plan of care.

. Plan of Care. The patient’s attending physician, the medical director or designated hospice physician, and
the interdisciplinary team must establish an individualized written plan of care prior to providing care to
any hospice patient. The plan must assess the patient’s needs and identify services to be provided to meet
those needs and must be reviewed and updated at specified intervals.

. Continuation of Care. A hospice may not discontinue or reduce care provided to a Medicare beneficiary if
the individual becomes unable to pay for that care.

. Informed Consent. The hospice must obtain the informed consent of the hospice patient, or the patient’s
representative, that specifies the type of care services that may be provided as hospice care.

. Training. A hospice must provide ongoing training for its employees.
. Quality Assurance. A hospice must conduct ongoing and comprehensive self-assessments of the quality

and appropriateness of care it provides and that its contractors provide under arrangements to hospice
patients.
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. Interdisciplinary Team. A hospice must designate an interdisciplinary team to provide or supervise hospice
care services. The interdisciplinary team develops and updates plans of care, and establishes policies
govemning the day-to-day provision of hospice services. The team must include at least a physician,
registered nurse, social worker and spiritual or other counselor. A registered nurse must be designated to
coordinate the plan of care.

. Volunteers. Hospice programs are required to recruit and train volunteers to provide patient care services or
administrative services. Volunteer services must be provided in an amount equal to at least five percent of
the total patient care hours provided by all paid hospice employees and contract staff.

. Licensure. Each hospice and all hospice personnel must be licensed, certified or registered in accordance
with appticabie federal, state and local laws and regulations.

. Central Clinical Records. Hospice programs must maintain clinical records for each hospice patient that
are organized in such a way that they may be easily retrieved. The clinical records must be complete and
accurate and protected against loss, destruction and unauthorized use.

In addition to the conditions of participation governing hospice services generally, Medicare regulations also
establish conditions of participation related to the provision of various services and supplies that many hospice
patients receive from us. These services include therapy services (such as physical therapy, occupational therapy and
speech-language pathology), home health aide and homemaker services, pharmaceuticals, medical supplies, short-
term general inpatient care and respite inpatient care, among other services.

Surveys. Like many healthcare organizations, our hospice programs undergo surveys by federal and state
governmental authorities to assure compliance with both state licensing laws and regulations and the Medicare
conditions of participation. As is common in the healthcare community, from time to time, we receive survey reports
containing statements of deficiencies for alleged failure to comply with the various regulatory requirements, We
review these reports, prepare responses and take appropriate corrective action, if required. The reviewing agency is
generally authorized to take various adverse actions against a hospice program found to be in non-compliance,
including the imposition of fines or suspension or revocation of a hospice program’s license. If this adverse action
were taken against any of our hospice programs, this action could materially adversely affect that hospice program’s
ability to continue to operate and to participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. This could materially
adversely affect our net patient service revenue and profitability. None of our hospice programs has been suspended
at any time from participation in the Medicare or Medicaid programs or had its state licensure suspended or revoked.

Certificate of Need Laws and Other Restrictions. Some states have certificate of need (“CON™) laws that require
state approval prior to opening new healthcare facilities or expanding services at existing healthcare facilities.
Approval under CON laws is generally conditioned on the showing of a demonstrable need for services in the
community, and approximately 14 states have CON laws that apply to hospice services. However, some states with
CON requirements permit the transfer of a CON from an existing provider to a new provider. We entered Nashville,
Tennessee, in 1998, Little Rock, Arkansas, in 2001 and Memphis, Tennessee, in 2003, by acquiring existing
hospices that had met the CON requirement in those states. In addition, we applied for and were awarded CONs in
Daytona and Miami, Florida and are currently operating hospice programs in both cities. In the future, we may seek
to develop or acquire hospice programs in states that have CON laws. While several states have abolished CON laws
and other states do not apply them to hospice services, these laws could adversely affect our ability to expand
services at our existing hospice programs or to make acquisitions or develop hospices in new or existing geographic
markets. In 2007 we expensed approximately $3.1 millicn in previously capitalized costs related to several pending
and denied CON applications.

New York has additional laws that restrict the development and expansion of hospice programs. Under New

York law, a hospice cannot be owned by a corporation that has ancther corporation as a stockholder. These laws
may prevent us from being able to provide hospice services 1o the residents of New York,
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Limits on the Acquisition or Conversion of Non-Profit HealthCare Organizations. An increasing number of
states require government review, public hearings and/or government approval of transactions in which a for-profit
entity proposes to purchase or otherwise assume the operations of a non-profit healthcare facility. Heightened
scrutiny of these transactions may significantly increase the costs associated with future acquisitions of non-profit
hospice programs in some states and otherwise increase the difficulty in completing those acquisitions or prevent
them entirely. We cannot assure you that we will not encounter regulatory or governmental obstacles in connection
with our acquisition of non-profit hospice programs in the future.

Overview of Government Payments

Substantially all of our net patient service revenue is attributable to payments received from the Medicare and
Medicaid programs. 97.1% and 96.9% of our net patient service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2007, respectively, were attributable to Medicare and Medicaid payments.

As with most government programs, Medicare and Medicaid are subject to statutory and regulatory changes,
possible retroactive and prospective rate adjustments, administrative rulings, and freezes and funding reductions, all
of which may adversely affect payments to us. For example, the 2008 Budget Proposal submitted by the President to
Congress includes the elimination in the 2009 through 2011 Medicare fiscal years of the annual inflation adjustment
that we receive each year under current law and a reduction of 0.65% in the annual adjustment for the 2012 and
2013 Medicare fiscal years. In addition, the President’s 2008 Budget Proposal included the phase out of the hospice
specific wage index over a three year period. If enacted these proposed changes could reduce overall hospice
expenditures by approximately $5.1 billion over the next five years. Reductions or changes in Medicare or Medicaid
funding could significantly reduce our net patient service revenue and our profitability. We cannot predict at this
time whether the reductions included in the President’s 2008 Budget Proposal will be enacted or whether any
additional healthcare reform initiatives will be implemented or whether other changes in the administration of
governmental healthcare programs or interpretations of governmental policies or other changes affecting the
healthcare system will occur.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.
We believe that we are in material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Compliance with laws and
regulations can be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action
including fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Medicare. Medicare pays us based on a prospective payment system under which we receive one of four
predetermined daily or hourly rates based on the level of care (See “- Hospice Services and Payment”). The four
levels of care are routine home care, continuous home care, general inpatient care and respite inpatient care. These
rates are currently subject to annual adjustments for inflation and are also adjusted annually based on geographic
location.

Direct patient care physician services delivered by physicians contracted with us are billed separately by us to
the Medicare fiscal intermediary and paid at the lesser of the actual charge or 100% of the Medicare allowable
charge for these services. This payment is in addition to the daily rates we receive for hospice care. We generally
pay our contracted physicians 80% of the Medicare allowable charge for these physician services. Payments fora
patient’s attending physician’s professional services, other than services furnished by physicians contracted with us,
are not paid to us, but rather are billed by and paid directly to the attending physician by the Medicare carrier based
on the Medicare physician fee schedule. Physician services represented 0.5% and 0.6% of our gross patient service
revenue for 2006 and 2007, respectively.

The Medicare Cap. Various provisions were included in the tegislation creating the Medicare hospice benefit to
manage the cost to the Medicare program for hospice, including the patient’s waiver of curative care requirement,
the six-month terminal prognosis requirement and the Medicare payment caps. The Medicare hospice benefit
includes two fixed annual caps on payment, both of which are assessed on a program-by-program basis. One cap is
an absolute dotlar amount; the other limits the number of days of inpatient care. None of our hospice programs
exceeded the payment limits on general inpatient care services for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and
2007. The caps are calculated from November 1 through October 31 of each year.
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Dollar Amount Cap. The Medicare revenue paid to a hospice program from November | to October 31 of the
following year may not exceed the annual cap amount which is calculated by using the following formula: the
product of the number of admissions to the program by patients who are electing to receive their Medicare hospice
benefit for the first time, multiplied by the Medicare cap amount, which for the November t, 2006 through October
31, 2007 Medicare fiscal year is $21,410. The Medicare cap amount is reduced proportionately for patients who
transferred in or out of our hospice services. The Medicare cap amount is annually adjusted for inflation, but is not
adjusted for geographic differences in wage levels, although hospice per diem payment rates are wage indexed. The
Medicare cap amount for the November 1, 2007 through October 31, 2008 cap year has not yet been announced by
the Medicare program. We currently estimate the Medicare cap amount to be approximately $22,052 for the
Medicare cap year ending October 31, 2008,

The following table shows the Medicare cap amount for the past three years and the estimated amount for the
current year.

Medicare Cap Year Ending October 31, Medicare Cap Amount
0L O OO OO OSSOSO ST PO $ 19,778
2000 . e e e aesaae e et e st et r et aa s era s eresereaate et e e e e rerrebeen $ 20,585
2007 e ieesceisa s e sa e e e e s e e e te e aa s S e he e aeerae A S e eSS AR SR b e e Rt e nt et e et ey arvant baat b e enn e e et $ 21410
2008 (ESHMALEA) ..ecveiviieiiisi ettt e ee e et bt eta st e en e te e e eseeseeresmssansenssme s esenennnen $ 22,052

The following table shows the amounts accrued and paid for the Medicare cap contractual adjustments for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively:

Accrued Medicare Cap Contractual Adjustments
Year ending December 31,
2005 2006 2007

{in thousands)
Beginning balance - accrued Medicare cap contractual

AAJUSTINENIIS 1.veveceievectict et cr e bas st e e e s e s ernenan £ 2,915 $ 14,883 $ 26,679
Medicare cap contractual adjustments..........ccccovrvvrvrrrienennes 7,182(1) 10,621(2) 5,261(3)
Medicare cap contractual adjustments - discontinued

OPEIALIONS ..vvieveeiereieiniereee s s e et b e s b b s reneean 4,786(4) 5,843(4) 2,429(4)
Payments to Medicare fiscal intermediaries ...........c...occeeein. — (1,983) (12,687
Reclassification to accounts payable ...........ccoevvccrcerirevecinnnnns — (2.685)(S) —
Ending balance - accrued Medicare cap contractual

AAJUSTMIENTS oottt ettt st eees s 514,883 $ 26,679 $_ 21,682

(1)  On August 26, 2005, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) issued Change Request
Transmittal 663 publishing the final Medicare per beneficiary cap amount of $19,778 for the 2005 Medicare
cap year ended October 31, 2005 and indicated that the cap amount for the 2004 Medicare cap year ended
October 31, 2004 was incorrectly computed. This cap amount was lower than the estimated cap amount that
we used for 2005 due to CMS’s error in computing the cap amount for the 2004 Medicare cap year. As a
result, the 2005 acerued Medicare cap contractual adjusiment of $7.2 million includes $1.0 million for the
lower 2005 Medicare cap amount and an additional $1.1 million for the 2003 and 2004 Medicare cap years for
the estimated impact of the revised cap amounts.

(2) Includes additional accrual of $3.1 million related to the 2005 Medicare cap year.
(3) Includes additional accrual of $0.9 million related to the 2006 Medicare cap year.

(4) Medicare cap contractual adjustments reclassified to discontinued operations are related to all programs that
we have discontinued and sold during 2006 and 2007.

(5} Amounts were reclassified from accrued Medicare cap contractual adjustments to accounts payable in
December 2006 and were paid in January 2007 to the Medicare fiscal intermediary.




The accuracy of our estimates of the Medicare cap contractual adjustment is affected by many factors, including:

the actual number of Medicare beneficiary patient admissions and discharges and the dates of occurrence
of each;

* changes in the average length of stay at our hospice programs;
. fluctuations in admissions and discharges at our hospice programs;

. possible enrollment of beneficiaries in our hospice programs who may have previously elected Medicare
hospice coverage through another hospice program and whose Medicare cap amount is prorated for the
days of service for the previous hospice admission;

. possible enroliment of beneficiaries with another hospice program who had been on previous hospice
service with one of our own hospice programs and discharged from our hospice program and whose
Medicare cap amount is prorated between the programs for the days of service for the subsequent hospice
admission;

. fiscal intermediary disallowances of certain beneficiaries and changes in calculation methedology;

. uncertainty surrounding length of patient stay in various patient groups, particularly with respect to non-
cancer patients; and

. the fact that we are not advised of the Medicare cap amount that will be used by Medicare to calculate our
Medicare cap contractual adjustment until the latter part of the Medicare cap year, requiring us to use an
estimate of that amount throughout the year,

Between 2003 and 2007, several of our hospice programs exceeded the Medicare cap amount. As a result, we
were required to repay a portion of payments previously received from Medicare. We actively monitor the Medicare
cap amount at each of our programs and seek to implement corrective measures as necessary. We maintain what we
believe are adequate allowances in the event that we exceed the Medicare cap in any give fiscal year; however,
because of the many variables involved in estimating the Medicare cap contractual that are beyond our control, we
cannot assure you that we will not increase or decrease our estimated contractual allowance in the future. We cannot
assure you that one or more of our hospice programs will not exceed the Medicare cap amount in the future.

Inpatient Care Cap. A hospice program’s inpatient care days, either general inpatient or respite inpatient care
and regardless of setting, may not exceed 20% of the program’s total patient care days in the Medicare cap year.
None of our hospice programs has exceeded the inpatient care cap. We cannot assure you that one or more of our
hospice programs will not exceed the Medicare inpatient care cap in the future.

Fiscal Intermediary Reviews. Medicare contracts with fiscal intermediaries to process hospice claims and
periodically conduct targeted medical reviews and other audits on hospice claims. During a typical review of one of
our hospice programs, the fiscal intermediary will request a small number of patient charts to review for hospice
appropriateness (that is, clinical documentation that supports the patient’s terminal prognosis) and various required
documents such as physician signatures and certifications. We routinely challenge claim denials which we believe
are unjustified. While we believe that our review results to date are satisfactory, routine reviews and targeted
medical reviews of our hospice programs could result in material recoupments or denials of claims.

In addition to the denial of claims, reviews by fiscal intermediaries can impact our cash flow and days
outstanding in accounts receivable in two ways. First, in some cases we delay the bill processing of claims
undergoing a review by the fiscal intermediary. Second, Medicare has a claims processing procedure known as
sequentiat billing which prevents hospice programs from billing for a period of service for a patient before the prior
billed period has been reimbursed. These delays can reduce our cash flow and increase our days outstanding in
accounts receivable.
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Medicare Six-Month Eligibility Rule. In order for a Medicare beneficiary to qualify for the Medicare hospice
benefit, two physicians must certify that in their clinical judgment the beneficiary has less than six months to live,
assuming the disease runs its normal course. In addition, the Medicare beneficiary must affirmatively elect hospice
care and waive any rights to other Medicare benefits related to the terminal diagnosis. Medicare and other payor
sources recognize that terminal illnesses are not entirely predictable, and patients may continue to receive hospice
service if the hospice medical director or the patient’s attending physician recertify at time intervals prescribed by
law that the patient’s life expectancy, on a look-forward basis, continues to be less than six months. The
recertifications are required 90 and 180 days after admission and every 60 days thereafier. No limits exist on the
number of periods that a Medicare beneficiary may be recertified. A Medicare beneficiary may revoke his or her
election to receive hospice services at any time and resume recziving regular Medicare benefits. The Medicare
beneficiary may elect the hospice benefit again at a later date provided that the beneficiary satisfies the six-month
eligibility rule.

In addition to the traditional Medicare fee-for-service program, the Medicare program also offers a managed care
benefit to electing Medicare beneficiaries. These managed care programs are often referred to as Medicare
Advantage programs. Our payments for services provided to Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in Medicare Advantage
programs are currently processed in the same way and at the same rates as those of traditional Medicare fee-for-
service beneficiaries. We cannot assure you that hospice services will continue to be paid entirely under the
Medicare fee-for-service program.

Medicaid. Medicaid is a state-administered program financed by state funds and matching federal funds to
provide medical assistance to the indigent and certain other eligible persons. In 1986, hospice services became an
optional state Medicaid benefit. For those states that elect to provide a hospice benefit, Medicaid is required to pay
us rates that are at least equal to the hospice rates paid by Medicare. Currentty, 45 states and the District of
Columbia provide hospice coverage to their Medicaid beneficiaries. Most of the states providing a Medicaid hospice
benefit pay us at rates equal to or greater than the rates provided under Medicare and those rates are calculated using
the same methodology as Medicare. States maintain flexibility to establish their own hospice election procedures
and to limit the number and duration of benefit periods for which they will pay for hospice services.

Long-Term Care Facility Residents. For our patients who receive nursing home care under state Medicaid
programs in states other than Arizona, Oklahoma and Pennsylvania, the applicable Medicaid program pays us an
amount equal to no more than 95.0% of the Medicaid per diera nursing home rate for “room and board” services
furnished to the patient by the nursing home. This room and board payment is in addition to the applicable Medicare
or Medicaid hospice per diem payment that we receive. Pursuant to our standard agreements with nursing homes, we
pay the nursing home for these “room and board” services at a rate equal to 100.0% of the Medicaid per diem
nursing home rate. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operation - Expenses.”

Other Healthcare Regulations

Fraud and Abuse Laws. Provisions of the Social Security Act, commonly referred to as the fraud and abuse
provisions, prohibit the filing of false or fraudulent claims with Medicare or Medicaid and the payment or receipt of
any form of remuneration in return for the referral of Medicare or Medicaid patients or arranging for the referral of
patients, or in return for the recommendation, arrangement, purchase, lease or order of items or services that are
covered by the Medicare or Medicaid programs. Violation of these provisiens could constitute a felony criminal
offense and applicable sanctions including imprisonment of up to five years, criminal fines of up to $25,000, civil
monetary penalties of up to $50,000 per act plus three times the amount claimed or three times the remuneration
offered and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Many states have adopted similar prohibitions
against payments that are intended to induce referrals of Medicaid and other third-party payor patients.

The Office of Inspector General, Department of Health and Human Services (“OIG”), has published numerous
“safe harbors” that exempt some practices from enforcement action under the federal fraud and abuse laws. These
safe harbors exempt specified activities, including bona fide employment relationships, some contracts for the rental
of space or equipment, and some personal service arrangements and management contracts. While the failure to
satisfy all of the requirements of a particular safe harbor does not necessarily mean that the arrangement is unlawful,
arrangements that do not satisfy a particular safe harbor may be subject to scrutiny by the OIG.
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We are required under the Medicare conditions of participation and some state licensing laws to contract with
numerous healthcare providers and practitioners, including physicians, hospitals and nursing homes, and to arrange
for these individuals or entities to provide services (o our patients. In addition, we have contracts with other
suppliers, including pharmacies, ambulance services and medical equipment companies. Some of these individuals
or entities may refer, or be in a position to refer, patients to us, and we may refer, or be in a position to refer, patients
to these individuals or entities. These arrangements may not qualify for a safe harbor. We believe that our contracts
and arrangements with providers, practitioners and suppliers are not in violation of applicable fraud and abuse laws.

From time to time, various federal and state agencies, such as the OIG, issue a variety of pronouncements,
including fraud alerts, the OIG's Annual Work Plan and other reports, identifying practices that may be subject to
heightened scrutiny. For example, in March 1998, the OIG issued a special fraud alert titled “Fraud and Abuse in
Nursing Home Arrangements with Hospices.” This special fraud alert focused on payments received by nursing
homes from hospices. The OIG also issued a voluntary Compliance Program Guidance for Hospices in September
1999. We believe that we are in material compliance with all applicable federal and state fraud and abuse laws.
However, we cannot assure you that these laws will not be interpreted in the future in such a way as to cause us to be
in violation of these laws.

HIPAA Fraud and Abuse Provisions. Portions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of
1996 (*HIPAA™) impose civil monetary penalties in cases involving the fraud and abuse laws or contracting with
excluded providers. In addition, HIPAA created new statutes making it a felony to engage in fraud, theft,
embezzlement, or the making of false statements with respect to healthcare benefit programs, including private and
government programs. In addition, federal enforcement agencies can exclude from the Medicare and Medicaid
programs any investors, officers and managing employees associated with business entities that have committed
healthcare fraud, even if the individual had no first-hand knowledge of the fraud.

Civil Monetary Penalties Statute. The federal civil monetary penalties statute prohibits any person or entity from
knowingly submitting false or fraudulent claims, offering to or making payments to a beneficiary to induce the
beneficiary to use a particular provider or supplier, or arranging or contracting with an individual or entity that the
person or entity knows or should know is excluded from the Medicare or Medicaid programs for the provision of
items or services that may be reimbursed, in whole or in part, by the Medicare or Medicaid programs. Violations can
result in civil monetary penalties ranging from $10,000 to $530,000 per claim or act, plus damages of not more than
three times the amount claimed for each such item or service,

False Claims Act. In addition to federal fraud and abuse laws, under separate statutes, the submission of claims
for items and services that are “not provided as claimed” may lead to civil monetary penalties, criminal fines and
imprisonment, and/or exclusion from participation in federally funded healthcare programs, including the Medicare
and Medicaid programs. These false claims statutes include the Federal False Claims Act. Under the Federal False
Claims Act, in addition to actions being initiated by the federal government, a private party may bring an action on
behalf of the federal government. These private parties, are often referred to as qui tam relators, and are entitled to
share in any amounts recovered by the government. Both direct enforcement activity by the government and qui tam
actions have increased significantly in recent years and have increased the risk that a healthcare company, like us,
will have to defend a false claims action, pay fines or be excluded from the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs as a
result of an investigation arising out of this type of an action. Many states have enacted similar laws providing for
the imposition of civil and criminal penalties for the filing of fraudulent claims. Because of the complexity of the
government regulations applicable to our industry, we cannot assure that we will not be the subject of one or more
actions under the False Claims Act or similar state law.

Stare False Claims Laws, The Deficit Reduction Act of 2003, or DRA, which was signed into law on February 8,
2006 includes a provision encouraging states to adopt their own false claims act provisions by increasing the states’
share of any recoveries related to Medicaid funds. Several states where we currently do business, have already
adopted state false claims laws that mirror to some degree the federal false claims laws. While these statutes vary in
scope and effect, the penalties for violating these false claims laws include administrative, civil and/or criminal fines
and penalties, imprisonment and the imposition of multiple damages. There has been an increase in enforcement
activity by the states due in part to the implementation of the DRA.
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The Stark Law and State Physician Self-Referral Laws. Section 1877 of the Social Security Act, commonly
known as the “Stark Law,” prohibits physicians, subject to the exceptions described below, from referring Medicare
or Medicaid patients to any entity providing “designated health services” in which the physician has an ownership or
investment interest or with which the physician has entered into a compensation arrangement. Persons who violate
the Stark Law are subject to civil monetary penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Hospice care is not specifically enumerated as a health service subject to this prohibition; however, some of the
ten designated health services under the Stark Law, including physical therapy, pharmacy services and certain
infusion therapies, are among the specific services furnished bv our hospice programs. Regulations interpreting the
Stark Law currently provide that compensation arrangements tetween referring physicians and a hospice will not
violate the Stark Law. We cannot assure you, however, that future regulatory changes will not result in us becoming
subject to the Stark Law’s prohibition in the future.

Many states have also enacted physician self-referral laws, which generally prohibit financial relationships with
referral sources that are not limited to services for which Medicare or Medicaid payments may be made. Similar
penalties, including loss of license or eligibility to participate in government programs and civil and criminal fines,
apply to violations of these state self-referral laws. These laws vary from state to state and have seldom been
interpreted by the courts or regulatory agencies, We believe that our relationships with physicians do not violate
these state self-referral laws. However, we cannot assure you that these laws will not be interpreted in the future in
such a way as to call into question our relationships with physicians.

Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee-Splitting. Most states have laws that restrict or prohibit unlicensed
persons ot business entities, including corporations, from employing physicians and/or prohibit direct or indirect
payments or fee-splitting arrangements between physicians and unlicensed persons or business entities. Possible
sanctions for violations of these restrictions include loss of a physician’s license, civil and criminal penalties and
rescission of business arrangements. These laws vary from state to state, are often vague and have seldom been
interpreted by the courts or regulatory agencies.

We contract with physicians to provide medical direction and patient care services. A state with these
prohibitions could determine that the provision of patient care services by our contracted physicians violates the
corporate practice of medicine and/or fee-splitting prohibitions. We structure our arrangements with healthcare
providers to comply with the relevant state law. However, we cannot assure you that government officials charged
with the responsibility for enforcing these laws will not assert that we, or transactions in which we are involved, are
in violation of these laws. These laws may also be interpreted by the courts in a manner inconsistent with our
interpretations. The determinatiens or interpretations by a state may require us to restructure our arrangements with
physicians in the applicable state.

Regulation Governing the Privacy and Transmission of Healthcare Information
In addition to its antifraud provisions, HIPAA also requires improved efficiency in healthcare delivery by
standardizing electronic data interchange and by protecting the confidentiality and security of individual health data.
More specifically, HIPAA calls for:
. standardization of certain electronic patient health, administrative and financial data;

= privacy standards protecting the privacy of individually identifiable health information; and

. security standards protecting the confidentiality and integrity of electronically held individually identifiable
health information.

In August 2000, final regulations establishing standards for electronic data transactions and code sets, as required
under HIPAA, were released. These standards are designed to allow entities within the healthcare industry to
exchange medical, billing and other information and to process transactions in a more timely and cost effective
manner. Modifications to the electronic data transactions and code sets standards were issued on February 20, 2003,
and further modifications were issued on March 10, 2003.
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The HIPAA privacy standards are designed to protect the privacy of certain individually identifiable health
information. The privacy standards have required us to make certain updates to our policies and procedures and
conduct training for our employees surrounding these standards. Sanctions for failing to comply with the MIPAA
privacy rules could include civil monetary penalties of $100 per incident, up to a maximum of $25,000 per person,
per year, per standard. The final rule also provides for criminal penalties of up to $50,000 and one year in prison for
knowingly and improperly obtaining or disclosing protected health information, up to $100,000 and five years in
prison for obtaining protected health information under false pretenses, and up to $250,000 and ten years in prison
for obtaining or disclosing protected health information with the intent to sell, transfer or use such information for
commercial advantage, personal gain or malicious harm.

Additional Federal and State Healthcare Laws. The federal government and all states also regulate other aspects
of the hospice industry. In particular, our operations are subject to federal and state laws covering professional
services, the dispensing of drugs and other types of hospice activities. Some of our employees are subject to state
laws and regulations governing the ethics and practice of medicine, respiratory therapy, pharmacy and nursing.

Surveys and Certification. Qur operations are subject to periodic survey by government entities to assure
compliance with applicable state licensing and Medicare and Medicaid certification. From time to time in the
ordinary course of business, we, like other healthcare companies, receive survey reports containing deficiencies for
alleged failure to comply with applicable requirements. We review these reports and take appropriate corrective
action if necessary. The failure to take corrective action or to obtain, renew or maintain any of the required
regulatory approvals, certifications or licenses could materially adversely affect our business and could prevent our
hospice programs involved therein from offering services to patients or billing for those services. In addition, laws
and regulations often are adopted to regulate new products, services and industries. We cannot assure you that either
the states or the federal government will not impose additional regulations upon our activities that might adversely
affect us.

Employment Laws and Regulations. As a large employer, we are subject to various federal and state laws
regulating employment practices. We are specifically subject to audits by various federal and state agencies
regarding our compliance with these laws. We believe that our employment practices are in material compliance
with applicable federal and state laws. However, we cannot assure you that government officials charged with the
responsibility of enfor¢ing these laws will not assert that we are in violation of these laws, or that these taws will be
interpreted by the courts in a manner consistent with our interpretations.

We maintain an internal corporate compliance program and from time to time retain regulatory counsel for
guidance on applicable laws and regulations. However, we cannot assure you that our practices, if reviewed, would
be found to be in compliance with applicable federal and state laws, as the laws ultimately may be interpreted.
Compliance and Continuous Quality Improvement Programs

Compliance Program: We have a comprehensive company-wide compliance program. Our compliance program
provides for:

. a compliance officer and committee;

. a corporate code of business conduct and ethics and standards of conduct;

*  employee education and training;

. an internal system for reporting concerns on a confidential, anonymous basis;
. ongoing internal auditing and monitoring programs; and

. a means for eriforcing the compliance program policies.
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As part of our ongoing internal auditing and monitoring programs, we conduct periodic compliance reviews and
internal regulatory audits and mock surveys at each of our Medicare-certified hospice programs. If a program does
not achieve a satisfactory rating, we require it to prepare and implement a plan of correction. In certain situations we
will perform a follow-up audit and survey to verify that all defiziencies identified in the initial audit and survey have
been corrected.

On July 6, 2006, we entered into a five-year Corporate Integrity Agreement (*CIA”) with the Office of the
Inspector General of HHS. The CIA is structured to assure the federal government of our federal health care
program compliance and specifically covers clinical appropriatzness of our hospice patients. The CIA imposes
certain auditing, self-reporting and training requirements that we must comply with. Under the CIA, we have an
affirmative obligation to report to the government probable violations of applicable federal heatth care laws and
regulations. This obligation could result in greater scrutiny by regulatory authorities. Breach of the CIA could
subject us to substantial monetary penalties or affect our participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, or
both. We have agreed, during the five-year term of the CIA, to operate our compliance program in a manner that
meets the requirements of the CIA.

Continuous Quality Improvement: As required under the Medicare conditions of participation, we have a
continuous quality improvement program in place. Qur continuous quality improvement program involves:

. on-going education of staff and quarterly continuous quality improvement meetings at each of our hospice
programs and at our Support Center;

. quarterly comprehensive audits of patient charts performed by each of our hospice programs; and

. at least once a year, a comprehensive audit of patient charts performed on each of our hospice programs by
our clinical compliance staff.

If a hospice program fails to achieve a satisfactory rating on a patient chart audit, we require the program to
prepare and implement a plan of correction. We then conduct a follow-up patient chart audit to verify that
appropriate action has been taken to prevent future deficiencies.

We continually expand and refine our compliance and continuous quality improvement programs. Specific
written policies, procedures, training and educational materials and programs, as well as auditing and monitoring
activities, have been prepared and implemented to address the functional and operational aspects of our business.
Our programs also address specific problem areas identified through regulatory interpretation and enforcement
activities. Our policies, training, standardized documentation requirements, reviews and audits also specifically
address our financial arrangements with our referral sources, including fraud and abuse laws and physician self-
referral laws.

Competition

Hospice care in the United States is competitive. Because payments for hospice services are generally paid on a
per diem basis, we compete primarily on our ability to deliver quality, responsive services. The hospice care market
is highly fragmented, and we compete with a large number of organizations, some of which have or may obtain
significantly greater financial and marketing resources than us. According to MedPAC, in 2006 there were
approximately 3,036 Medicare-certified hospice programs, an increase of 5.0% over 2005. According to MedPAC,
approximately 52% of existing hospice programs are not-for-profit programs. Most hospice programs are small- and
medium-sized programs.

We also compete with a number of national and regionat hospice providers, including Vitas Healthcare
Corporation, hospitals, long-term care facilities, home health agencies and other healthcare providers, including
those with which we presently maintain contractual relationships, that offer hospice and/or palliative care services
such as Golden Living (formerly Beverly Enterprises, Inc.) and Manor Care, Inc. Many of them offer home care to
patients who are terminally ill, and some actively market palliative care and “hospice-like” programs. Relatively few
barriers to entry exist, so other companies not currently providing hospice care may enter the hospice markets that
we serve and expand the variety of services they offer.
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Insurance

We maintain primary general (occurrence basis) and professional (claims made basis) liability coverage on a
company-wide basis with limits of $1.¢ million per occurrence and $3.0 million in the aggregate, both with a
deductible of $75,000 per occurrence or claim. We also maintain workers’ compensation coverage, except in Texas,
at the statutory limits and an employer’s liability policy with a $1.0 million limit per accident/employee, with a
deductible of $500,000 per occurrence. In Texas we do not subscribe to the state workers’ compensation program,
instead we maintain a separate employer’s excess indemnity coverage in the amount of $5.0 million per
accident/employee and voluntary indemnity coverage in the amount of $5.0 million per accident/employee, with a
$5.0 million aggregate limit. We also maintain a policy insuring hired and non-owned automobiles on a company-
wide basis with a $1.0 million limit of liability and a $250,000 deductible per occurrence. In addition, we maintain
umbrella coverage with a limit of $20.0 million excess over the general, professional, hired and non-owned
automobile and employer’s liability policies.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 4,185 full-time employees and 649 part-time employees. Approximately
23.3% of our full-time employees and 35.6% of our part-time employees are registered nurses. None of our
employees are currently covered by collective bargaining agreements.

Available Information

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We are a reporting company and file an
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K when necessary.
The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450
Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. That
website address is http://www _sec.gov.

We maintain a website with the address http://www.odsyhealth.com. We are not including the information
contained on our website as a part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We
make available free of charge through our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports, as soon as reasonably possible after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish such material to, the SEC. These Annual Reports, Quarterly Reports
and Current Reports may be found on our website under the “Investor Relations” tab by clicking on the link titled
“SEC Filings.” Information relating to our corporate governance policies, including our Corporate Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics and Standards of Conduct for our directors, officers and employees and information concermning
our Board committees, including committee charters, is also available on our website at http.//www.odsyhealth.com
under the “Investor Relations™ tab by clicking on the link titled “Corporate Governance.” We will provide any of the
foregoing information free of charge upon written request to Investor Relations, Odyssey HealthCare, Inc., 717 N.
Harwood, Suite 1500, Dallas, Texas 75201. Reports of our executive officers, directors and any other persons
required to file securities ownership reports under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are also
available through our website under the “Investor Relations™ tab by clicking on the link titled “SEC Filings” and
then clicking on the link “View Section 16 Filings (3.4,5).”

Item 1A, Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock is subject to significant risks inherent in our business. As such, you should
consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The occurrence of any of the events described below could have a material adverse effect on
our business. Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not presently know or that we currently consider
immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks occur, it could cause the trading
price of our common stock to decline, perhaps significantly.
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If we fail to comply with the terms of our Corporate Integrity Agreement, we could be subject to substantial
monetary penalties or suspension or termination from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

On July 6, 2006 we entered into a five-year Corporate Integrity Agreement (“CIA”) with the Office of Inspector
General of Health and Human Services. The CIA imposes certain auditing, self-reporting and training requirements
that we must comply with. 1f we fail to comply with the terms of our CIA, we could be subject to substantial
monetary penalties and/or suspension or termination from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The
imposition of monetary penalties would adversely affect our profitability. A suspension or termination of our
participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs would have a material adverse affect on our profitability and
financial condition as substantially all of our net patient service revenue is attributable to payments received from
the Medicare and Medicaid programs. 97.1% and 96.9% of our net patient service revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, were attributed to Medicare and Medicaid payments.

We are highly dependent on payments from Medicare and Medicaid. If there are changes in the rates or
methods governing these payments for our services, our net patient service revenue and profits could materially
decline.

We are highly dependent on payments from Medicare and Medicaid. Approximately 97.1%, 97.1% and 96.9%
of our net patient service revenue for 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, consisted of payments, paid primarily on a
per diem basis, from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Because we generally receive fixed payments for our
hospice care services based on the level of care provided to our hospice patients, we are at risk for the cost of
services provided to our hospice patients. The 2008 Budget Proposal submiited by the President to Congress
includes the elimination in the 2009 through 2011 Medicare fiscal years of the annual inflation adjustment that we
receive each year under current law and a reduction of 0.65% in the annual inflation adjustment for the 2012 and
2013 Medicare fiscal years. In addition, the President’s 2008 Budget Proposal included the phase out of the hospice
specific wage index over a three year period. If enacted these proposed changes could reduce overall Medicare
hospice expenditures by approximately $5.1 billion over the next five years. Reductions or changes in Medicare or
Medicaid funding could significantly reduce our net patient service revenue and our profitability. We cannot predict
at this time whether the reductions included in the President’s 2008 Budget Proposal will be enacted or whether any
additional healthcare reform initiatives will be implemented or whether other changes in the administration of
governmental healthcare programs or interpretations of governmental policies or other changes affecting the
healthcare system will occur. Reductions in amounts paid by government programs for our services or changes in
methods or regulations governing payments could cause our net patient service revenue and profits to materially
decline,

Beginning in July 1, 2008 we will be required to submit certain patient visit information with each Medicare
claim we submit. We believe that our current billing system can provide this additional information; however, to the
extent the VistaCare acquired programs are not transitioned to our billing system prior to the effective date of this
new billing requirement we may experience delays in our reimbursement. These delays may adversely affect our
cash flows and results of operations.

We are subject to a Medicare cap amount which is calcuiated by Medicare. Our net patient service revenue and
profitability could be adversely affected by limitations on Medicare payments.

Overall payments made by Medicare to us are subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare fiscal
intermediary at the end of the hospice cap period. The hospice cap period runs from November 1st of each year
through October 31st of the following year. Total Medicare payments received by each of Medicare-certified
programs during this period are compared to the cap amount for this period. Payments in excess of the cap amount
must be returned by us to Medicare. The cap amount is calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiaries
electing hospice care during the period by a statutory Medicare cap amount that is indexed for inflation. The
Medicare cap amount is reduced proportionately for Medicare patients who transferred into or out of our hospice
programs and either received or will received hospice services from another hospice provider. The Medicare cap
amount for the twelve month period ending October 31, 2008 has not been established by Medicare. Once
published, the new Medicare cap amount will become effective retroactively for all services performed since
November 1, 2007. The hospice cap amount is computed on a program-by-program basis. Qur net patient service
revenue for 2007 was reduced by approximately $5.3 million as a result of our hospice programs exceeding the
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Medicare cap. Our ability to comply with this limitation depends on a number of factors relating to a given hospice
program, including number of admissions, average length of stay, mix in level of care and Medicare patients that
transfer into and out of our hospice programs. Our revenue and profitability may be materially reduced if we are
unable to comply with this and other Medicare payment limitations. We cannot assure you that additional hospice
programs will not exceed the cap amount in the future or that our estimate of the Medicare cap contractual
adjustment will not materially differ from the actual Medicare cap amount.

We operate in an industry that is subject to extensive federal, state and local regulation, and changes in law and
regulatory interpretations could reduce our net patient service revenue and profitability.

The healthcare industry is subject to extensive federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations relating to,
among others:

»  payment for services;

. conduct of operations, including fraud and abuse, anti-kickback prohibitions, physician self-referral
prohibitions and false claims;

. privacy and security of medical records;
. employment practices; and

. facility and professional licensure, including certificates of need, surveys, certification and recertification
requirements, and corporate practice of medicine prohibitions.

In recent years, Congress and some state legislatures have introduced an increasing number of proposals to make
significant changes in the healthcare system. Changes in law and regulatory interpretations could reduce our nel
patient service revenue and profitability.

Recently, there have been heightened coordinated civil and criminal enforcement efforts by both federal and
state government agencies relating to the healthcare industry. There has also been an increase in the filing of actions
by private individuals on behalf of the federal government against healthcare companies alleging the filing of false
or fraudulent Medicare or Medicaid claims. This heightened enforcement activity increases our potential exposure to
damaging lawsuits, investigations and other enforcement actions. Any such action could distract our management
and adversely affect our business reputation and profitability.

We were the subject of a civil investigation by the Civil Division of the United States Department of Justice
(“DOJ”). On July 6, 2006 we entered into a settlement agreement with the DOJ to permanently settle the
investigation for $13.0 million. As part of the settlement of the investigation we entered into a corporate integrity
agreement on July 6, 2006 with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General.
We paid the $13.0 million settlement amount on July 11, 2006. See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” and Note 14 to our
consolidated financial statements.

On February 14, 2008 we received a letter from the Texas Attomey General’s office notifying us that it is
conducting an investigation concerning Medicaid hospice services provided by Odyssey and requesting
approximately 50 medical records of patients served by our programs in the State of Texas. Based on the early stage
of this investigation and limited information that we have at this time, we cannot predict the outcome of this
investigation, the Texas Attorney General’s views of the issues being investigated, any actions that the Texas
Attorney General may take or the impact, if any, that the investigation may have on our business, results of
operations or capital resources.

In the future, different interpretations or enforcement of laws, rules and regulations governing the healthcare
industry could subject our current business practices to allegations of impropriety or illegality ar could require us to
make changes in our facilities, equipment, personnel, services and capital expenditure programs, increase our
operating expenses and distract our management. If we fail to comply with these extensive laws and government
regulations, we could become ineligible to receive government program payments, suffer civil and criminal
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penalties or be required to make significant changes to our operations. In addition, we could be forced to expend
considerable resources responding to an investigation or other enforcement action under these [aws or regulations.
For a more detailed discussion of the regulatory environment in which we operate, see “Item 1. Business -
Government Regulation and Payment Structure.”

Almost half of our hospice patients reside in nursing homes. Changes in the laws and regulations regarding
payments for hospice services and “room and board” provided to our hospice patients residing in nursing
homes could reduce our net patient service revenue and profitability.

Far our hospice patients receiving nursing home care under certain state Medicaid programs who elect hospice
care under Medicare or Medicaid, the state must pay us, in addition to the applicable Medicare or Medicaid hospice
per diem rate, an amouns equal to at least 95% of the Medicaid per diem nursing home rate for “room and board”
furnished to the patient by the nursing home. We contract with various nursing homes for the nursing homes’
provision of certain “room and board” services that the nursing homes would otherwise provide Medicaid nursing
home patients. We bill and collect from the applicable state Mcdicaid program an amount equal to at least 95% of
the amount that would otherwise have been paid directly to the nursing home under the state’s Medicaid plan. Under
our standard nursing home contracts, we pay the nursing home for these “room and board™ services at 100% of the
Medicaid per diem nursing home rate.

Government studies conducted in the last several years have suggested that the reimbursement levels for hospice
patients living in nursing homes may be excessive. In particular, the federal government has expressed concern that
hospice programs may provide fewer services to patients residing in nursing homes than to patients living in other
settings due to the presence of the nursing home’s own staff to address problems that might otherwise be handled by
hospice personnel. Because hospice programs are paid a fixed per diem amount, regardless of the volume or
duration of services provided, the government is concerned that hospice programs may be increasing their
profitability by shifting the cost of certain patient care services to the nursing home,

The reduction or elimination of Medicare payments for hospice patients residing in nursing homes would
significantly reduce our rtet patient service revenue and profitability. In addition, changes in the way nursing homes
are reimbursed for “room and board” services provided to hospice patients residing in nursing homes could affect
our ability to obtain referrals from nursing homes. A reduction in referrals from nursing homes would adversely
affect our net patient service revenue and profitability.

If we are unable to maintain relationships with existing patient referral sources or to establish new referral
sources, our growth and profitability could be adversely affected.

Our success is heavily dependent on referrals from physicians, nursing homes, assisted living facilities, adult
care centers, hospitals, managed care companies, insurance companies and other patient referral sources in the
communities that our hospice locations serve, as well as on our ability to maintain good relations with these referral
sources. Our referral sources are not contractually obligated to refer hospice patients to us and may refer their
patients to other hospice care providers, or not at all. Our growth and profitability depend significantly on our ability
to provide good patient and family care, to establish and maintain close working relationships with these patient
referral sources and to increase awareness and acceptance of hospice care by our referral sources and their patients.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our existing referral source relationships or that we will be
able to develop and maintain new relationships in existing or new markets. Our loss of existing relationships or our
failure to develop new relationships could adversely affect our ability to expand our operations and operate
profitably. Moreover, we cannot assure you that awareness or acceptance of hospice care will increase.

Our growth strategy to develop new hospice programs in new and existing markets may not be successful,
which could adversely impact our growth and profitability.

An element of our growth strategy is expansion of our business by developing new hospice programs in new
markets and growth in our existing markets. This aspect of our growth strategy may not be successful, which could
adversely impact our growth and profitability, We cannot assure you that we will be able to:

. identify markets that meet our selection criteria for new hospice programs;
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. hire and retain a qualified management team to operate each of our new hospice programs;

. manage a large and geographically diverse group of hospice programs;

. become Medicare and Medicaid certified in new markets;

. generate sufficient hospice admissions in new markets to operate profitably in these new markets; or
. compete effectively with existing programs in new markets.

Our growth strategy to acquire other hospices may not be successful and the integration of future acquisitions
may be difficult and disruptive to our ongoing business.

In addition to growing existing programs and developing new hospice programs, an element of our growth
strategy is expansion through the acquisition of other hospice programs. We cannot assure you that our acquisition
strategy will be successful. The success of our acquisition strategy is dependent upon a number of factors, including:

»  our ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates;

. our ability to negotiate favorable acquisition terms, including purchase price, which may be adversely
affected due to increased competition with other buyers;

. the availability of financing on terms favorable to us, or at all;

«  our ability to integrate effectively the systems and operations of acquired hospices;
. our ability to retain key personnel of acquired hospices; and

. our ability to obtain required regulatory approvals.

Acquisitions involve a number of other risks, including diversion of management’s attention from other business
concerns and the assumption of known or unknown liabilities of acquired hospices, including liabilities for failure to
comply with healthcare laws and regulations. The integration of acquired hospices may place significant strains on
our current operating and financial systems and controls. We may not successfully overcome these risks or any other
problems encountered in connection with our acquisition strategy.

On March 6, 2008 we announced the completion of our acquisition of VistaCare for $8.60 per share, or
approximately $147.1 million. Following the acquisition of VistaCare we now operate approximately 110 Medicare-
certified hospice programs in 30 states and provide hospice services to approximately 12,000 patients and their
families each day. There are significant risks associated with the integration of an acquisition of this size and scope,
including the assumption of known and unknown liabilities, retention of key personnel, maintaining referral
relationships and integration with our operating and financial systems and controls, Our failure to successfully
integrate the VistaCare acquisition could adversely affect our financial and operating results.

According to MedPAC, an estimated 52% of hospice programs in the United States are not-for-profit programs.
Accordingly, it is likely that a substantial number of acquisition opportunities may involve hospices operated by not-
for-profit entities. In recent years, several states have increased review and oversight of transactions involving the
sale of healthcare facilities by not-for-profit entities. Although the level of review varies from state to state, the
current trend is to provide for increased governmental review, and in some cases approval, of transactions in which a
not-for-profit entity sells a healthcare facility or business. This increased scrutiny may increase the difficuity in
completing, or prevent the completion of, acquisitions in some states in the future.
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Our loss of key senior management personnel or our inability to hire and retain skitled employees at a
reasonable cost could adversely affect our business and our ability to increase patient referrals,

Our future success depends, in significant part, upon the continued service of our key senior management
personnel. The loss of services of one or more of cur key senior management personnel or our inability to hire and
retain new skilled employees could adversely affect our future operating results. In addition, the loss of key CERs
could negatively impact our ability to maintain or increase patient referrals, a key aspect of our growth strategy.

Competition for skilled employees is intense, and the process of locating and recruiting skilled employees with
the combination of qualifications and attributes required to care effectively for terminally ill patients and their
families can be difficult and lengthy. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting, retaining or
training highly skilled nursing, management, CERs, administrative, admissions and other personnel. Our business
could be disrupted and our growth and profitability negatively impacted if we are unable to attract and retain skilled
employees.

A nationwide shortage of qualified nurses could adversely uffect our profitability and our ability to grow and
continue to provide quality, responsive hospice services to our patients as nursing wages and benefits increase.

We currently employ approximately 1,900 full-time nurses and 500 part-time nurses. We depend on qualified
nurses to provide quality, responsive hospice services to our patients. There is currently a nationwide shortage of
qualified nurses that is being felt in some of the markets in which we provide hospice services, primarily in
California. In response to the shortage of qualified nurses in these markets, we have increased and are likely to
continue to increase our wages and benefits to recruit and retain nurses or to engage contract nurses until we hire
permanent staff nurses. Qur inability to attract and retain qualified nurses could adversely affect our ability to
provide quality, responsive hospice services to our patients and our ability to increase patient census in those
markets. In addition, because we operate in a fixed reimbursement environment, increases in the wages and benefits
that we must provide to atiract and retain qualified nurses or an increase in our reliance on contract nurses will
negatively impact our profitability.

Medical reviews and audits by governmental and private payors could result in material payment recoupments
and paymen! denials, which could negatively impact our business.

Medicare fiscal intermediaries and other payors periodically conduct pre-payment and post-payment medical
reviews and other audits of our reimbursement claims. In order to conduct these reviews, the payor requests
documentation from us and then reviews that documentation to determine compliance with applicable rules and
regulations, including the eligibility of patients to receive hospice benefits, the appropriateness of the care provided
to those patients, and the documentation of that care. We cannot predict whether medical reviews or similar audits
by federal or state agencies or commercial payors of our hespice programs’ reimbursement claims will result in
material recoupments or denials, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.

If any of our hospice programs fails to comply with the Medicare conditions of participation, that program
could be terminated from the Medicare program, thereby adversely affecting our net patient service revenue
and profitability.

Each of our hogpice programs must comply with the extensive conditions of participation of the Medicare
hospice benefit. If any of our hospice programs fails to meet any of the Medicare conditions of participation, that
program may receive a notice of deficiency from the applicable state surveyor. If that hospice program then fails to
institute a plan of correction and correct the deficiency within the correction period provided by the state surveyor,
that program could be terminated from receiving Medicare payments. For example, under the Medicare hospice
program, each of our hospice programs must demonstrate that volunteers provide administrative and direct patient
care services in an amount equal to at least five percent of the total patient care hours provided by our employees
and contract staff at the hospice program. If we are unable to attract a sufficient number of volunteers at one of our
hospice programs to meet this requirement, that program could be terminated from the Medicare benefit if the
program fails to address the deficiency within the applicable correction period. Any termination of one or more of
our hospice programs from the Medicare program for failure to satisfy the volunteer or other conditions of
participation could adversely affect our net patient service revenue and profitability and financial condition.

28




On May 27, 2005 CMS issued proposed regulations that would change the current Medicare conditions of
participation. We anticipate that CMS will issue final regulations in 2008, implementing the new Medicare
conditions of participation. Based on the proposed regulations, we do not expect the final regulations to have a
material impact on our results of operations.

Many states have certificate of need laws or other regulatory provisions that may adversely impact our ability to
expand into new markets and thereby limit our ability to grow and to increase our net patient service revenue,

Many states have enacted certificate of need laws that require prior state approval to open new healthcare
facilities or expand services at existing facilities. Those laws require some form of state agency review or approval
before a hospice may add new services or undertake significant capital expenditures. New York has additional
barriers to entry. New York places restrictions on the corporate ownership of hospices. Accordingly, our ability to
operate in New York is restricted. These laws could adversely affect our ability to expand into new markets and to
expand our services and facilities in existing markets.

We may not be able to compete successfully against other hospice providers, and competitive pressures may
limit our ability to maintain or increase our market position and adversely affect our profitability.

Hospice care in the United States is competitive. In many areas in which our hospice programs are located, we
compete with a large number of organizations, including:

. community-based hospice providers;

. national and regional companies;

. hospital-based hospice and palliative care programs;
. nursing homes; and

. home health agencies.

Some of our current and potential competitors have or may obtain significantly greater financial and marketing
resources than us. Various healthcare companies have diversified into the hospice market. For example, a few large
healthcare providers, including Golden Living (formerly Beverly Enterprises, Inc.) and Manor Care, Inc., have
entered the hospice business directly or through affiliates. Relatively few barriers to entry exist in our local markets.
Accordingly, other companies, including hospitals and other healthcare organizations that are not currently
providing hospice care, may expand their services to include it. We may encounter increased competition in the
future that could negatively impact patient referrals to us, limit our ability to maintain or increase our market
position and adversely affect our profitability.

If our costs were to increase more rapidly than the fixed payment adjustments we receive for our hospice
services from Medicare and Medicaid, our profitability could be negatively impacted.

We generally receive fixed payments for our hospice services based on the level of care we provide to patients
and their families. Accordingly, our profitability is largely dependent on our ability to manage costs of providing
hospice services. Medicare and Medicaid currently provide for an annual adjustment of the various hospice payment
rates based on the increase or decrease of the medical care expenditure category of the Consumer Price Index;
however, the increases have usually been less than actual inflation. If this adjustment were eliminated or reduced, or
if our costs of providing hospice services, over one-half of which consist of labor costs, which have been rising,
increased more than the annual adjustment, our profitability could be negatively impacted. In addition, cost
pressures resulting from shorter patient lengths of stay and the use of more expensive forms of palliative care,
including drugs and drug delivery systems, could negatively impact our profitability.
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The 2008 Budget Proposal submitted by the President to Congress includes the elimination in the 2009 through
2011 Medicare fiscal years of the annuat inflation adjustment that we receive each year under current law and a
reduction of 0.65% in the annual inflation adjustment for the 2012 and 2013 Medicare fiscal years. In addition, the
President’s 2008 Budget Proposal included the phase out of the hospice specific wage index over a three year
period. If enacted these proposed changes could reduce overall Medicare hospice expenditures by approximately
$5.1 billion over the next five years. Reductions or changes in Medicare or Medicaid funding could significantly
reduce our net patient service revenue and our profitability. We cannot predict at this time whether the reductions
included in the President’s 2008 Budget Proposal will be enacted or whether any additional healthcare reform
initiatives will be implemented or whether other changes in the administration of governmental healthcare programs
or interpretations of governmental policies or other changes affecting the healthcare system will occur.

Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to patient privacy could require us to expend
substantial sums on acquiring and implementing new information systems.

There are currently numerous legislative and regulatory initiatives at both the state and federal levels that address
patient privacy concerns. In particular, HIPAA contains provisions that have required us to implement new systems
and business procedures designed to protect the privacy and security of each of our patient’s individual health
information. The Department of Health and Human Services published final regulations addressing patient privacy
on December 28, 2000, transaction and code set final regulations on September 23, 2003, and final regulations
addressing the security of such health information on February 20, 2003. We believe we are in compliance with the
requirements of the privacy regulations, transaction and code set regulations, and security regulations. We continue
10 evaluate and update our processes and procedures to meet the requirements of the new standards; however, we
cannot assure you that all of the parties with whom we do business wiil be in compliance with HIPAA. Additional
legislative and regulatory initiatives and changes in the interpratation of existing legistative and regulatory initiatives
regarding patient privacy could result in additional operating costs, which could materially adversely affect our
profitability.

Our net patient service revenue and profitability may be constrained by cost containment initiatives undertaken
by insurers and managed care companies.

Initiatives undertaken by insurers and managed care companies to contain healthcare costs affect the profitability
of our hospice programs. We have a number of contractual arrangements with insurers and managed care companies
for providing hospice care for a fixed fee. These payors attempt to control healthcare costs by contracting with
hospices and other healthcare providers to obtain services on a discounted basis. We believe that this trend may
continue and may limit payments for healthcare services, including hospice services. In addition, future changes in
Medicare related to Medicare Advantage programs could result in managed care companies becoming financially
responsible for providing hospice care. If such changes were to occur, managed care compantes could be responsible
for payments to us out of their Medicare payments, and a greater percentage of our net patient service revenue could
come from managed care companies. As managed care companies attempt to control hospice-related costs, they
could reduce payments to us for hospice services. These developments could negatively impact our net patient
service revenue and profitability.

A significant reduction in the carrying value of our goodwill could have a material adverse effect on our
profitability.

A significant portion of our total assets consists of intangible assets, primarily goodwill. Goodwill accounted for
approximately 35.7% of our total assets as of December 31, 2007. Any event that results in the significant
impairment of cur goodwill, such as closure of a hospice program, sustained operating losses or denial of one or
more certificate of need applications could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
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Professional and general liability claims and hired and non-owned auto liability claims may have an adverse
effect on us either because our insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover the losses or because claims
against us, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, may adversely affect our reputation, our ability to obtain
patient referrals or our ability to expand our business.

In recent years, participants in the healthcare industry have become subject to an increasing number of lawsuits,
including allegations of medical malpractice. Many of these lawsuits involve large claims and substantial defense
costs. From time to time, we are subject to these types of lawsuits. While we maintain professional and general
liability insurance, some risks and liabilities, including claims for punitive damages, are not covered by insurance. In
addition, we cannot Assure you that our coverage will be adequate to cover potential losses. While we have been able
to obtain liability insurance in the past, insurance can be expensive and may not be available in the future on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. Claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, may also adversely affect our
reputation, our ability to obtain patient referrals or our ability to expand our business, as well as divert management
resources from the operation of our business.

We have a $250,000 deductible per occurrence under our hired and non-owned auto insurance coverage. One or
more severe auto accidents involving our employees could result in a significant liability expense and corresponding
reduction in profitability. We continue to evaluate our insurance program for cost effective alternative insurance
coverage. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain cost effective insurance to adequately cover this risk.

Because of conditions in the credit markets we may not be able to access our funds that are currently invested
in auction rate securities without incurring a substantial loss on the disposition of such securities.

At December 31, 2007, we had invested $41.5 million in tax exempt auction rate securities (“ARS”) which are
classified as current assets. The ARS held by us are private placement securities with stated maturities of no more
than six months for which the interest rates are reset every 35 days. The reset dates have historically provided a
liquid market for these securities as investors historically could readily sell their investments. With the liquidity
issues experienced in global credit and capital markets, we have not been able to liquidate any ARS since early
February of 2008. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, we successfully liquidated $8.4 million of these securities in
January 2008. These securities generally have not experienced payment defaults and are backed by student loans
which carry guarantees as provided for under the Federal Family Education Loan Program of the U.S. Department
of Education and all were AAA/Aaa rated at December 31, 2007. To date we have collected all interest payments on
all of our ARS when due and expect to continue to do so in the future. If the uncertainties in the credit and capital
markets continue or these markets deteriorate further, these securities may not provide liquidity to us when needed.
Currently, there is a very limited market for these securities and further liquidations at this time, if possible, would
likely be at a significant discount, If we have to liquidate any ARS at this time, we would incur significant losses.
We currently believe that we have sufficient liquidity for our current needs without selling any ARS and do not
currently intend to attempt to further liquidate these securities until market conditions improve. If our currently
avajlable resources are not sufficient for our needs and we are not able to liquidate any ARS on acceptable terms on
a timely basis, it could have a significant impact on our cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

We may need additional capital to fund our operations and finance our growth, and we may not be able to
obtain it on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

In connection with our acquisition of VistaCare, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (the “Credit Agreement™) on February 28, 2008 with General Electric Capital Corporation and certain
other lenders that provides us with a $130 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) and a $30 million revolving line of
credit. The Term Loan was used to pay a portion of the purchase price and costs incurred with respect to the
acquisition of VistaCare. We expect that our existing funds, cash flows from operations and borrowings under the
Credit Agreement will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs, anticipated hospice development and
acquisition plans, debt service requirements, and other anticipated capital requirements for at least 12 months
following the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Continued expansion of our business through the
development of new hospice programs, inpatient business development and acquisitions may require additional
capital, in particular if we were to accelerate our hospice program development and acquisition plans. In the past, we
have relied on funds raised through our initial public offering and private issuances of debt and equity and also
through bank financing and cash flows from operations to support our growth. In the future, required financing may
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not be available or may be available only on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unabile to raise additional
funds, we may have to delay or abandon some or all of our growth strategies. Further, if additional funds are raised
through the issuance of additional equity securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders would be diluted.
Any new equity securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our common stock.

The Credit Agreement contains, and future debt agreements may contain, various covenants that limit our
discretion in the operation of our business.

The Credit Agreement and related documents contain, and the agreements and instruments governing future
credit facilities may contain, various restrictive covenants that, among other things, require us to comply with or
maintain certain financial tests and ratios and may restrict our ability to:

. incur more debt;

. redeem or repurchase stock, pay dividends or make other distributions;
. make certain investments;

. create liens;

= enfer into transactions with affiliates;

*  make certain acquisitions;

. merge or consolidate; and

. transfer or sell assets.

In addition, events beyond our control could affect our ability to comply with and maintain these financial tests
and ratios. Any failure by us to comply with or maintain all applicable financial tests and ratios and to comply with
all applicable covenants couid result in an event of default under the Credit Agreement or any other future debt
agreements. This could lead 1o the acceleration of the maturity of any outstanding loans, the termination of the
commitments to make further extensions of credit and the enforcement of other rights and remedies. Even if we are
able to comply with all applicable covenants, the restrictions on our ability to operate our business at our discretion
could harm our business by, among other things, limiting our ability to take advantage of financing, mergers,
acquisitions and other corporate opportunities.

We are dependent on the proper functioning of our information systems 1o efficiently manage our business.

Our information systems are essential for providing billing and accounts receivable functions. Qur systems are
vulnerable to various disasters, including fire, storms, loss of power, physical or software break-ins and other such
events. If our systems fail or are unavailabie for any reasons, our ability to maintain billing records or to pay our
staff in a timely manner could be jeopardized.

Our inability to effectively integrate, manage and keep secure our information systems could disrupt our
operations.

QOur business depends on effective and secure information systems that assist us in, among other things,
processing claims, reporting financial results, managing regulatory compliance controls and maintaining operational
efficiencies. These systems include software developed in-house and systems provided by external contractors and
other service providers. To the extent that these external contractors or other service providers become insolvent or
fail to support the software or systems, our operations could be negatively affected. Our hospice programs also
depend upon our information systems for accounting, billing, collections, payroll and other information. If we
experience a reduction in the performance, reliability, or availability of our information systems, our operations and
ability to produce timely and accurate reports could be adversely affected.

32




Our information systems and applications require continual maintenance, upgrading and enhancement to meet
our operational needs. Our acquisition activity requires transitions and integration of various information systems.
We regularly upgrade and expand our information systems’ capabilities. If we experience difficulties with the
transition and integration of information systems or are unable to implement, maintain, or expand our systems
properly, we could suffer from, among other things, operational disruptions, regulatory problems and increases in
administrative expenses.

We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against the threat of security
breaches or to alleviate problems caused by breaches, including unauthorized access to patient data stored in our
information systems, and the introduction of computer viruses to our systems. Qur security measures may be
inadequate to prevent security breaches and our business operations would be negatively impacted by cancellation of
contracts and loss of patients if security breaches are not prevented.

Provisions in our charter documents, under Delaware law, and in our stockholder rights plan could
discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable.

Qur certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that a
stockholder may consider favorable because they:

+  authorize the issuance by the board of directors of preferred stock without the requirement of stockholder
approval, which could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding
voting stock;

. provide for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;

t

J prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

. prohibit our stockholders from acting by written consent;

. limit the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;

. prohibit our stockholders from amending our bylaws unless the amendment is approved by the holders of
at least 80% of our shares of common stock; and

. establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for
proposing matters to be approved by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, our certificate of incorporation prohibits the amendment by our stockholders of many provisions of
our certificate of incorporation unless the amendment is approved by the holders of at least 80% of our shares of
common stock.

Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us. Under
Delaware law, a corporation may not engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital
stock until the holder has held the stock for three years unless, among other possibilities, the board of directors
approves the transaction. Our board of directors could use this provision to prevent or delay takeovers.

In addition, purchase rights distributed under our stockholder rights plan will cause substantial dilution to any
person or group that attempts to acquire us without conditioning the offer on our redemption of the rights.

These provisions could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change of control
transaction. As a result, they may limit the price investors may be willing to pay for our stock in the future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

We have not received any written comments from the SEC staff regarding our periodic or current reports under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that remain unresolved.
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Item 2. Properties

Qur executive offices and Support Center are located at 717 N. Harwood, Suite 1500, Dallas, Texas 75201,
where we currently lease approximately 70,000 square feet of space. We believe that these facilities are adequate for
our current uses and that additional space is available to accominodate our anticipated growth. Our Medicare-
certified hospice programs and alternative delivery sites, including our inpatient units, and our three hospice
programs under development are in leased and owned facilities in 30 states with terms as of December 31, 2007
varying from one to twelve years extending through 2017. We own the land and building for three of our fifteen
inpatient units. We believe these facilities are in good operating condition and suitable for their intended purposes.
Refer to “Item 1. Business - Hospice Programs, Inpatient Facilities and Support Center” for a complete listing of the
locations of our Medicare-certified hospice programs and inpatient facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On July 9, 2004, in the District Court, Dallas County, Texas, John Connolly brought a shareholders’ derivative
action for the benefit of the Company, as nominal defendant, against the former Chief Executive Officers, former
Chief Financial Officer and former Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President of Human Resources and Senior
Vice President of Clinical and Regulatory Affairs of the Company and seven of the current members of the board of
directors of the Company and two former members of the board of directors of the Company. The petition alleged
breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment
on the part of each of the named executive officers, members of the board of directors and two former members of
the board of directors. The petition sought unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, as well as interest and
costs, including legal fees from the individual defendants. No damages were sought from the Company. A similar
derivative lawsuit was also filed on July 9, 2004, in the District Court, Dallas County, Texas, by Anne Molinari, for
the benefit of the Company, as nominal defendant against the same defendants, making substantially similar
allegations and seeking substantially similar damages and was consolidated with the above lawsuit filed by Mr.
Connolly. On July 28, 2006, plaintiffs filed a third amended consolidated petition making substantially similar
claims as those in the original petition. The individual defendants and the Company filed a motion to dismiss and/or
special exceptions on August 15, 2006. On September 28, 2006, the Court granted the individual defendants” and the
Company’s special exceptions and on October 3, 2006, entered a final order of dismissal without prejudice. On
November 2, 2006, plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal to appeal the Court’s decision to dismiss the petition to the
Court of Appeals for the Fifth District of Texas at Dallas. The briefing on the appeal was completed on July 5, 2007,
and oral argument was completed on November 27, 2007. While the Company cannot predict the outcome of the
matter, it believes the claims are without merit. If any of these claims are successfully asserted against the
defendants, there could be a material adverse effect on the Cornpany due to the indemnification provisions found in
the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Company’s certificate of incorporation and indemnification agreements
entered into between the Company and each of the individual Jdefendants.

On December 30, 2004, in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division,
John O. Hanson brought a shareholders’ derivative action, for the benefit of the Company, as nominal defendant,
against the former Chief Executive Officers and former Chief Financial Officer and seven of the current members of
the board of directors of the Company and a former member of the board of directors of the Company. The
complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty and gross
mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment on the part of each of the individual defendants.
The complaint seeks unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, as well as interest and costs, including legal
fees from the individual defendants. No damages are sought from the Company. On November 20, 2006, the
individual defendants and the Company filed a motion to dismiss defendant’s complaint. The District Court granted
the individual defendants’ and the Company’s motion to dismiss on September 21, 2007, and plaintiff’s time to file
a notice of appeal has expired. On October 2, 2007, plantiff sent the Company a demand letter requesting that the
Company assert the claims set forth in the complaint against the defendants named in the complaint. The Company
is currently reviewing the demand.
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On February 14, 2008 we received a letter from the Texas Attorney General’s office notifying us that it is
conducting an investigation concerning Medicaid hospice services provided by Odyssey and requesting
approximately 50 medical records of patients served by our programs in the State of Texas. Based on the early stage
of this investigation and limited information that we have at this time we cannot predict the outcome of this
investigation, the Texas Attorney General’s views of the issues being investigated, any actions that the Texas
Attorney General may take or the impact, if any, that the investigation may have on our business, results of
operations, liquidity or capital resources. We believe that we are in material compliance with the rules and
regulations applicable to the Texas Medicaid hospice program.

From time to time, we may be involved in other litigation matters relating to claims that arise in the ordinary
course of our business. Although the ultimate liability for these matters cannot be determined, based on the
information currently available to us, we do not believe that the resolution of these other litigation matters to which
we are currently a party will have a material adverse effect on us. As of December 31, 2007, we have accrued
approximately $0.3 million related to the other litigation matters.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during
the quarter ended December 31, 2007.
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PART H

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market for Common Stock. Our common stock has been quoted on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (formerly
known as the Nasdaq National Market) (the “NASDAQ"} under the symbol “ODSY” since October 31, 2001. Prior
to that time there was no public market for our common stock. As of March 7, 2008, there were 22 record holders of
our common stock. The following table sets forth the high and low sales price per share of our common stock for the
period indicated on the NASDAQ:

High Low

2006

FrSE QUAITET ..ot eesiertictrecttereeecrieta sttt ettt s e te s b e st e st e saresara e e emasenessnsssesasesntasnssanssseenseanssesnsesnnns $ 2062 % 16.33

SeCOMA QUATTET .o.eveiviiieieiceeectieieee e e ee e eeeesassneeeneeetesesasss s msenaeesereseresereessesssesssessnssnennneennnee B 18,91 8 15,65

TRIFA QUATTET «..vvveevevrcrarereeresesreareriarere e s resesesa s csnsneraresassssasserasesassesessesarenasesrsarans $ 1825 8% 13.05

FOUN QUAIET ...ttt sttt st s et bses st ssmas s mcs e e e esesas s shebese s e st sbabesm s enmsnsasasatas $ 1467 % 11.86
2007

FIESE QUAITET ..ottt sttt s st sasebe s etabe s eaaaba b e bt ataat et s ek enenaeseene st eseenenbe e sssbeebasnasass $ 1440 % 11.85

BT Taa) T M T ¢ s OO $ 1396 § 11.81

TRIFA QUARLET .. .e et ettt e m e e e e e es e esaas aeme et e tesme et e reeae e s e e ensesaeasemreasennsansen $ 1250 8 9.23

FOUMR QUATTET ..o eae s csnsne e se e saenssne e ans essreressasesnssesereanesennereneresssaseasasasans $11.14 8 9.06

Dividends. We have never declared or paid any cash dividends onr our common stock and do not anticipate
paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to fund our
development and acquisition initiatives and working capital ne=ds.

The payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on:
. any applicable contractual restrictions limiting our ability to pay dividends;

. our earnings;

. our financial condition;

. our ability to fund capital requirements; and

. other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. We did not sell any of our equity securities in the three year period
ended December 31, 2007 that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933,

Repurchases of Common Stock. On August 11, 2005, we announced the adoption of a stock repurchase program
in which we intended to repurchase up to $20.0 million of our common stock over a twelve-month period. The
timing and the amount of any repurchase of shares during the twelve-month period was determined by management
based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors. We completed this stock repurchase program in
August 2006 and repurchased an aggregate of 973,332 shares of our commeon stock at a total cost of $16.8 million
(average cost of $17.30 per share). The stock repurchases were funded out of our working capital.

On November 21, 2006, we announced the adoption of a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to $10.0
million of our common stock over a twelve month period. The: timing and the amount of the repurchase of shares
during the twelve-month period was determined by management based on its evaluation of market conditions and
other factors. We completed this stock repurchase program in May 2007 and repurchased an aggregate of 801,683
shares of our common stock at a total cost of $10.0 million (average cost of $12.47 per share). Of this amount,
59,477 shares for approximately $0.8 million was repurchased during the second quarter of 2007. The stock
repurchases were funded out of our working capital.
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On May 4, 2007, we announced the adoption of a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to $50.0 million of
our common stock over the twelve month period beginning on May 4, 2007 either in the open market or through
privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions and other factors. The repurchased shares will be
added to our treasury shares and may be used for employee stock plans and for other corporate purposes. The stock
has been and will continue to be repurchased utilizing working capital and borrowings under our revolving line of
credit. As of December 31, 2007, we had repurchased 1,056,623 shares of our common stock for approximately
$13.1 million (average cost of $12.42 per share). We are entitled to repurchase up to an additional $36.9 million
under this stock repurchase program; however, the terms of the Credit Agreement currently restrict our ability to
repurchase any additional stock until our leverage ratio reaches a certain level, which is not expected to be reached
within the next twelve months.

The following table sets forth the repurchase data for each of the three months during the fourth quarter ended
December 31, 2007:

(d)

(© Approximate

Total Number of Shares Dollar Value of

(a) (b) Purchased as Part Shares that May

Total Number Average of Publicly Yet be Purchased

of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans or Under the Plans or

Period Purchased _per Share Programs Programs

October 1-October 31 .....ccoevvveeecreennnn — — —_ $ 36,881,345
November 1-November 30 ......ocuveeee — — — $ 36,881,345
December 1-December 31 ...oooveeeeeeeeee. — — — $ 36,881,345
Total.ee e — — — $ 36,881,345

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2006 and 2007 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 are derived from our
consolidated financial statements that have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, and that are included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are qualified by reference to those consolidated financial statements. The
selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004
and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 are derived from our consolidated
financial statements that have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, but are not included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future
period. You should read the selected financial information set forth below in conjunction with “Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” and our consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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On February 24, 2003 and August 12, 2003, the Company completed two separate three-for-two stock splits each
payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend. All share information has been adjusted for the stock
dividends.

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
{In thousands, except per share amounts)
Statements of Operations Data:
Net patient Service revenue........ccoevrnccrcrarneceee. & 258,726 § 319,827 § 354,517 $ 384,981 § 404,872
Operating expenses:
Direct hospice care.. - 134,514 170,111 197,880 227,186 240,137
General and admmlstratlve(l) ........................... 69,906 87,963 104,517 117,915 131,742
Government settlement ... — — 13,000 — —
Provision for uncollecuble accounts .................. 3,912 7,604 4142 4,117 5,493
Depreciation and amortization......................... 2,363 3,662 4,033 5,121 5,944
Impairment of long-lived assets..........ccceceeencnnne - —_ - —_ 211
Certificate of need application costs...........cc.... — — — — 3,144
Total operating exXpenses ...........coueveeirnrrenenecenene 210,695 269,340 323,572 354,339 386.671
Income from Operations .........c.ceveeveneesisvemveriesnineas 48,031 50,487 30,945 30,642 18,201
Other income {expense):
MINOTLY IMETESt..cu.ceeececrc e — — — — (14)
INterest INCOME.......ccccviieiieriiiieirerrrresinnsesrsenessans 390 359 1,341 2,576 2,509
Interest eXPense......cooevcvrmeverereernereescsmsrereesenrens (144) {118) (198) (187) (208)
250 241 1.143 2,389 2287
Income from continuing operations before
provision for iNCOME tAXEeS.....cooveerrmrrvecrrmerrcnes 48,281 50,728 32,088 33,031 20,488
Provision for inCome 1axes ..........ccoovveeveeveecinnennns 18,764 19212 13,338 11,659 6,830
Income from continuing operations.........c....oco.... 29,517 31,516 18,750 21,372 13,658
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net
of income taxes(2) ............................................... ' 1,690 3.480 {194) (1,643) (1,547)
Net income.. v 2 31,207 8 34996 § 18556 § 19729 § 12,111
Income (loss) per common share
Basic:
Continuing Operations........cococovreevesescrreeee. 082 % 0.86 % 055 % 063 $ 0.41
Discontinued operations .........ccoovveeeeeeeereenene $ 0.05 § 010 $  (001) § (0.05) § {0.04)
Nt INCOME. oo B 087 § 096 ¢ 054 § 058 § 0.37
Diluted:
Continuing Operations..........ouevecveeeomserernienene $ 079 % 0.84 § 054 % 062 $ 0.41
Discontinued operations ........ccocccovvevvvvninene. 3 0.05 § 009 § (001)3 (005 3% (0.05)
INEL INCOIMIE......ecoveereieriesresnenssrrsssase e sreeeans 5 081 § 093 % 053 § 057 % 0.36
Weighted average shares outstanding; ...............
BASIC .ooeeeee sttt 35,945 36,445 34,384 34,145 33,029
DIIUtEd ... oeeereeccerrerrirenere e rsassee s srssnereensres 37,254 37,551 34,935 34,529 33,188
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Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(Unaudited)
{Dollars in thousands)

Operating Data:
Number of Medicare-certified hospice

Programs(3) ...ccoevernerennrvsnerrnerneresens 56 62 65 69 72
Admissions(4)......coverneesiserinieinin. 25,423 29,096 31,378 32,398 32,757
Days of care(5) ....ccoovvnminseirinnsesisneias 2,059,610 2,518,417 2,669,021 2,810,540 2,843,400
Average daily census(6) ......cocevereeninneene 5,643 6,881 7,312 7,700 7,790
Cash flows provided by operating

ACLIVILIES. covcec vt eeenenencncrceeees B 27,605 % 47,124 % 58,171 § 34,684 § 16,881
Cash flows provided by (used in)

INVesting activities ....ovuvvvvivrererererererenas $ (27255) % (41,170) §  (52,845) § (29,244) § 324
Cash flows provided by (used in)

financing activities.........cceeeviiieveneneeins b 4983 3§ (19,387) % (14994 8  (13,051) §  (12,391)

As of December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(Dollars in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital ..........ococvoeieecceerecee e $ 72806 % 632593 6263938 70,5555 72493
Total @SSELS ..ottt 180,802 204,091 244967 269986 275,209
Total long-term debt, including current portion ........... 17 14 9 3 1
Stockholders’ equity ........cooeevireereererrreeree e creeenenns 144,725 162,080 167,298 179,596 182,837

(1) Includes stock-based compensation of $409, $287, $721, $5,616 and $3,829 for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Also, general and administrative expenses include expenses for
hospice care and support center.

{2) See Note 7 in the conselidated financial statements for a discussion of income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of income taxes.

(3) Number of Medicare-certified hospice programs at end of each respective year.
{4) Represents the total number of patients admitted into our hospice programs during the period.
{5) Represents the total days of care provided to our patients during the period.

(6) Represents the average number of patients for whom we provided hospice care each day during the period and
is computed by dividing days of care by the number of days during the period.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

The following discussion of cur financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with
our selected consolidated financial and operating data and the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are one of the largest providers of hospice care in the United States in terms of both average daily patient
census and number of Medicare-certified hospice programs. As of December 31, 2007, we operated 72 Medicare-
certified hospice programs, serving patients and their families in 29 states. We operate all of our hospice programs
through our operating subsidiaries. Our net patient service revenue of $404.9 million in 2007 represents an increase
of 5.2% over net patient service revenue of $385.0 million in 2006, and an increase of 14.2% over net patient service
revenue of $354.5 millien in 2003, In 2005, 2006 and 2007, we reported net income of $18.6 million, $19.7 million
and $12.1 million, respectively.
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On March 6, 2008 we completed our acquisition of VistaCare. Following the completion of the VistaCare
acquisition we now serve approximately 12,000 patients and their families each day through approximately 110
Medicare-certified hospice locations in 30 states. Our primary goal during this integration is to maintain the
VistaCare patient census and site level profitability while implementing the best practices from each organization.
We are currently in the process of integrating the VistaCare hospice programs into our operations. We are currently
in the process of integrating the VistaCare corporate functions with our own corporate functions at our Support
Center. We anticipate that the VistaCare corporate support functions will be fully transitioned to our Support Center
by the end of the fourth quarter of 2008. See Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements for a more detail
description of the transaction.

On November 1, 2004, we announced the adoption of an open market stock repurchase program to repurchase up
to $30.0 million of our common stock over a nine-month period. The timing and the amount of any repurchase of
shares during the nine-month period was determined by management based on its evaluation of market conditions
and other factors. We completed this stock repurchase program in March of 2005 and repurchased an aggregate of
2,515,434 shares of our commeon stock at a total cost of $30.0 million (average cost of $11.93 per share). The stock
repurchases were funded out of our working capital.

On August 11, 2005, we announced the adoption of another stock repurchase program in which we intended to
repurchase up to $20.0 million of our common stock over a twelve-month period. The timing and the amount of any
repurchase of shares during the twelve-month period was determined by management based on its evaluation of
market conditions and other factors. We completed this stock repurchase program in August 2006 and repurchased
an aggregate of 973,332 shares of our common stock at a total cost of $16.8 million (average cost of $17.30 per
share). The stock repurchases were funded out of our working capital.

On November 21, 2006, we announced the adoption of a new open market stock repurchase program to
repurchase up to $10.0 million of our common stock over a twelve-month period. The timing and the amount of any
repurchase of shares during the twelve-month period was determined by management based on its evaluation of
market conditions and other factors. We completed this stock repurchase program in May 2007 and repurchased an
aggregate of 801,683 shares of commaon stock at a total cost of $10.0 million (average cost of $12.47 per share). Of
this amount, 59,477 shares for approximately $0.8 million was repurchased in 2007. The stock repurchases were
funded out of working capital.

On May 4, 2007, we announced the adoption of a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to $50.0 million of
our common stock over the twelve month peried beginning on May 4, 2007 either in the open market or through
privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions and other factors. The repurchased shares wilt be
added to our treasury shares and may be used for employee stock plans and for other corporate purposes. The stock
has been and will continue to be repurchased utilizing working capital and borrowings under our revolving line of
credit, As of December 31, 2007, we had repurchased 1,056,623 shares of our common stock for approximately
$13.1 million (average cost of $12.42 per share). We are entitled to repurchase up to an additional $36.9 million
under this stock repurchase program; however, the terms of the Credit Agreement currently restrict our ability to
repurchase any additional stock until our leverage ratio reaches a certain level, which is not expected to be reached
within the next twelve months,

Developed Hospices
We have developed the following hospice programs since January 1, 2005:

During 2005, we received Medicare certification for our Daytona Beach, Florida hoespice program operated by
our wholly-owned not-for-profit subsidiary, Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc. We also received Medicare certification
in 2005 for our Corpus Christi, Texas; Columbia, South Carolina; and Harrisburg, Pennsylvania hospice programs.
We sold our Columbia, South Carolina hospice program in 2007.

During 2006, we received Medicare certification for our Miami, Florida hospice program operated by our
wholly-owned not-for-profit subsidiary, Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc. We also received Medicare certification in
2006 for our Lubbock, Texas; Rockford, Illinois; Miami, Florida; Tyler, Texas; and Bryan-College Station, Texas
hospice programs. We continued the development of hospice programs in Ventura County, California; Boston,
Massachusetts; and Fort Wayne, Indiana. We sold our Rockford, lllinois hospice program in 2007.
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During 2007, we received Medicare certification for our Boston, Massachusetts; Ventura County, California; and
Fort Wayne, Indiana hospice programs. We are continuing the development of hospice program in Dayton, Ohio;
Augusta, Georgia; and Alameda, California.

Once a hospice becomes Medicare certified, the process is started to obtain Medicaid certification. This process
takes approximately six months and varies from state to state.

Discontinued Operations

During the second quarter of 2006, we decided to sell our Salt Lake City, Utah hospice program {“SLC"),
located in our Mountain region based on an ongoing strategic review of our hospice programs. The sale of SLC was
completed in July 2006. Certain assets such as furniture/fixtures, equipment, computer hardware, leasehold
improvements, prepaid expenses, office lease deposit and licenses were sold to the purchaser. Except for obligations
under certain assumed contracts, no other liabilities were assumed by the purchaser. We recognized a loss of $0.2
million related to the sate of the SLC program during the second quarter of 2006.

On January 29, 2007, we announced that we would exit the Tulsa, Oklahoma hospice market which is located in
our Central region and on February 22, 2007 we sold our Tulsa hospice program. As part of the sale, the purchaser
assumed the office lease and purchased certain assets such as furniture/fixtures, equipment, deposits and licenses.
We recognized a loss of $0.1 million related to the sale of the Tulsa program during the first quarter of 2007,

As part of our ongoing strategic review of our hospice programs, we decided in the second quarter of 2007 to sell
our Valdosta, Georgia; Cotumbia, South Carolina; St. George, Utah; Rockford, Illinois; and Allentown,
Pennsylvania hospice programs and the Huntsville, Alabama alternate delivery site (*ADS”). We completed the sale
of our Valdosta and Columbia programs which are located in our Southeast region on June 16, 2007 and recognized
a pretax loss of $0.1 million in the second quarter on the sale of the programs. We completed the sale of our
Huntsville ADS and our St. George and Allentown programs during the third quarter of 2007 and recognized a
pretax loss of $44,000 in the third quarter for the sale of the programs. We completed the sale of the Rockford
program during the fourth quarter of 2007 and recognized a pretax gain of $0.1 million in the fourth quarter on the
sale of the Rockford program.

As part of our ongoing strategic review of our hospice programs, we decided in the fourth quarter of 2007 to sell
our Odessa, Texas; Big Spring, Texas; Cincinnati, Ohio; and Wichita, Kansas hospice programs. We completed the
sale of the Odessa and Big Spring programs which are located in our Mountain region on January 1, 2008 and
recognized a pretax loss of $17,000 during the fourth quarter of 2007 related to the sale of the Odessa and Big
Spring programs. We completed the sale of the Cincinnati and Wichita programs during the first quarter of 2008 and
no material amounts were recorded as a result.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the Company recorded a charge of approximately
$0.2 million, $1.6 million and $1.5 million, respectively, net of taxes, or $0.01, $0.05 and $0.03 per diluted share,
respectively, which represents the operating losses and loss on disposals for discontinued operations. These charges
are included in discontinued operations for the respective periods,

Acquisitions

We have acquired the following hospice programs since January 1, 2003,

During 2005, we acquired two hospice programs for a combined purchase price of $4.7 million. We financed our
acquisitions in 2005 with cash generated from our operations.

During 2006, we acquired one hospice program for $25,000, which we integrated into one of our existing
hospice programs. We financed this acquisition with cash generated from operations.

During 2007, we acquired one hospice program for approximately $0.2 million, which we integrated into one of
our existing hospice programs. We financed this acquisition with cash generated from operations.
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We accounted for these acquisitions as purchases.

As part of our ongoing acquisition strategy, we are continually evaluating other potential acquisition
opportunities.

Goodwill from cur hospice acquisitions was $98.2 million as of December 31, 2007, representing 53.7% of
stockholders’ equity and 35.7% of total assets as of December 31, 2007, Prior to June 3(, 2001, we amortized our
goodwill over 20 years for acquisitions completed through June 30, 2001. We did not amortize goodwili for
acquisitions subsequent to June 30, 2001 based cn the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142™). Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangibte assets
deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment annually (during the fourth
quarter) or more frequently if indicators arise. As of December 31, 2007, no impairment charges have been
recorded. Other intangible assets continue to be amortized over their useful lives. See Note 3 to our consolidated
financial statements.

On March 6, 2008 we completed our acquisition of VistaCare. Following our acquisition of VistaCare we now
serve approximately 12,000 patients and their families each day through approximately 110 Medicare-certified
hospice locations in 30 states. See Note 2 in the consolidated firancials statements for a more detailed description of
the transaction.

Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is the estimated net realizable revenue (exclusive of our provision for uncollectible
accounts) from Medicare, Medicaid, commercial insurance, managed care payors, patients and others for services
rendered to our patients. To determine net patient service revenue, we adjust gross patient service revenue for
estimated contractual adjustments based on historical experience and estimated Medicare cap contractual
adjustments. Net patient service revenue also does not include charity care or the Medicaid room and board
payments. (See “Item 1. Business - Government Regulation and Payment Structure- QOverview of Government
Payments”). We recognize net patient service revenue in the month in which our services are delivered. Services
provided under the Medicare program represented approximately 92.1%, 92.7% and 92.4% of our net patient service
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Services provided under Medicaid
programs represented approximately 5.0%, 4.3% and 4.5% of our net patient service revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The payments we receive from Medicare and Medicaid are
calculated using daily or hourly rates for each of the four levels of care we deliver and are adjusted based on
geographic location.

The four main levels of care we provide are routine home care, general inpatient care, continuous home care and
inpatient respite care. We also receive reimbursement for physician services, self-pay and non-governmental room
and board. Routine home care is the largest component of our gross patient service revenue, representing 89.1%,
88.0% and 88.5% of gross patient service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively. General inpatient care represented 7.3%, 7.1% and 7.5% of gross patient service revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, Continuous home care represented 2.6%, 4.1% and 3.2% of
gross patient service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Inpatient respite
care and reimbursement for physician services, self pay and non-governmental room and board represents the
remaining 1.0%, 0.8% and 0.8% of gross patient service revenue for these periods, respectively.

The principal factors that impact net patient service revenue are our average daily census, levels of care, annual
changes in Medicare and Medicaid payment rates due to adjustments for inflation and estimated Medicare cap
contractual adjustments. Average daily census is affected by the number of patients referred and admitted into our
hospice programs and average length of stay of those patients cnce admitted. Average length of stay is impacted by
patients’ decisions of when to enroll in hospice care after diagnoses of terminal illnesses and, once enrolled, the
length of the terminal illnesses. Our average hospice length of stay increased from 84 days in 2006 to 85 days in
2007.
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Payment rates under the Medicare and Medicaid programs are indexed for inflation annually; however, the
increases have historically been less than actual inflation. On October 1, 2006 and 2007, the base Medicare payment
rates for hospice care increased by approximately 3.4% and 3.5%, respectively, over the base rates previously in
effect. These rates were further adjusted geographically by the hospice wage index. In the future, reductions in, or
reductions in the rate of increase of Medicare and Medicaid payments may have an adverse impact on our net patient
service revenue and profitability. See “item 1. Business - Government Regulation and Payment Structure- Overview
of Government Payments.”

Expenses

Because payments for hospice services are primarily paid on a per diem basis, our profitability is largely
dependent on our ability to manage the expenses of providing hospice services. We recognize expenses as incurred
and classify expenses as either direct hospice care expenses or general and administrative expenses. Direct hospice
care expenses primarily include direct patient care salaries, payroli taxes, employee benefits, pharmaceuticals,
medical equipment and supplies, inpatient costs and reimbursement of mileage for our patient caregivers. Length of
stay impacts our direct hospice care expenses as a percentage of net patient service revenue because, if lengths of
stay decline, direct hospice care expenses, which are often highest during the earliest and latter days of care for a
patient, are spread against fewer days of care. Expenses are generally higher during the earliest days because of
increased labor expense to evaluate the patient and determine the medical and social services needs of the family.
Expenses are also normally higher during the last days of care because patients generally require greater hospice
services including drugs, medical equipment and nursing care at that time due to their deteriorating medical
condition. In addition, cost pressures resulting from the use of more expensive forms of palliative care, including
drugs and drug delivery systems, and increasing direct patient care salaries and employee benefit costs will
negatively impact our profitability.

For our patients receiving nursing home care under a state Medicaid program who elect hospice care under
Medicare or Medicaid, we contract with nursing homes for room and board services. The state must pay us, in
addition to the applicable Medicare or Medicaid hospice daily or hourly rate, an amount equal to at least 95% of the
Medicaid daily nursing home rate for room and board furnished to the patient by the nursing home. Under our
standard nursing home contracts, we pay the nursing home for these room and board services at 100.0% of the
Medicaid daily nursing home rate. We refer to these costs, net of Medicaid payments, as “nursing home costs, net.”
See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.

General and administrative expenses for hospice care primarily include non-patient care salaries (including
salaries for our general managers, directors of patient services, patient care managers, community education
representatives and other non-patient care staff), payroll taxes, employee benefits for our employees at our hospice
programs, office leases and other operating costs.

General and administrative expenses for our support center primarily include salaries, payroll taxes and

employee benefits for employees located at our support center. These expenses also include our stock-based
compensation, office lease, professional fees and other operating costs.
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The following table sets forth the percentage of net patient service revenue represented by the items included in
direct hospice care expenses and general and administrative expenses for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007

Direct hospice care expenses:
Salaries, benefits and payroll taXes ........ccocvivenieiecrer e 35.7%  393%  39.6%

PharmaceutiCals .......ccuveceiiiiiiici i et 5.5 54 5.3
Medical equipment and supplies. ..o, 55 53 53
INPAIENL COSLS ...ovvrsiriririmest e e e e imt bbb rr e s 3.0 2.5 2.1
Other (including medical director fees, contracted patient care services, nursing

home costs and MIlEAZE) ... v vvreirre et 6.1 6.5 7.0
TOLAL .ottt ettt et b et e bbb s e ae e earassranats S55.8% - 59.0% 59.3%

General and administrative expenses - hospice care:

Salaries, benefits and payroll tAXES ... e 134%  139% 14.7%
LBASES. v err st tie e e e s s e e e st b b s e e ee et nanne s 24 23 3.0
Other (including insurance, recruiting, travel, telephone and printing) .......c..c........ 34 3.7 4.2

General and administrative expenses - support center:

Salaries, benefits and payroll tAXES ......c.crvrveieeiererecereresesrsnrenne e er e eseseeseseees 4.4% 4.3% 4.5%
Stock-based COMPENSAION ....ocvrrrvriri ittt 02 1.5 0.9
L BASES v ettt e e st ettt st n s 0.4 04 0.4
Legal and acCounting fees........ocoiiiiininiiic it 1.4 1.2 0.9
Other (including insurance, recruiting, travel, telephone and printing) .......c.coceeeee. 38 29 39
TOMAL .. e ese et s erer ekt 102% 103% 10.6%

The following table sets forth the cost per day of care represented by the iterns included in direct hospice care
expenses and general and administrative expenses for hospice care for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006
and 2007, respectively:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007

Direct hospice care expenses:

Salaries, benefits and payroll taXes ... $ 4744 §$ 5381 § 5637

PharmacUICALS ......c..ooeviic s et s bbb s e 7.27 7.38 7.48

Medical equipment and SUPPLES ...ccoivitiiie it 7.31 7.25 7.56

INPALIENE COSTS tueiiiiiieirie ettt et nr s sas s e s e e st st st sr et b s e b e 4.04 3.38 3.06

Other (including medical director fees, contracted patient care services, nursing

home costs and MIlEARE) .....cocviriimir v esee s ra s oo 8.08 9.01 9.99

TOUAL...cecere et ceee e et s st r et be b e s b es s e s e b ba s e s s srasa e arssssrasasasarasenas $ 7414 £ 8083 § 8446
(General and administrative expenses - hospice care:

Salaries, benefits and payroll tAXES .o e e e $ 1785 % 19.00 § 2097

L BASES vttt et e caeeasnee s sttt e st e b et e e e et e st na e e ean b en e re e neene e ennr 323 3.68 429

Other (including insurance, recruiting, travel, telephone and printing) .......cocevevnnn. 6.02 6.65 7.74

TOtAl oo st eeneneens 80010 8 2933 § 33.00

Stock-Based Compensation Charges

For the year ended December 31, 2005, stock-based compensation charges represent the difference between the
exercise price of stock options granted and the deemed fair value of our common stock on the date of grant
determined in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and its related interpretations. For
purposes of the period-to-period comparisons included in our results of operations, general and administrative
expenses - support center include these stock-based compensation charges. See Note 1 “QOrganization and Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies - Stock-Based Compensation” to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.




Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R™), using the modified
prospective transition method. Under this method, stock compensation expense was recognized beginning January I,
2006 for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested at January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair
value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123, and for all share-based payments granted
subsequent to January 1, 2006 at the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
123R. Because we elected to use the modified prospective transition method, results for prior periods have not been
restated. We recognized $4.7 million and $2.4 million in stock compensation expense related to SFAS 123R for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. We recognized approximately $0.5 million, $0.9 million
and $1.4 million in stock-based compensation expense related to grants of restricted stock awards for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

On December 8, 2005, the Compensation Committee (the “Committee™) of the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the acceleration, in full, of the vesting of unvested stock options having an exercise price of
$20.00 or greater granted under the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan as amended, that are held by our current
employees and executive officers. Stock option awards granted from May 27, 2003 through February 26, 2004 with
respect to approximately 492,061 shares of our Common Stock, par value $.001 per share (the “Common Stock”),
including stock options with respect to approximately 382,500 shares of Common Stock that are held by our
executive officers, were subject to this accelerated vesting which was effective as of December 8, 2005.

On December 8, 2005, these stock options had per share exercise prices equal to or in excess of the closing price
of $19.48 per share of Common Stock as quoted on NASDAQ, and, accordingly, were “underwater.” We believed
that, absent accelerated vesting, these underwater stock options do not serve to incentivize or retain employees. We
expected that the accelerated vesting of these stock options would have a positive effect on employee morale,
retention and perception of stock option value. The accelerated vesting would also eliminate the future
compensation expense that we otherwise would have recognized in our consolidated statement of operations with
respect to these options upon the adoption of SFAS 123R. The future expense that was eliminated as a result of the
accelerated vesting of these stock options was approximately $5.9 million, or 3.6 million net of tax (of which
approximately $3.8 million, or $2.3 million net of tax, is attributable to options held by our executive officers). See
Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

in February 2008, the Committee approved, for certain executive officers, the exchange of selected “underwater”
stock options for restricted stock. The Committee was concerned that the underwater stock options provided little or
no financial or retention incentives to the executive officers. The Committee believes that the exchange of the
underwater stock options for the restricted stock adequately addresses those concerns. Stock option awards of
685,000 shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $17.35, were exchanged for 126,146 shares of restricted
stock. Of the stock option awards exchanged, 287,500 shares were unvested. The shares of restricted stock had a fair
value of $8.72 per share and will vest ratably over a three year period beginning February 12, 2009. We do not
anticipate a material change to our share-based compensation expense from the exchange.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists of current and deferred federal and state income tax expenses. We
estimate that our effective tax rate will be approximately 35.0% during 2008. See Note 12 to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Certain of our accounting policies are particularly
important to the portrayal of our financial position and results of operations included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and require the application of significant judgment by us; as a resuit, they are subject to an
inherent degree of uncertainty. In applying these policies, we use our judgment to determine the appropriate
assumptions to be used in the determination of certain estimates. These estimates are based on our historical
payment experience, our observance of trends in the industry and information available from other outside sources,
as appropriate.
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Net Patient Service Revenue and Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

We report net patient service revenue at the estimated net realizable amounts (exclusive of our provision for
uncoliectible accounts) from Medicare, Medicaid, commercial insurance, managed care payors, patients and others
for services rendered to our patients. Regarding commercial, managed care and other payors, payments are subject
to usual and customary rates. To determine net patient service revenue, we adjust gross patient service revenue for
estimated contractual adjustments based on historical experience and estimated Medicare cap contractual
adjustments. Net patient service revenue also does not include charity care or the Medicaid room and board
payments. We recognize net patient service revenue in the month in which our services are delivered. Due to the
complexity of the laws and regulations affecting Medicare and Medicaid, a reasonable possibility exists that
recorded estimates could change by a material amount in the future.

We maintain a policy for reserving for uncollectible accounts. We calculate the allowance for uncollectible
accounts based on a formula tied to the aging of accounts receivable by payor class. We also reserve for specific
accounts that are determined to be uncollectible. Accounts are written off when all collection efforts are exhausted.

Medicare Regulation

The Medicare Cap. Various provisions were included in the legislation creating the Medicare hospice benefit to
manage the cost to the Medicare program for hospice, including the patient’s waiver of curative care requirement,
the six-month terminal prognosis requirement and the Medicare payment caps. The Medicare hospice benefit
includes two fixed annual caps on payment, both of which are assessed on a program-by-program basis. One cap is
an absolute dollar amount; the other limits the number of days of inpatient care. None of our hospice programs
exceeded the payment limits on general inpatient care services for the years ended December 31, 20035, 2006 and
2007. The caps are calculated from November 1 through October 31 of each year.

Dollar Amount Cap. The Medicare revenue paid to a hospice program from November 1 to October 31 of the
following year may not exceed the annual cap amount which is calculated by using the following formula: the
product of the number of admissions to the program by patients who are electing to receive their Medicare hospice
benefit for the first time, multiplied by the Medicare cap amount, which for the November 1, 2006 through October
31, 2007 Medicare fiscal year is $21,410. The Medicare cap amount is reduced proportionately for patients who
transferred in or out of our hospice services. The Medicare cap amount is annually adjusted for inflation, but is not
adjusted for geographic differences in wage levels, although hospice per diem payment rates are wage indexed. The
Medicare cap amount for the November 1, 2007 through October 31, 2008 cap year has not yet been announced by
the Medicare program. We currently estimate the Medicare cap amount to be approximately $22,052 for the
Medicare cap year ending October 31, 2008.

The following table shows the amount accrued and paid for the Medicare cap contractual adjustments for the
vears ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively:

Accrued Medicare Cap Contractual Adjustments
Year ending December 31,
2005 2006 2007

(i thousands)
Beginning balance - accrued Medicare cap contractual

AGJUSIINENIS ..vevc e vrer e rens v e nsrerescecerenrnerarasasses § 2915 $ 14,883 $ 26,679
Medicare cap confractual adjustments.........c..coeovirveinnennn 7,182(1) 10,621(2) 5,261(3)
Medicare cap contractual adjustments - discontinued

OPETALIONS ...vveeeorestisiseeereaereentaseet e s sersssessansasessesnsessesnsesnes 4,786(4) 5,843(4) 2,429(4)
Payments to Medicare fiscal intermediaries......ccccooveveenrann — {1,983) (12,687
Reclassification to accounts payable ..o — (2,685)5) —
Ending balance - accrued Medicare cap contractual

AAJUSHMENLS ....ovviiiiiiic v e e resaasasess e n e sasssananas 5 14,883 3 26,679 § 21,682
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(1) On August 26, 2005, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) issued Change Request
Transmittal 663 publishing the final Medicare per beneficiary cap amount of $19,778 for the 2005 Medicare
cap year ended October 31, 2005 and indicated that the cap amount for the 2004 Medicare cap year ended
October 31, 2004 was incorrectly computed. This cap amount was lower than the estimated cap amount that we
used for 2005 due to CMS’s error in computing the cap amount for the 2004 Medicare cap year. As a result, the
2005 accrued Medicare cap contractual adjustment of $7.2 million includes $1.0 million for the lower 2005
Medicare cap amount and an additional $1.1 million for the 2003 and 2004 Medicare cap years for the
estimated impact of the revised cap amounts.

(2) Includes additional accrual of $3.1 million related to the 2005 Medicare cap year.
(3) Includes additional accrual of $0.9 million related to the 2006 Medicare cap year.

(4) Medicare cap contractual adjustments reclassified to discontinued operations are related to all programs that we
have discontinued and seld during 2006 and 2007,

(5) Amounts were reclassified from accrued Medicare cap contractual adjustments to accounts payable in
December 2006 and were paid in January 2007 to the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.
We believe that we are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Compliance with laws and
regulations can be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action
including fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Insurance Risks

General and professional liability costs for the healthcare industry have increased and become more difficult to
estimate. In addition, insurance coverage for patient care liabilities and other risks has become more difficult to
obtain. Insurance carriers often require companies to increase their liability retention levels and pay higher policy
premiums for reduced coverage. Hired and non-owned auto liability costs are a significant risk area for us, because
almost all of our services are provided where our patients reside rather than in facilities that we operate. We require
our employees to maintain the state required minimum lability coverage on their vehicles. Our current hired and
non-owned auto liability coverage has a deductible of $250,000 per claim. We continue to evaluate options to
address this insurance risk area, however, we cannot assure you that we will be able to find cost effective insurance
coverage to address this insurance risk area. In our consolidated financial statements, we reserve for potential
contingencies associated with the uninsured portion of our general and professional liability risks and hired and non-
owned auto liability risks, based on our experience, consultation with our attorneys and insurers and our existing
insurance coverage.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired in an acquisition.
Under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” (“SFAS 142"), we review goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter or more frequently if
indicators arise. We determine the fair value of the reporting units, which are our reportable business segments (see
Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements), using multiples of EBITDA, or earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then an indication
of impairment exists. The amount of the impairment would be the difference between the carrying amount of the
goodwill and the fair value of the goodwill. No impairment charges have been recorded as of December 31, 2007.
We cannot predict that we will not incur impairment charges in the future or whether any impairment charges
recorded will negatively impact our results of operations or financial position in the future.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial information as a percentage of net patient service
revenue for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007

Net patient SErVICE TEVEINUC...uvvisiiveeeeeeeimecemsenerrirsenresetesesessestneseneesesesasasssasesans 100% 100% 100%
Operating expenses:
DHPECT NOSPICE CAIE c..covvieeie e bbbt 55.8 59.0 59.3
General and administrative - HOSPICe CATE......ovviviiceiee e e eees 19.2 20.3 21.9
General and administrative - SUPPOTE CENLET ....cccvuecieiereceee e rresessnecaesseenes 10.2 10.3 10.6
GOvernment SEtIEMENL..........ccvevrreereisernnrsinerinrereseses e s srereiresassesessssnressees 3.7 — —
Provision for uncollectible aCCOUNTS.........ovveveviii et 1.2 1.1 1.4
Depreciation and amortiZation........coeesee e e seeas e sennenes 1.1 1.4 1.5
Impairment of long-1ived aSSetS.........oovvoeeiemieceiiiccsecetrce e — — —
Certificate of need application COStS .....o.coovvivinnen e _— _— _08

91.2 92.1 95.5
Income from continuing operations before other income (expense)......ovvuvunn. 8.8 7.9 4.5
Other income (EXPense), MEL..... ... s e ree s s 03 _0.3 _06
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes ........... 9.1 8.6 5.1
Provision for INCOME AXKES ........ovviiiviviiiiiriiie et sere s ar e ss et st eeeas 338 30 _1.7
Income from continuing OPErationS .......c.ceceeenvvisinisresesiesiereesreeaseesa e enerrrees 53 5.6 34
Income {loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes..........co....... (0.1 0.5 0.4)
INEE IMCOMIE. .....oeiieiievereriseemees e resee e e se s s rs s bbb s e e e se e e e bt ssnns _5.2% S.1% _3.0%

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006

The following table summarizes and compares our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2007, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2007 $ Change % Change
(In thousands, except % change)
Net patient SErVICE FEVENUE ..o vruvreervieeerieiesresissieeierasee et srensees $ 384981 § 404,872 % 19,891 5.2%
Operating expenses:
Direct hospice Care ..ot s s 227,186 240,137 12,951 5.7%
General and administrative - hoSpice Care......oovvvvrveeeceeeeeernne. 78,319 88,580 10,261 13.1%
General and administrative - SUPPOTt CENtEr ........ocvivvieeeeeneesenreens 39,596 43,162 3,566 9.0%
Provision for uncollectible accounts.......c.oeeocveeveevveveriecevrenins 4,117 5,493 1,376 33.4%
Depreciation and amoertization...........eeevereesesesesensercecsescreens 5,121 5,944 823 16.1%
Impairment of long-lived assets...........ccoovvciniinviciminninn — 211 211 100.0%
Certificate of need application costS........c.ocvvvniieiniiiniininn, — 3,144 3.144 100.0%
354,339 386,671 32,332 9.1%
Income from continuing operations before other income
(expense) .................................................................................... 30,642 18,201 (12,441)  (40.6)%
Other income (expense)......coou... 2,389 2.287 {102) 4.3%
Income from commumg operatlons before prowsmn for income:
taXeS .o 33,031 20,488 (12,543) (38.0)%
Prowsmn for income taxes .......................................................... 11,659 6.830 (4829) (@{@1.4H)%
Income from continting OPerations.........ceevevrinvisiniesniessieseenen 21,372 13,658 (7,714)  (36.1)%
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes............ (1.643) (1,547 96 (5.8)%

NET INCOME ..o 9 19,729 8§ 12,111 8 (7,618) (38.6)%
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Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue increased $19.9 million, or 5.2%, from $385.0 million to $404.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. This increase is due primarily to our effective Medicare payment
rate increase of 3.4% on October 1, 2006 and to a lesser extent, a reduction in our estimated Medicare cap
contractual adjustment and a slight increase in our average daily census. The estimated Medicare cap contractual
adjustment decreased $5.3 miilion, or 50.5%, from $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to $5.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The Medicare cap contractual adjustment for the year ended
December 31, 2006 includes an additional accrual of $3.1 million for Medicare cap year 2005 compared to an
additional accrual of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 for the 2006 Medicare cap year. In
addition, there are fewer programs in cap for 2007 compared to 2006 which is a result of our inpatient development
initiative, change in patient mix and the disposition of several programs that were historically in cap. Our average
daily census increased by 90 patients, or 1.2%, from 7,700 patients for the year ended December 31, 2006 to 7,790
patients for the year ended December 31, 2007, which resulted in increased billable days of approximately 32,860.
Net patient service revenue per day of care was $136.98 and $142.39 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2007, respectively. Medicare revenues represented 92.7% and 92.4% of our net patient service revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Medicaid revenues represented 4.3% and 4.5% of our net patient
service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Direct Hospice Care Expenses

Direct hospice care expenses increased $13.0 million, or 5.7%, from $227.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2006 to $240.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Salaries, benefits and payroll tax expense
increased $9.0 million, or 6.0%, from $151.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to $160.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase is primarily due to annual salary increases and our inpatient
development initiative. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, salaries, benefits and payroll tax expense
increased from 39.3% to 39.6% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. In addition,
contracted patient care services and medical director fees increased $2.7 million, or 30.7%, from $8.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 to $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase is due
primarily to an increase in our provision of general inpatient care in our inpatient facilities, which requires
significantly more physician involvement. Our direct hospice care expenses are generally higher during the first
several days of care for a new patient and the last several days of care. As a percentage of net patient service-
revenue, total direct hospice care expenses increased from 59.0% to 59.3% for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2007, respectively.

General and Administrative Expenses - Hospice Care

General and administrative expenses - hospice care increased $10.3 million, or 13.1%, from $78.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 to $88.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Salaries, benefits and
payroll tax expense increased $6.2 million, or 11.7%, from $53.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to
$59.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily due to average annual salary
increases and increases in our lease expense. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, salaries, benefits and
payroll tax expense increased from 13.9% to 14.7% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
Lease expense related to office leases increased $1.9 million, or 18.1%, from $10.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to $12.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 due primarily to new and additional
office leases for hospice programs, including new inpatient units and alternate delivery sites. As a percentage of net
patient service revenue, total general and administrative expenses increased from 20.3% to 21.9% for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, due primarily to the increases in salaries, benefits and payroll tax
expense and lease expense.
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General and Administrative Expenses - Support Center

General and administrative expenses - support center increased $3.6 million, or 9.0%, from $39.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 to $43.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Salaries, benefits and
payroll tax expense increased $1.7 million, or 10.2%, from $16.6 million for the vear ended December 31, 2006, to
$18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase is due to annual satary increases and additional
employees related to the conversion to the new billing system. As a percentage of net patient service revenue,
salaries, benefits and payroll tax expense increased from 4.3% to 4.5% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2007, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we incurred approximately $1.6 million in
incremental costs related to our new integrated billing system. Stock-based compensation decreased $1.8 million, or
31.8%, from $5.6 million to $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. As a
percentage of net patient service revenue, total general and administrative expenses for our support center increased
from 10.3% 10 10.6% for the years ended Decernber 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Provision for Uncollectible Accounts

Provision for uncollectible accounts increased $1.4 million, or 33.4%, from $4.1 million to $5.5 miliion for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, due to an increase in the number of additional development
requests (“ADRs”) from our Medicare fiscal intermediaries, which resulted in an increase in our aging, denials and
additional write-offs of patient accounts. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, our provision for
uncollectible accounts was 1.1% and 1.4% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $0.8 million, or 16.1%, from $3.1 million to $5.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. This increase is due to an increase in depreciation
expense related to our inpatient unit development and the new billing system. As a percentage of net patient service
revenue, depreciation and amortization expense increased from 1.4% for the year ended December 31, 2006 to 1.5%
for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a loss of $0.2 million for the write-down of a building
that was expected to be developed as a free standing inpatient facility which was not yet operational. We decided not
to pursue this inpatient facility and expect to sell this building in the first quarter of 2008.

Certificate of Need Application Costs

During the fourth quarter of 2007, additional information arising from a CON trial that occurred in December
2007 and other developments during the fourth quarter of 2007 related to several pending CON applications caused
us, along with our counsel, to reassess the probability that we would prevail in our pending CON applications. Based
on our reassessment of our pending CON applications, it was determined that the capitalized application costs
related to these pending CON applications no longer had any future value. An impairment charge of approximately
$2.3 million was recorded in the fourth quarter 2607 to reduce the value of the pending CON application costs. An
additional charge of $0.8 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2007. The remaining CON costs pertaining to
licenses received are amortized over a 20 year life,

Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) decreased $0.1 million, or 4.3%, from $2.4 million to $2.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Interest income is rzlated to interest earned on our short-term cash

investments. Interest expense is primarily associated with the unused facility fee and amortization of deferred costs
related to our revolving line of credit. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations was $11.7 million and $6.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. We had an effective income tax rate of approximately 35.3% and 33.3%
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The 2007 effective income tax rate is lower
primarily due to the 2007 federal tax credit related to Hurricane Katrina. See Note 12 to our consolidated financial
statements.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

The following table summarizes and compares our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 20035
and 2006, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 3 Change % Change
(In thousands, except % change)
Net patient SETVICE FEVENMUE.......vvvvereeceeees i scs e cerncereresecacssanas $ 354517 § 384981 $ 30,464 8.6%
Operating expenses:
Direct hOSPICE CAME......ovvvimrmerere e si s resrr e 197,880 227,186 29,306 14.8%
General and administrative - hospice care .......c.cevvcveeniienees 68,198 78,319 10,121 14.8%
General and administrative - SUPPOIt CENTET ..ovvrveeerereerereeeces 36,319 39,596 2n 9.0%
Government SERISIMENT ........vvrvrceeeeeeerer e e e esieesecssieesinns 13,000 - (13,0000  100.0%
Provision for uncollectible accounts........covciveciceervecrvenrvonennennes 4,142 4,117 (25) (0.6)%
Depreciation and amortization............cccciniiiiiin. 4,033 5,121 1,088 27.0%
323,572 354,339 30,767 9.5%
Income from continuing operations before other income
] 113 11 TR USSR PR OT U POROPUPOTOPION 30,945 30,642 (303) (1.0)%
Other iNCOME (EXPENSEY}...eveverrerereirererseceurarermramreeesnesmsarensssssans 1,143 2.389 1,246 109.0%
Income from continuing operations before provision for income
FAXBS 1eisissirersiiieesisreessssasasisstessssesseasmeessssbeeesa st et s sasabees st et aeanrare 32,088 33,031 943 2.9%
Provision for INCOME AXES ..o e rrerareceneraressearenens 13,338 11,659 (1.679) (12.6)%
Income from continuing OPerations........ocvvvvvveeeeecreceresneeecreeees 18,750 21,372 2,622 14.0%
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income
BAXES .eurevertereierrinteressentrressesres e s et e e st et em e seneear bt sabs st sab b ane s {194) (1,643) (1,449) 746.5%
INEE INCOMIE. v vereveraraversenrsrrrereserreereeesesene e ssesesesiabesessasssbetarsseasne § 18556 % 19,729 § 1,173 6.3%

Net Parient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue increased $30.5 million, or 8.6%, from $354.5 million to $385.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. This increase was due primarily to an increase in average daily
census of 388, or 5.3%, from 7,312 patients for the year ended December 31, 2005 to 7,700 patients for the year
ended December 31, 2006, which resulted in increased billable days of approximately of 141,519. Net patient
service revenue per day of care was $132.83 and $136.98 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006,
respectively. This increase was primarily due to overall increases in Medicare payment rates for our hospice services
of approximately 3.4% and an increase in continuous care revenues resulting from a shift in our level of care mix.
As a percentage of gross revenue, continuous home care increased from 2.6% for the year ended December 31, 2005
to 4.1% for the year ended December 31, 2006. Continuous home care gross revenue had an average gross revenue
per day of $488 for the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in net patient service revenue was offset by the
Medicare cap coniractual adjustment of $7.2 miltion and $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
2006, respectively. The Medicare cap contractual adjustment for the years ended December 31, 2005 included $1.0
million due to CMS’s correction to the Medicare hospice per beneficiary cap amount for the Medicare cap year
ended October 31, 2005 and $1.1 million for the estimated impact of potential revisions to the Medicare hospice per
beneficiary cap amount for the Medicare cap years ended October 31, 2003 and 2004. The Medicare cap contractual
adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes an additional accrual of $3.1 million for 2005 Medicare
cap year. Medicare revenues represented 92.1% and 92.7% of our net patient service revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Medicaid revenues represented 5.0% and 4.3% of our net patient service
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
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Direct Hospice Care Expenses

Direct hospice care expenses increased $29.3 million, or 14.£%, from $197.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 to $227.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Salaries, benefits and payroll tax
expense increased $24.6 million, or 19.5%, from $126.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 to $151.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily due to a significant growth in continuous
home care revenues that requires more labor hours, average annual salary increases of approximately 4.0% and
additional employees to accommeodate additional patient census growth at our existing hospice programs and our
new hospice programs. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, salaries, benefits and payroll tax expense
increased from 35.7% to 39.3% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Other direct hospice
care expense increased $3.7 million, or 17.4%, from $21.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 to $25.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily due to increases in employee mileage
expense, contracted services and medical director fees. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, other direct
hospice care expense increased from 6.1% to 6.5% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
As a percentage of net patient service revenue, total direct hospice care expenses increased from 55.8% to 59.0% for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, due primarily to the increases in salaries, benefits and
payroll taxes.

General and Administrative Expenses - Hospice Care

General and administrative expenses - hospice care increased $10.1 million, or 14.8%, from $68.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005 to $78.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Salaries, benefits and
payroll tax expense increased $5.8 million, or 12.1%, from $47.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 to
$53.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily due to average annual salary
increases of approximately 4.0% and the hiring of additional personnel at our hospice programs. As a percentage of
net patient service revenue, salaries, benefits and payroll tax expense increased from 13.4% to 13.9% for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Lease expense related to office leases increased $1.7 million, or
20.0%, from $8.6 million for the vear ended December 31, 20035 to $10.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 due primarily to new and additional office leases for hospice programs, including new alternate delivery sites.
As a percentage of net paticnt service revenue, total general and administrative expenses increased from 19.2% to
20.3% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, due primarily to the increases in salaries,
benefits and payroll tax expense and lease expense.

General and Administrative Expenses - Support Center

General and administrative expenses - support center increased $3.3 million, or 9.0%, from $36.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005 to $39.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Stock-based compensation
increased $4.9 million from $0.7 million to $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006,
respectively. This increase is due primarily to the recording of compensation expense associated with unvested
employee stock options and restricted stock awards in accordance with SFAS 123R, which was adopted by us on
January 1, 2006. Recruiting fees related primarily to recruitment of patient caregivers decreased $2.0 million, or
89%, from $2.2 million to $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. This
decrease is primarily due to us handling the recruitment internally with a support center department designated for
this task. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, total general and administrative expenses increased from
10.2% to 10.3% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, due primarily to the increases in
stock-based compensation expense.

Government Settlement
We recorded a charge of $13.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to recognize our estimated
financial liability related to the anticipated settlement with the DQJ to resolve the civil investigation that focused

primarily on patient admissions, retention and discharges. Payment of the settlement was made in July of 2006. See
Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements.
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Provision for Uncollectible Accounts

Provision for uncollectible accounts was $4.1 million for both of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.
As a percentage of net patient service revenue, our provision for uncollectible accounts was 1.2% and 1.1% for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.1 million, or 27.0%, from $4.0 million to $5.1 million for
the vears ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. This increase is due to an increase in depreciation
expense related to inpatient unit development and the new billing system. As a percentage of net patient service
revenue, depreciation and amortization expense increased from 1.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 to 1.4%
for the year ended December 31, 2006, respectively.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased $1.3 million, or 109.0%, from $1.1 million to $2.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Interest income increased $1.3 million, or 92.1%, from $1.3 million to
$2.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, due to the average amount of cash
invested increasing by approximately $20.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2005. Interest expense is primarily associated with the unused facility fee and amortization of
deferred costs related to the revolving line of credit. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations was $13.3 million and $11.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. We had an effective income tax rate of approximately 41.6% and 35.3%
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The 2006 effective income tax rate is lower due to a
decrease in our 2006 state tax rates and a 2006 federal tax credit related to Hurricane Katrina and due to the
estimated partial deductibility of our 2005 settlement with the DOJ that increased our effective income tax rate for
2005. See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal liquidity requirements are for the Medicare cap contractual adjustments, debt service, acquisition
and implementation of our new integrated billing system, working capital, new hospice program and inpatient
development, hospice acquisitions, stock repurchase program and other capital expenditures. We finance these
requirements primarily with existing funds, cash flows from operating activities, operating leases, and normal trade
credit terms. As of December 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of $12.4 million and working capital of
$72.5 million. At such date, we also had short-term investments of $49.8 million.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $58.2 million, $34.7 million and $16.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The increase in cash provided by operations in 2005 was primarily
artributable to the net income generated during the year, increases in non-cash charges and changes in working
capital. The decrease in cash provided by operations in 2006 was primarily due to the $13.0 million payment related
to the DOJ settlement which was paid in July 2006. The decrease in cash provided by operations was primarily due
to the $15.4 million paid to Medicare related to 2004, 2005 and 2006 Medicare cap years during the year ended
December 31, 2007, compared to $2.0 million paid to Medicare related to the 2004 and 2005 Medicare cap years
ended during the year ended December 31, 2006. No payments were made for the Medicare cap contractuat
adjustments during the year ended December 31, 2005.

QOur days outstanding in accounts receivable has increased from 44 days as of December 31, 2005 to 45 days as
of December 31, 2006 and increased to 55 days as of December 31, 2007. This increase in days outstanding is due
primarily to an increase in ADRs from our Medicare fiscal intermediaries. When an ADR is received from one of
our Medicare fiscal intermediaries the claim associated with that ADR is delayed unti! the Medicare fiscal
intermediary evaluates the information that we provide in response to the ADR. If a claim is denied, then we usually
appeal the denial which delays payment of the claim. Until the claim subject to the ADR is processed, we do not
submit additional claims related to the patient’s whose claim was the subject to the ADR. These factors lead to an
increase in our days outstanding due to ADRs from our Medicare fiscal intermediaries.
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Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of $(52.8) million, $(29.2) million and $0.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, consisted primarily of cash paid to purchase hospice
programs, procurement of licenses, property and equipment and to purchase short-term investments. We have also
paid cash of $2.2 million, $2.4 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively, for software and hardware costs related to the new integrated billing, clinical management and
clectronic medical records system.

Net cash used in financing activities was $15.0 million, $13.1 million and $12.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, and principally represented proceeds from the issuance of
common stock, net of payments related to our stock repurchase programs for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2006 and 2007. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements.

On May 24, 2007, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (the
2007 Credit Agreement™) with General Electric Capital Corporation that provided us and such subsidiaries with a
$40 million revolving line of credit, subject to a $10 million increase option. The revolving line of credit was
available to be used, if necessary, to fund future acquisitions, stock repurchases, working capital requirements,
capital expenditures, and general corporate purposes. The revolving line of credit was scheduled to expire on May
24, 2009, but has been replaced by the new revolving line of credit described below. The revolving line of credit had
an unused facility fee of 0.25% per annum. No amounts were drawn on the revolving line of credit as of December
31, 2007. The revolving line of credit was secured by substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’ existing and after-
acquired personal property. We and our subsidiaries were subject to affirmative and negative covenants under the
2007 Credit Agreement, including financial covenants consisting of a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio. As of December 31, 2007, management telieves we and our subsidiaries were in compliance
with all covenants under the 2007 Credit Agreement.

In connection with our acquisition of VistaCare, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (the “Credit Agreement™) on February 28, 2008 with General Electric Capital Corporation and certain
other lenders that provides us with a $130 million term loan (the: “Term Loan™) and a $30 million revolving line of
credit. The Term Loan was used to pay a portion of the purchase price and costs incurred with respect to the
acquisition of VistaCare, to repay all amounts owing under certain indebtedness of VistaCare and to pay certain fees
and expenses incurred in connection with the Credit Agreement and the acquisition of VistaCare. The revolving line
of credit will be used to fund future acquisitions, waorking capital, capital expenditures, and general corporate
purposes. Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at an applicable margin above an Index Rate (based on the
higher of the prime rate or 50 basis points over the federal funds rate) or above LIBOR (as defined in the Credit
Agreement). Borrowings outstanding under the revolving line of credit will bear interest at an applicable margin
above LIBOR or the Index Rate. As of February 28, 2008, both the applicable term loan margin and the applicable
revolver margin for LIBOR loans was 3.00% and for Index Ratz loans was 2.00% and, based on our leverage ratio,
each may increase up to 3.25% for LIBOR loans and up to 2.25% for Index Rate loans.

The final installment of the Term Loan will be due 72 months after February 28, 2008 and the revolving line of
credit will expire 60 months from February 28, 2008. The revolving line of credit has an unused facility fee of
0.25% per annum. In connection with the acquisition of VistaCare, all of the subsidiaries of VistaCare and (together
with us, and certain of our subsidiaries, including VistaCare, the “Odyssey Obligors”} have become guarantors of
the obligations under the Credit Agreement and have granted sccurity interests in substantially all of their existing
and after-acquired personal property. The Term Loan and the revolving line of credit are secured by substantialiy all
of the Odyssey Obligors’ existing and after-acquired personal property, including the stock of certain subsidiaries
not party to the Credit Agreement. The Odyssey Obligors are subject to affirmative and negative covenants under
the Credit Agreement, including financial covenants consisting of a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio.

We reached an agreement in principle with the DOJ in February 2006 to permanently settle for $13.0 million its
investigation of certain of our patient certification, patient referral and coordination of benefits practices. Final
resolution and approval of a definitive settlement and corporate integrity agreements were completed in July 2006.
We also paid the $13.0 million settlement pursuant to the settlement agreement on July 11, 2006. See Note 14 to our
consolidated financial statements.
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During 2007, we offered equity interests in our Savannah, Georgia and Augusta, Georgia hospice programs to
third party investors of approximately 40% each. We received approximately $0.9 million in proceeds from our
investors from the offerings.

At December 31, 2007, we had invested $41.5 million in tax exempt ARS which we classified as current assets.
The ARS held by us are private placement securities with stated maturities of no more than six months for which the
interest rates are reset every 35 days. The reset dates have historically provided a liquid market for these securities
as investors historically could readily sell their investments. With the liquidity issues experienced in giobal credit
and capital markets, we have not been able to liquidate any ARS since early February of 2008. Subsequent to
December 31, 2007, we successfully liquidated $8.4 million of these securities in January 2008. These securities
generally have not experienced payment defaults and are backed by student loans which carry guarantees as
provided for under the Federal Family Education Loan Program of the U.S. Department of Education and all were
AAA/Aaarated at December 31, 2007. To date we have collected all interest payments on all of our ARS when due
and expect to continue to do so in the future. If the uncertainties in the credit and capital markets continue or these
markets deteriorate further, these securities may not provide liquidity to us when needed. Currently, there is a very
limited market for these securities and further liquidations at this time, if possible, would likely be at a significant
discount. If we had to liquidate any ARS at this time, we would incur significant losses. We currently believe that
we have sufficient liquidity for our current needs without selling any ARS and do not currently intend to attempt to
further liquidate these securities until market conditions improve. If our currently available resources are not
sufficient for our needs and we are not able 1o liquidate any ARS on acceptable terms on a timety basis, it could
have a material adverse impact on our cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

We expect that our principal liquidity requirements will be for Medicare cap contractual adjustments, debt
service, acquisition and implementation of a new integrated billing system, working capital, new hospice program
and inpatient development, hospice acquisitions, stock repurchases and other capital expenditures. We expect that
our existing funds, cash flows from operating activities, operating leases, normal trade credit terms, our existing
revolving line of credit under the Credit Agreement will be sufficient to fund our principal liquidity requirements for
at least 12 months following the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. QOur future liquidity requirements and the
adequacy of our available funds will depend on many factors, including receipt of payments for our services,
changes in the Medicare per beneficiary cap amount, changes in Medicare payment rates, regulatory changes and
compliance with new regulations, expense levels, capital expenditures, development of new hospices and
acquisitions, government and private party legal proceedings, integration of the recently acquired VistaCare hospice
programs and operations and investigations and our ability to liquidate our investments in ARS.

Contractual Obligations

We have various contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 that could impact our liquidity as summarized
below:

Payments Due by Period

Less Than After
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5Years _5Years
{In thousands)
Long-Term Debt.......ooorrereeese e evcsassrnsnee S 13 1 3 — 3 —8% —
Software License FEEs.......covvvrirvrvnnirencin e, 364 364 — — —
New Billing SYSIEM...ccoveieiiviiiieeeeee e 2,283 2,283 — - —
Operating Leases .....ovveverrviniereirrvesvsesesseressssessessseesenns 52,437 12,980 18,661 12,174 _ 8,622
Total Contractual Obligations.......c.ccccovvvvcvvivesivene. $ 55085 8 15628 § 18661 3 12,174 § 8,622

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2007, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Risk

Interest Rate Risk. Our Credit Agreement bears interest at a variable rate, which exposes our cash flows and
results of operations to risk related to changes in market interest rates. We are currently evaluating strategies to
manage interest rate market risk. We invest excess cash balances in money market accounts with average maturities

of less than 90 days and our short-term investments generally are variable rate or contain interest reset features
which causes their face value to be relatively stable.
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Foreign Exchange. We operate our business within the United States and execute all transactions in U.S.
dollars.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 109 “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 is reported as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and
also provides guidance on various related matters such as derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosures and transition. As a result of the application of the provisions of FIN 48,
the Company recorded an adjustment of $0.4 million to its opening balance of retained earnings and reclassified
$1.3 million from deferred tax liabilities to other liabilities for uncertain tax positions. If these liabilities are settled
favorably, it could impact the Company’s effective tax rate. The only periods still subject to audit for the Company’s
federal tax return are the 2003 through 2006 tax years. The Company will classify interest and penalties in the
provision for income taxes. The Company has recorded an accrual of $0.2 million for interest in the provision for
income taxes during the year ended December 31, 2007.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued statement No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS 1357 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 13, 2007, with eariier
application encouraged. In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 157-1 “Application of FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13 and Other Accounting
Pronouncements That Address Fair Value Measurements for Purpose of Lease Classification or Measurement under
Statement 13 (“FSP 157-1") which removes leasing transactions from the scope of SFAS 157, FSP 157-1 is
effective upon adoption of SFAS 157, In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB
Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 (“FSP 157-27) which delays the effective
date of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, at least annually to fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008. Any amounts recognized upon adoption as a cumulative effect adjustment will be recorded to
the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. The Company does not anticipate a material impact
from the implementation of SFAS 157 on its financial condition and results of operations.

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 159). SFAS 159
is effective for financial statements beginning after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted. The
statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The
unrealized gains or losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected would be reported in earnings.
The objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate
volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply
complex hedge accounting provisions. The Company does not anticipate a material impact from the implementation
of SFAS 159 on its financial position and results of operations.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141(R), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141F”). SFAS 141R retains the purchase method of
accounting for acquisitions, but requires a number of changes, including changes in the way assets and liabilities are
recognized in purchase accounting as well as requiring the expensing of acquisition-related costs as incurred.
Furthermore, SFAS 141R provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business
combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the
nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibited. While the Company has not yet fully evaluated the impact
of SFAS 141R on its financial condition and results of operations, the Company will be required to expense costs
related to any future acquisitions beginning January 1, 2009.
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In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No.160 “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 is
effective for financial statements beginning afier December 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibited. All
presentation and disclosure requirements will be applied retrospectively for all periods presented. SFAS 160
establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, sometimes call
minority interest, and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. Noncontrolling interest will be reported as a
component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Consolidated net income will be reported at amounts
that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest, with additional disclosures
on the face of the statement of operations of the amounts of consolidated net income are attributable to the parent
and the noncontrolling interests. SFAS 160 establishes a change in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
does not result in deconsolidation are equity transactions. A gain or loss in net income is recognized for changes that
result in deconsolidation. The Company has not yet determined the full impact of SFAS 160 on its financial
condition and results of operations, but it anticipates reclassification of its minority interests in consolidated
subsidiaries in its consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity.

Payment, Legislative and Regulatory Changes

We are highly dependent on payments from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These programs are subject to
statutory and regulatory changes, possible retroactive and prospective rate adjustments, administrative rulings, rate
freezes and funding reductions. Reductions in amounts paid by these programs for our services or changes in
methods or regulations governing payments for our services could materially adversely affect our net patient service
revenue and profitability. For the year ended December 31, 2007, Medicare and Medicaid services constituted
92.4% and 4.5% of our net patient service revenue, respectively.

Inflation

The healthcare industry is labor intensive. Wages and other expenses increase during periods of inflation and
when labor shortages occur in the marketplace. In addition, suppliers pass along rising costs to us in the form of
higher prices. We have implemented cost control measures designed to curb increases in operating expenses.
However, our operating expenses are increasing more rapidly due to expected inflationary pressures than our rate
increases and growth in patient census. This dynamic is putting increasing pressure on our operating margins. We
cannot predict our ability to cover or offset future cost increases.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Changes in interest rates would affect the fair market value of our fixed rate debt instruments but would not have
an impact on our earnings or cash flows. As of December 31, 2007, we did not have any variable rate debt
instruments. Fluctuations in interest rates on any future variable rate debt instruments, which are tied to the prime
rate, would affect our earnings and cash flows but would not affect the fair market value of the variable rate debt.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K for a listing of our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto. All financial statement
schedules are omitted because the required information is not present, not present in material amounts or is
presented within the consolidated financial statements.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934) as of December 31, 2007, and based on such evaluation have concluded that such disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information that is required to be disclosed in the
periodic reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. There have been no changes in our
internal control aver financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934} that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f} under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonablez assurance to the Company’s management and
board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control - Integrated Framework. Based on our
assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, has been audited by Ernst
& Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firsa who has audited the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. Ernst & Young’s attestation report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting appears on page 59 hereof.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Qdyssey HealthCare, Inc,

We have audited Odyssey HealthCare, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Odyssey HealthCare, Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal contro! over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2007. Qur report dated March 11, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas

March 11, 2008
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Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures

Not applicable.
Item 9B. Other Information

All information required to be disclosed by us in a Current Report on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter of the
year ended December 31, 2007 has previously been reported on a Form 8-K.

PART 1l
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information set forth under the headings “Proposal One - Election of Class I Directors,” “Directors,”
“Corporate Governance - Standing Committees of our Board,” “Corporate Governance - Director Nomination
Process,” “Corporate Governance - Code of Ethics,” “Corporate Governance - Qur Board,” “Executive Officers”
and “Stock Ownership Matters - Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in our
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) in connection with our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information set forth under the headings “Corporate Governance - Standing Committees of our Board -
Compensation Committee,” “Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Executive Compensation” and “Compensation
Committee Report” contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the
Exchange Act in connection with our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information set forth under the heading “Stock Ownership Matters - Security Ownership of Principal
Stockholders and Management™ contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

of the Exchange Act in connection with our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by
reference.

Equity-Based Compensation Plans. The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2007, about
our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options or vesting of restricted stock awards under the
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. Stock Option Plan and the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

(¢}

(a) Number of Securities
Number of Securities Remaining Available
to be Issued (b) for Future Issuance
Upon Exercise of Weighted-Average Under Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options, Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Warrants, Awards Outstanding Options, Securities
Plan Category and Rights Warrants, and Rights Reflected in Column(a})

(In thousands, except average exercise price)
Equity Compensation Plans

Approved by Stockholders ............ 3,460(1) ¥ 16.38 1,467
Equity Compensation Plans Not

Approved by Stockholders ............ — — —
TOtL e 3,460 $_16.38 1,467
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(1) Includes (i) 36,250 unvested restricted stock awards granted to certain executive officers on November I8,
2004, (ii) 66,000 unvested restricted stock awards granted to certain employees on October 4, 2005, (iii) 76,538
unvested restricted stock units awarded to certain executive officers on December 20, 2006 and (iv) 28,000
unvested restricted stock awards granted to the members of the Board of Directors on May 4, 2007. Restricted
stock awards and restricted stock units are not included in the calculation of the weighted-average exercise
price since there is no exercise price attached to the award.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information set forth under the headings “Transactions With Related Persons” and “Corporate Governance -
Our Board - Board Size; Director Independence™ contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act in connection with our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under the heading “Audit Committee Matters - Fees Paid to Independent Auditors”
contained in our definitive Proxy Staternent to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act in
connection with our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Index to
Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) All financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not present, not present
in material amounts or is presented within the financial statements.

(3) The following documents are filed or incorporated by reference as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form
10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description
2.1- Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 15, 2008, among Odyssey HealthCare Holding Company,

OHC Investment, Inc. and VistaCare, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on January 15, 2008)

22- Form of Stockholder Agreement, dated January 15, 2008, among Odyssey HealthCare Holding
Company, OHC Investment, Inc. and each of the following directors and executive officers of
VistaCare, Inc.: Richard R. Slager, John Crisci, Stephen Lewis, Roseanne Berry, Henry Hirvela, James
T. Robinson, James C. Crews, Jon M. Donnell, Jack A. Henry, Geneva B. Johnson, Pete A. Klisares and
Brian S. Tyler (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
as filed with the Commission on January 15, 2008)

31- Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc’s (the “Company”) Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form 5-1
(Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission™) on September 13, 2001)

32- Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on
December 8, 2000)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

33-

41—

42—

43 -

44—

10.1.1 -

10.1.2 -

10.1.3 -

10.1.4 -

10.1.5 -

10.1.6 -

First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc., effective
as of December 20, 2007 ({incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on December 21, 2007)

Form of Commen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the
Commission on August 2, 2001)

Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Apreement, dated July 1, 1998, by and among
Odyssey HealthCare, [nc. and the security holders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with
the Commission on December 8, 2000)

Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”) dated November 5, 2001, between Odyssey HealthCare,
Inc. and Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form 8-A as filed with the Commission on December 8, 2001)

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (included as Exhibit
A to the Rights Agreement (Exhibit 4.3 hereto))

Credit Agreement, dated May 14, 2004, among Odyssey HealthCare Operating A, LP, Odyssey
HealthCare Operating B, LP and Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc. as borrowers, Odyssey HealthCare Inc,
as a credit party and the other credit parties signatory thereto, General Electric Capital Corporation as
agent and lender, and the other lenders signatory thereto from to time (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on May 26,
2004)

Consent and Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement dated November 1, 2004 among Odyssey
HealthCare Operating A, LP, Odyssey HealthCare Operating B, LP, and Hospice of the Paim Coast, Inc.
as borrowers, Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. as a credit party and the other credit parties signatory thereto,
General Electric Capital Corporation as agent and lender, and the other lenders signatory thereto from
time to time (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2004)

Waiver and Amendment No. 2 Credit Agreement, dated February 22, 2006, by and among General
Electric Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Odyssey HealthCare Operating A, LP, a Delaware
limited partnership, Odyssey HealthCare Operating B, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of
the Palm Coast, Inc., a Florida not for profit corporation, and the other Credit Parties signatory thereto
{(incorporated by Reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with
the Commission on February 27, 2006)

Consent, Waiver and Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated September 29, 2006, by and among
General Electric Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation, individually as sole Lender and as Agent
for the Lenders, Odyssey HealthCare Operating A, LP, A Delaware limited partnership, Odyssey
HealthCare Operating B, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc., a Florida
not for profit corporaticn, and the other Credit Parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on October 4,
2006)

Consent and Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement, dated October 19, 2006, by and among General
Electric Capitat Corporation, a Delaware corporation, individually as sole Lender and as Agent for the
Lenders, Odyssey HealthCare Operating A, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Odyssey HealthCare
Operating B, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc., a Florida not for
profit corporation, and the other Credit Parties signatory thereto {incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on October 25, 2006)

Amendment No. § to Credit Agreement, dated May 4, 2007, by and among General Electric Capital
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, individually as sole Lender and as Agent for the Lenders, Odyssey
HealthCare Operating A, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Odyssey HeaithCare Operating B, LP, a
Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc., a Florida not for profit corporation, and
the other Credit Parties signatory thereto {(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on May 8, 2007)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1.7 -

10.1.8 -

10.1.9 -

1024 —

10.3% —

10.4% -

10.5% -

10.6%1 -

10.7.1% -

10.7.21 -

10.81 -

10.9¢ —

10.10f —

10.11% -

Amendment No. 6 to Credit Agreement, dated May 14, 2007, by and among General Electric Capital
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, individually as sole Lender and as Agent for the Lenders, Odyssey
HealthCare Operating A, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Odyssey HealthCare Operating B, LP, a
Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of the Paim Coast, Inc., a Florida not for profit corporation, and
the other Credit Parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on May 18, 2007)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated May 24, 2007, by and among General Eleciric Capital
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, individually as Lender and as Agent for the Lenders, the other
Lenders signatory thereto, Odyssey HealthCare Operating A, LP, a Delaware limited partnership,
Odyssey HealthCare Operating B, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of the Palm Coast, Inc.,
a Florida not for profit corporation, and the other Credit Parties signatory thereto {incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission
on May 30, 2007)

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 28, 2008, by and among General
Electric Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation, individually as Lender and as Agent for the
Lenders, the other Lenders signatory thereto, Odyssey HealthCare Operating A, LP, a Delaware limited
partnership, Odyssey HealthCare Operating B, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Hospice of the Palm
Coast, Inc., a Florida not for profit corporation, OHC Investment Inc., a Delaware corporation, and the
other Credit Parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on March 4, 2008)

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2005, by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and
Robert A. Lefton (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K as filed with the Commission on October 12, 2005)

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2005, by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and
Brenda A. Belger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2005)

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2005, by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and W.
Bradley Bickham (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2005)

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2005, by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and
Deborah A. Hoffpauir (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2005)

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2005, by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and
Kathleen A. Ventre (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2005)

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2006, by and Between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and
Woodrin Grossman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on January 20, 2006)

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, between the Company and Woodrin
Grossman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as
filed with the Commission on December 28, 2007)

Employment Agreement by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. And R. Dirk Allison, dated October
30, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as
filed with the Commission on October 30, 2006)

Employment Agreement by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and Craig P. Goguen, dated July 26,
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed
with the Commission on July 30, 2007)

Agreement by and among Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and Richard R. Burnham, effective as of January 1,
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed
with the Commission on January 5, 2007)

Agreement, between the Company and Deborah A. Hoffpauir, dated June 29, 2007 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission
on July 5, 2007)
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Exhibit
Number

10.12 ~

10.13.11 -

10.13.2% -

10.14.1% -

10.14.2% -

10.14.31 -

10.14.41 -

10.14.51 -

10.14.6% —

16.14.71 —

10.14.8 —

10.15.1 -

10.15.2 -
10.16% -

10.17.1 -

10.17.2 -

10.17.3 -

Deescription

Equity Award Termination Agreement, Release and Waiver, between the Company and Deborah A.
Hoffpauir, dated June 29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission an July 5, 2007)

Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. Stock Option Plan {the “Stock Option Plan™) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as
filed with the Commission on December 8, 2000)

First Amendment to the Stock Option Plan, dated January 31, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5.2 to the Company’s Amendment No, 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 {Registration No.
333-51522) as filed with the Commission on September 13, 2001)

2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s
Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form $-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the
Commission on September 13, 2001)

First Amendment to the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan, dated May 3, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission
On May 5, 2005)

Second Amendment to the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan, dated May 5, 2005 {incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the
Commission on August & 2005)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the 2001 Equity - Based Compensation Plan
Management Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on January 12, 2005)

Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. Equity-Based Compensation Plan Management Stock Option Agreement,
dated Octaber 11, 2003, by and between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and Robert A. Lefton (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Commission on October 12, 2005)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreemnent under the Odyssey HealthCare Inc. 2001 Equity Based
Compensation Plan - Time Based RSU Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on February 26, 2007)

Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the QOdyssey HealthCare Inc. 2001 Equity Based
Compensation Plan - Additionatl Incentive Based R5U Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on February 26, 2007)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. 200t Equity-Based
Compensation Plan - Non-Employee Director Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2007)

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s
Amendment No. 2 1o Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 332-51522) as filed with the
Commission on September 13, 2001)

First Amendment to Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated March 6, 2002 *

Form of Indemnification Agreement between QOdyssey HealthCare, Inc. and its directors and officers
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
{Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on December 8, 2000)

Promissory Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated May 22, 1998, by and among Qdyssey
HealthCare, Inc. and the other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the
Commission on December 8, 2000)

Form of Warrant, dated May 22, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form §-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on
December 8, 2000)

First Amendment to Warrants, dated December 6, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.3 to
the Company’s Amendment No. | to Repistration Statement on Form 8-1 {Registration No. 333-51522)
as filed with the Commission on August 2, 2001)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.18% —  Separation Agreement and Release, dated January 19, 2003, between David C. Gasmire and Odyssey

10.19 —

10.20 -

21 -
23.1-
311 -

31.2-

32—

HealthCare, Inc. (incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q as filed with the Commission on May 9, 2005)

Settlement Agreement, dated July 6, 2006, among the United States of America acting through the
entities named therein, JoAnn Russell and Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on July 12,
2006)

Corporate Integrity Agreement, dated July 6, 2006, between the Office of Inspector General of the
Department of Health and Human Services and Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. (incorporated by Reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on July 12,
2006)

Subsidiaries of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc.*
Consent of Emst & Young LLP*

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 12, 2008, by Robert A. Lefton, Chief Executive
Officer*

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 12, 2008, by R. Dirk Allison, Chief Financial
Officer*

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(b}, dated March 12, 2008, by Robert A. Letton, Chief Executive
Officer, and R. Dirk Allison, Chief Financial Officer**

t Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

* Filed herewith.
**  Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC.

By: /s ROBERT A. LEFTON

Robert A. Lefton
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date; March 12, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ ROBERT A. LEFTON President, Chief Executive Officer, March 12, 2008
Robert A. Lefton and Director

/s/ R. DIRK ALLISON Senior Vice President, Chief Financial March 12, 2008
R. Dirk Allison Officer, Assistant Secretary and

Treasurer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

/s{ RICHARD R. BURNHAM Chairman of the Board March 12, 2008
Richard R. Burnham

{s/ JAMES E. BUNCHER Director March 12, 2008
James E. Buncher

/s/ JOHN K. CARLYLE Director March 12, 2008
John K. Carlyle

/s/ DAVID W, CROSS Director March 12, 2008

David W. Cross

/s/ PAUL J. FELDSTEIN Director March 12, 2008
Paul J. Feldstein

fs/ ROBERT A. ORTENZIO Director March 12, 2008
Robert A. Ortenzio

fs/ SHAWN §. SCHABEL Director March 12, 2008
Shawn S. Schabel

/s DAVID L. STEFFY Director March 12, 2008
David L. Steffy
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2006 2007
(In thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets;

Cash and cash eqQUIVALENTS........cccuiiiiceciiiiiiiei ettt er st eeeeemeebe s eeeseeaesaeneas § 71572 % 12386
SHOTT-EIT INVESTIMBIIS ...veiiveiiieiisieisiiiisisibisiisss s be s as st ee et de e e e ks eans sa b e eomssabsbmemtsiabsesies 62,390 49,793

Accounts receivable from patient services, net of allowance for uncollectible
accounts of $2,501 and $4,363 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively............ 64,007 77,433
DETEITEA tAX ASSEIS uvirvirriireereereeressrestessnersiorstersesresstesstesstesatesatssassanssareraserssstesstesstesnses — 1,400
INCOME 1aXES8 TECEIVADIE ... i sabs s e e rn e s s s ne e vares 6,134 1,968
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENE ASSEES.....cviuviviirrcerrarereamirenamensinerereeseseessaseressens 5,720 5,467
Assets of discontinued OPerations..........cccuviiciininieciinesise e be s s sas st rsnnns 863 226
TOAl CUITENT BSSEIS .oouvviiuiriiriiiiiis bt iiisis e sbestiee e s bdste s et et oeam e bt embome bbb s ba b tebaibasa e 146,686 148,673
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation .........coceccevieicinicerererreercvensarns 20,349 24,308
GOOAWILL.... ..o ettt se s et serae e s bns e s e e nnannens 98,179 98,179
Intangibles, net of accumulated amMOrtiZation ... vevriie e 4,772 4,049
TOtAl ASSEIS......viiivirirciii ittt sttt e e es e cmercmce e e e e anen £ 269986 $ 275209

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS?’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

ACCOUNLS PAYADIE .....cviiiiiiiiiee ittt m et e ee e e e b be e e te s e ene et et eetee e ansennas $ 71§ 6,109
ACCTUED COMPENSALION .oviviiiiitiiiite i eie e cee e v s e s e sasannems e e seersr e e e s e s reeneas 14,089 16,797
Accrued NUISING NOME COSIS 1.vvovveivrrvriviririrsersesssrsessesserrsesserssssersessesssstsiasssaransinssesessesses 11,584 14,146
Accrued Medicare cap contractual adjusStMents.......ccvvveeveermreeeerureesnrereres e sesseseeesnens 26,679 21,682
Other 2CCTUSH EXPENSES...cveueereeerererrvrrererernrerereesrareseessearasasareseresnsssasssnsesesessesssensasersssans 16,397 17,445
Deferred tax HADIIILY ..o oottt ee st vt ess e st b et st s 209 —
Current maturities of long-term debt...........ccuoiveireoiiieeee e e 2 1
Total current Habiliies ....cooeiriniciniiiiiiiii e 76,131 76,180
Long-term debt, less Current Maturities .........cccooe e e esesns e seesns e see s 1 —
Deferred tax Habilily ........ccooorr e asarerasaene 13,720 14,041
Other HabilIES .......vcvee e e 538 1,256
Commitments and CONLINEENICIES .......ccoererrrirnnrsinirireirisise s assessesessssssssssses — —_
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries. ... .o e — 895
StOCKhOLdETS” EQUILY: ...ivisieseeeeeeee ettt sttt s e s s eme et e e

Common stock, $.001 par value:
Authorized shares - 75,000,000 Issued shares - 37,870,373 at December 31, 2006

and 38,063,439 at December 31, 2007 ......oovcriroeeeiirerersssnesssssssssessnssasasesssresssans 38 38
Additional paid-in capital.........cooeeecrrerrermirnniere e et eees 108,682 113,339
Retained Carmnings........coerrevreiveerninimniesisinnesesessssssssesesessessesssssssssessssssonsssasssnsesesesasaes 126,921 139,414
Treasury stock, at cost, 4,230,972 and 5,347,072 shares held at December 31, 2006

and 2007, FESPECTIVELY.....c.cc v et ss st eas b s e e sttt e e s et (56,045) __ (69.954)
Total stockholders’ EQUILY ... ov e e ve s e 179.596 182,837
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity .........ccorvrviiriiievesses e e $ 260986 § 275,200

See accompanying notes.
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net patient SErvVICe FEVEIMUE . ........cveeueurerereecrnreerereree e seeeeeens e seeaees $ 354,517 $ 384,981 $ 404,872
Operating expenses:
Direct hospice care .. 197,880 227,186 240,137
General and admlmstratlve hosplce CALE evveeverrnriressrnrreessisasrrrens 68,198 78,319 88,580
General and administrative - support center (inclusive of stock-
based compensation of $721, $5,616 and $3,829 for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectlvely) 36,319 39,596 43,162
Government settlement . 13,000 —_— _
Provision for uncollectlble accounts ............................................... 4,142 4,117 5,493
DePreCiation ......o.oo ettt st 3,625 4,820 5,700
Amortization... 408 301 244
Impairment of long-l:ved ASSELS 1o oereoeeser s e rees e eeesn — — 211
Certificate of need application COSES .......c.ceevieviciiminenciriniinnnnine, — — 3,144
323,572 354,339 386,671
[ncome from continuing operations before other income
(EXPENSE) ..ottt e e e e s e s 30,945 30,642 18,201
Other income {expense}:
INterest INCOIME .....veveeeiivriiiieeiricieee e s s 1,341 2,576 2,509
TNETEST EXPENSE c.c.verererierierererniererresesnsessersaosessserirrssssssensersasnenssesrsnss (198) (187) (208)
Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries ............... — — (14)
1,143 2,389 2,287
Income from continuing operations before provision for income
taxes .. 32,088 33,031 20,488
Prowsmn for income taxes 13,338 11,659 6,830
Income from continuing operatlons .................................................... 18,750 21,372 13,658
Loss from discontinued operations net of income taxes.................... (194) (1.643) {1.547)
Net income.. $ 18556 & 19,729 §__12,111
Income (Ioss) per common share
Basic:
Continuing OPEratioNS .......cccveviriveecerereeesereese e e e essasseeees 3 0.55 b 0.63 3 0.41
Discontinued OPETaiONS ......cccocvceererrerermecueereseseerenieneseseersinees $ (001 § (005 $ (0.04)
NEINCOMIE «.ececveeeeeeee ettt eeeets et e eme b ets e st erssbebesnresnebennss B 054 § 0.58 3 037
Diluted:
ContinUing OPErations ......ccecivii s e sessssrenes 5 0.54 5 0.62 $ 0.41
Discontinued operatlons $§ (©01) $ _ (005 $__ (0.0
Net income . . by 053 3 0.57 3 0.36
Wetghted average shares outstandmg
BaSTC . 11uereemrrrieesieneseesee st e st esee e e e see e s e e s ene et e se e et ene et easemaatebens 34,384 34,145 33,029
Dlluted 34,935 34,529 33,188

See accompanying notes.
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Additienal Total
Common Stock Paid-in Retained Treasury Stockholdeny’
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Stock Equity
{(Amounts in thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2005....... 36,751 s 7 H 03,674 $ 88,636 H {20,267) 5 162,080
Stock-based compensation ..., 164 - 721 - —_ 721
Tax benefit related to stock

Option EXerCises .cocvrverrcennae — —_ 930 -_ - 930
Exercise of stock options.......... 455 -— 2,810 —_— — 2,810
Employce Stock Purchase

PN e 41 -_— 489 - _— 489
Purchase of treasury stock, at

GO envcenrrerarmemseasnsasresrcmsmsnsres _ — — — (18,288) {(18,288)
Net iRCOME oo —_ —_ — 18,556 — 18,556
Balance at
December 31, 2005.... 37,411 s 37 S 98,624 $ 107,192 s (38,555) H 167,298
Stock-based compensation ....... 60 — 5616 —_ —_ 5,616
Tax benefit related to stock

option exercises ... _ —_ 958 — — 958
Exercise of stock options... 361 1 2,992 — —_— 2,993
Employee Stock Purchase

Plan... 38 —_ 492 - —_— 492
Purchase

COS.mvcetrreenrreme s frrasrersen s -_ —_ —_— — (17,490) (17,490)
Net income _— = - 19,729 — 19,725
Balance at

December 31, 2006......c00 00000 37,870 5 38 H 108,682 s 126,921 H (56,045) s 179,596
Stock-based compensation 9 — 3,829 — - 3,829
Tax benefit related to stock

Option EXercises ....ooveveereenrne — —_— 119 — _— 1o
Exercise of stock options.......... 161 -_ 472 _— —_— 472
Employee Stock Purchase

| S OSBRI 23 _ 237 — — 237
Purchase of treasury stock, at

COSermerenrmsenasssseesrsensnsassissaresen — —_ — — (13,909) (13,509)
Cumulative effect of change

in accounting for

uncertainties in income taxes

(FIN 48)...orirircmvccrrmrsornens - — — 382 — 382
NELINCOMIE ovicvmssrinirsrssssmassssias - — i 12,111 = 12,111
Balance at December 31,2007 __38,063 538 § 133w § 944 5 (69954

See accompanying notes.
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
{In thousands)

Operating Activities:

Net income.. e 318556 § 19,729 § 12,111
Adjustments to reconc1le net income to net cash prov1ded by operatmg
ACTIVIEIES: Lueviirrereiesieserente st s st rses s e serevanaseresasasasesanasasessesneresnssnercnssesecs
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes..........ccocoeeeveerverrenn 194 1,643 1,547
Impairment of long-lived assets........covmmimi, — — 211
Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries ................... — — 14
Certificate of need application COStS.......cccocvvrieenininn e — —_ 3,144
Depreciation and amortization............c.cevevevnieresnnsnns s 4,033 5,121 5,944
Amortization of deferred charges and debt discount ..........cceeennnee. 109 109 113
Stock-based COMPENSAtON.....ooi it cseesian e 721 5,616 3,829
Tax benefit related to stock option eXercises.........ooooverivecniiccccns 930 (958) (119)
Provision for uncollectible aCCOUNES.......veeveerrvveerevirneiciemereie e e 4142 4,117 5,493
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable from patient SErvVICes ......ccvvrvceveenniniciiins (4,677) (8,214)  (18,919)
Other CUITENT SSELS ...nviieiceer e icceeerrseeeerrseerereseserannessermnsescnrecssmrmreeas 1,278 (7,485) 5,055
DeferTed TAXES....iiiiiirieirvernrerrevnesrerseseesesnrsresee e saesresasssessesantesnenion (1,417) 8,373 (1,289)
Accrued government settlement .. . 13,000 (13,000) —
Accounts payable, accrued nursmg home costs accrued Medlcare
cap contractual adjustments and other accrued expenses ............... 21,302 19,633 (253)
Net cash provided by operating activities.........cccoviniin, 58,171 34,684 16,881

Investing Activities:
Cash paid for acquisitions, procurement of licenses and certificates of

TIEEM ... cucveeerreranereraresnesnanesessnscosmtenesere s eoes e e s e e e e bbb bbb e sana s (5,279) (787) (2,424)
Cash received from the sale of a hospice program ... — 59 698
Purchases of short-term inveStMents ..o e (79,669) (109,469)  (49,053)
Sales of Short-term INVESIMENTS .vvvevieiiieieeieecee e esseee s seeesssabesesrbrreessaveesares 39,790 95,365 61,650
Purchases of property and equipment.......c..cocovviniinnseresnsinesn, (1.687) (14412} _ (10.547)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .......cocoevinriirnnne (52,845) (29,244) 324
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common StOCK ...vvvecrevereoeeeeeeeee e 3,299 3,485 877
Cash received from sale of partnership interests .........ccccovrcsrrenisierernn — — 881
Tax benefit related to stock option eXercises ........ovvvcrcvevrecscscsenvnerinoen — 958 119
Purchase of treasury Stock ... (18,288) (17,490) (13,909
Payments of debt iSSUE COSIS....oviiviiininiiiiiiie e eres v e cr e — — (357)
Payments 01 debl.....cooveiiciininiiissesesnsesesese s sesesesessssasasesesesn oo sens (5) (4) (2)
Net cash used in financing activities .......ocoeeovieveneccnves e (14,994) (13.051) __(12,391)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents...........ccoiniiicneccinnccrnrernn, (9,668) (7,611) 4,814
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period.............cooniinna. 24.851 15,183 7,572

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period .......ccccrvrvrvvvrirnrirrricncncnceccccncecees. 815,183 § 7,572 §_ 12,386

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash INLETESE PAIL.....covieiereiiiieeriiereseseseiessreresesesesesbsesesessssaassesesesesessane $ 89 $ 79 % 95
Income taxes PAI ..covovvcvrrrerereseire e e e $ 11,248 § 8521 $ 5389

See accompanying notes.
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization

Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the *Company”) provide hospice care, with a goal of improving
the quality of life of terminally ill patients and their families. Hospice services focus on palliative care for patients
with life-limiting illnesses, which is care directed at managing pain and other discomforting symptoms and
addressing the psychosocial and spiritual needs of patients and their families. The Company provides for all
medical, psychosocial care and certain other support services related to the patient’s terminal illness.

The Company was incorporated on August 29, 1995 in the state of Delaware and, as of December 31, 2007, had
72 Medicare-certified hospice providers serving patients and their families in 29 states, with significant operations in
Texas, California and Arizona,

During 2007, the Company offered equity interests in our Savannah, Georgia and Augusta, Georgia hospice
programs to third party investors of approximately 40% each. The Company received approximately $0.9 million in
proceeds from its investors from the offerings, which is recorded in minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries in
the consolidated balance sheets.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc., its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and all subsidiaries and entities controlled by the Company through its direct ownership of a majority
voting interest. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassification

The Company reclassified operating expenses, general and administrative-hospice care and general and
administrative-support center, that in prior years were combined in one line item labeled general and administrative
expenses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investnents

Cash and cash equivalents include currency, checks on hand, money market funds and overnight repurchase
agreements of government securities. Short-term investments primarily include certificates of deposits and auction
rate securities (“ARS™) recorded at cost which approximates fair value. Initial maturities for short-term investments
are less than one year. Certificates of deposits totaled $8.1 million and $8.3 million as of December 31, 2006 and
2007, respectively. ARS totaled $54.3 million and $41.5 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

The ARS held by the Company are private placement securities with stated maturities no more than six months
for which the interest rates are reset every 35 days. Most of these securities have not experienced any payment
defaults and are backed by student loans which carry guarantees as provided for under the Federal Family Education
Loan Program of the U.S. Department of Education and all were AAA/Aaa rated at December 31, 2007. The
Company’s intent in these investments is not to hold these securities to maturity, but rather to use the periodic
auction feature to provide liquidity.

The Company has invested $41.5 million in tax exempt ARS which are classified as current assets. The ARS
held by the Company are private placement securities with stated maturities of no more than six months for which
the interest rates are reset every 35 days. The reset dates have historically provided a liquid market for these
securities as investors historically could readily sell their investments. With the liquidity issues experienced in
global credit and capital markets, the Company has not been able to liquidate any ARS since early February of 2008,
Subsequent to December 31, 2007, the Company successfully liquidated $8.4 miltion of these securities in January
2008. These securities generally have not experienced payment defaults and are backed by student loans which carry




guarantees as provided for under the Federal Family Education Loan Program of the U.S. Department of Education
and all were AAA/Aaa rated at December 31, 2007. To date the Company has collected all interest payments on all
of its ARS when due and expect to continue to do so in the future, If the uncertainties in the credit and capital
markets continue or these markets deteriorate further, these securities may not provide liquidity to the Company
when needed. Currently, there is a very limited market for these securities and further liquidations at this time, if
possible, would likely be at a significant discount. If the Company has to liquidate any ARS at this time, it would
incur significant losses. The Company currently believes that it has sufficient liquidity for its current needs without
selling any ARS and does not currently intend to attempt to further liquidate these securities until market conditions
improve. If the Company’s currently available resources are not sufficient for its needs and it is not able to liquidate
any ARS on acceptable terms on a timely basis, it could have a significant impact on the Company’s cash flows,
financial condition and results of operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties. The fair values of the long-term debt are estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses, based on the Company’s incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.
Management estimates that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, long-term debt and certain other assets are not materially different from their fair
values,

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable represents amounts due from patients, third-party payors (principally the Medicare and
Medicaid programs), and others for services rendered based on payment arrangements specific to each payor.
Approximately 91.8% and 91.0% of the gross accounts receivable as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively,
represent amounts due from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The Company maintains a policy for reserving
for uncollectible accaunts, The Company calculates the allowance for uncollectible accounts based on a formula tied
to the aging of accounts receivable by payor class. The Company may also reserve for specific accounts that are
determined to be uncoilectible. Accounts are written off when all collection efforts are exhausted.

Medicare fiscal intermediaries and other payors periodically conduct pre-payment and post-payment medical
reviews and other audits of the Company’s reimbursement claims. In order to conduct these reviews, the payor
requests documentation in the form of additional development requests from the Company and then reviews that
documentation to determine compliance with applicable rules and regulations, including the eligibility of patients to
receive hospice benefits, the appropriateness of the care provided to those patients, and the documentation of that
care. The Company cannot predict whether medical reviews or similar audits by federal or state agencies or
commercial payors of the Company’s hospice programs” reimbursement claims will resuit in material recoupments
of denials, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

Goodwill and Other Non-Amortizable Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired. Other non-
amertizable intangible assets are comprised of license agreements. Under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 1427), goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives are not amortized but reviewed for impairment annually (during the fourth quarter} or more
frequently if certain indicators arise. Goodwill is reviewed at the reporting unit level, which is defined in SFAS 142
as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment. The Company has defined their reporting units at
the operating segment level. The Company determines the fair value of the reporting units using multiples of
EBITDA, or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less
than the carrying value, then an indication of impairment exists. The amount of the impairment would be determined
by estimating the fair values of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities, with the remaining fair value
assigned to goodwill. The amount of the impairment would be the difference between the carrying amount of the
goodwill and the fair value of the goodwill. No impairment charges have been recorded as of December 31, 2007,




Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts (exclusive of the provision for
uncollectible accounts) from Medicare, Medicaid, commercial insurance and managed care payors, patients and
others for services rendered to patients. To determine net patient service revenue, management adjusts gross patient
service revenue for estimated contractual adjustments based on historical experience and estimated Medicare cap
contractual adjustments. Net patient service revenue does not include charity care or the Medicaid room and board
payments. Net patient service revenue is recognized in the month in which services are delivered. The percentage of
net patient service revenue derived under the Medicare and Medicaid programs was 97.1%, 97.1% and 96.9% for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

The Company is subject to two limitations on Medicare payments for services. With one limitation, if inpatient
days of care provided to patients at a hospice exceeds 20% of the total days of hospice care provided for an annual
period beginning on November 1st, then payment for days in excess of this limit are paid for at the routine home
care rate. None of the Company’s hospice programs exceeded the payment limits on inpatient services for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006, or 2007.

With the other limitation, overall payments made by Medicare to the Company on a per hospice program basis
are also subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare fiscal intermediary at the end of the hospice cap period.
The Medicare revenue paid to a hospice program from November 1 to October 31 of the following year may not
exceed the annual cap amount which is calculated by using the following formula: Number of admissions to the
program by patients who are electing to receive their Medicare hospice benefit for the first time multiplied by the
Medicare cap amount, which for the November 1, 2006 through October 31, 2007 Medicare cap year is $21,410.
The Medicare cap amount is reduced proportionately for patients who transferred in or out of our hospice services.
The Medicare cap amount is annually adjusted for inflation, but is not adjusted for geographic differences in wage
levels, although hospice per diem payment rates are wage indexed. The Medicare cap amount for the November I,
2007 through October 31, 2008 cap year has not yet been announced by the Medicare program. The Company
currently estimates the Medicare cap amount to be approximately $22,052 for the Medicare cap year ending October
31, 2008.

The Company accrued a Medicare cap contractual adjustment from continuing operations of $7.2 million, $10.6
million and $5.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2006, the accrual includes an adjustment of $3.1 million for the 2005 Medicare cap year. For the year
ended December 31, 2007, the accrual includes an adjustment of $0.9 million for the 2006 Medicare cap year.

The following table shows the amounts accrued and paid for the Medicare cap contractual adjustments for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively:

Accrued Medicare Cap Contractual Adjustments
Year ending December 31,
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

Beginning balance - accrued Medicare cap contractual

AAJUSTITIENIES cvoveveveeerarererere s sss e bssststsre e mn e £ 2915 $ 14,883 £ 26,679
Medicare cap contractual adjustments...........coccnicrininn 7,182(1) 10,621(2) 5,261(3)
Medicare cap contractual adjustments - discontinued

OPETALIONIS .v.vveveererermererereeeeectissb s iassb b esba b ses e nsesee e tesrnane 4,786(4) 5,843(4) 2,429(4)
Payments to Medicare fiscal intermediaries ... — (1,983) (12,687)
Reclassification to accounts payable .......ccvecvovcrciiiiiiinn — {2.685)(5) —
Ending balance - accrued Medicare cap contractual

AAJUSIMENTS ..ot rsaes e § 14,883 S 26679 § 21682




(1) On August 26, 2005, the Centers for Medicare & Mediczid Services (“CMS™) issued Change Request
Transmittal 663 publishing the final Medicare per beneficiary cap amount of $19,778 for the 2005 Medicare
cap year ended October 31, 2005 and indicated that the cap amount for the 2004 Medicare cap year ended
October 31, 2004 was incorrectly computed. This cap amount was lower than the estimated cap amount that the
Company used for 2005 due to CMS’s error in computing the cap amount for the 2004 Medicare cap year. As a
result, the 2005 accrued Medicare cap contractual adjustment of $7.2 million includes $1.0 million for the
lower 2005 Medicare cap amount and an additional $1.1 million for the 2003 and 2004 Medicare cap years for
the estimated impact of the revised cap amounts.

(2) Includes additional accrual of $3.1 million related to the 2005 Medicare cap year.
(3) Includes additional accrual of $0.9 million related to the 2006 Medicare cap year.

(4) Medicare cap contractual adjustments reclassified to discontinued operations are related to all programs that we
have discontinued and sold during 2006 and 2007.

(5) Amounts were reclassified from accrued Medicare cap contractual adjustments to accounts payable in
December 2006 and were paid in January 2007 to the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

The Company will continue to review the adequacy of its accrued estimated Medicare cap contractual
adjustments on a quarterly basis. Because of the many variables involved in estimating the Medicare cap contractual
there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near term.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.
The Company believes that it is in material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Compliance with
laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory
action including fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Charity Care

The Company provides charity care to patients without charge when management of the hospice program
determines that the patient does not have the financial capability to pay, which is determined at or near the time of
admission. Because the Company does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.

Charity care, based on established charges, amounted to $4.6 million, $4.4 million and $4.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Direct Hospice Care Expenses

Direct hospice care expenses consist primarily of direct patient care salaries, employee benefits, payroll taxes,
and travel costs associated with hospice care providers. Direct hospice care expenses also include the cost of
pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and supplies, inpatient arrangements, net nursing home costs, medical director
fees, purchased services such as ambulance, infusion and radiology and reimbursement for mileage for the
Company’s patient caregivers.

Property and Equipment and Other Intangible Assers

Property and equipment, including improvements to existing facilities, are recorded at cost. Depreciation and
amortization are calculated principally using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Estimated useful lives for major asset categories are three to five years for equipment and computer software, five
years for office furniture and twenty years for buildings. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of
the lease term or the asset’s useful life, generally three to five years. Routine repairs and maintenance are charged to
expense as incurred.
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Costs associated with developing computer software for internal use are capitalized under the provisions of
Statement of Position 98-1 “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed for Internal Use” (“SOP 98-
1”"). Under SOP 98-1, both direct and indirect internal and external costs incurred during the application
development stage, excluding training costs, are capitalized.

Other intangible assets are comprised of licenses, non-compete agreements and capitalized Certificate of Need
(“CON™) costs. The non-compete agreements are being amortized based on the terms of their respective agreements.
The CON costs are related to CON’s obtained in Florida under the Company’s not-for-profit subsidiary and are
being amortized over 20 years. Licenses are not being amortized due to their indefinite lives but are reviewed
annually for impairment.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (‘SFAS 144’), when events, circumstances and operating results indicate that the
carrying value of certain property, equipment, and other intangible assets might be impaired, the Company prepares
projections of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual
disposition. If the projections indicate that the recorded amounts are not expected to be recoverable, such amounts
are reduced to estimated fair value. Indicators of potential impairment are typically beyond the control of
management. If market conditions become less favorable than those projected by management, impairments may be
required. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded a loss of $0.2 million for the write-
down of a building to its estimated fair value that was expected to be developed as a free standing inpatient facility
which was not yet operational. The Company decided not to pursue this inpatient facility and expects to sell this
building in the first quarter of 2008,

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R"), using the modified
prospective transition method. Under this method, stock compensation expense was recognized beginning January 1,
2006 for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested at January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair
value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123, and for all share-based payments granted
subsequent to January I, 2006 at the grant date fair value, using estimated forfeitures. Prior periods were not
restated. Stock compensation expense for share-based payments subject to graded vesting is recognized straight line
over the vesting period. Also see Note 5 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its share-based compensation plans under the recognition
and measurement principles of APB 25, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). APB 25 used the intrinsic value method to account for
options granted to employees. No share-based compensation expense was recognized in the consolidated statements
of operations for the periods prior to 2006, as all unvested options granted had exercise prices equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Net Income Per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is computed by dividing the
net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period plus the effect of
dilutive securities, giving effect to the conversion of employee stock options, restricted stock awards and
outstanding warrants (using the treasury stock method and considering the effect of unrecognized deferred
compensation charges). Also see Note 6 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Discontinued Operations

The Company accounts for discontinued operations under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 requires that a
component of an entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale after January 1, 2002 and has
operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the entity be reported as discontinued
operations. In the period that a component of an entity has been disposed of or classified as held for sale, the results
of operations for current and prior periods are reclassified in a single caption titled discontinued operations.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method as required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109™). Under the liability
method, deferred taxes are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to
reverse. Also see Note 12 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in accordance with SFAS 109. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 is
reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return and also provides guidance on various related matters such as derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosures and transition. Also see Note 12 to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

General and Professional Liability Insurance

The Company maintains general (occurrence basis) and professional (claims made basis) liability insurance
coverage on a company-wide basis with limits of liability of $1.0 million per occurrence and $3.0 million in the
aggregate, both with a deductible of $75,000 per occurrence or claim. The Company also maintains workers’
compensation coverage, except in Texas, at the statutory limits and an employer’s liability policy with a $1.0 million
limit per accident/employee, with a deductible of $500,000 per occurrence. In Texas the Company does not
subscribe to the state workers’ compensation program, instead the Company maintains a separate employer’s excess
indemnity coverage in the amount of $5.0 million per accident/employee and voluntary indemnity coverage in the
arount of $5.0 million per accident/empioyee, with a $5.0 million aggregate limit. The Company also maintains a
policy insuring hired and non-owned automobiles with a $1.0 million limit of liability and a $250,000 deductible per
occurrence. [n addition, the Company maintains umbrella coverage with a limit of $20.0 million excess over the
general, professional, hired and non-owned automobile and employer’s liability policies. The Company has accrued
$2.8 million and $2.2 million for workers’ compensation claims as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Nursing Home Costs

For patients receiving nursing home care under a state Medicaid program who elect hospice care under Medicare
or Medicaid, the Company contracts with nursing homes for the nursing homes to provide patients room and board
services. The state must pay the Company, in addition to the applicable Medicare or Medicaid hospice daily or
hourly rate, an amount equal to at least 95% of the Medicaid daily nursing home rate for room and board fumnished
to the patient by the nursing home. Under the Company’s standard nursing home contracts, the Company pays the
nursing home for these room and board services at the Medicaid daily nursing home rate. Nursing home costs are
offset by nursing home net revenue, and the net amount is included in direct hospice care expenses. Nursing home
costs totaled $76.7 million, $81.6 million and $84.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively. Nursing home net revenue totaled $73.6 million, $77.3 million and $80.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2006 and 2007, respectively. This resulted in net nursing home costs of $3.1 million, $4.3
million and $4.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred, which totaled $0.3 million, $0.6 million and $0.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007.

Deferred Rent Liability

Payments under operating leases are recognized as rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
related lease. The difference between the rent expense recognized for financial reporting purposes and the actual
payments made in accordance with the lease agreements is recognized as a deferred rent liability. Rent expense
charged to operations exceeded actual rent payments by $1.7 million, $1.8 million and $1.8 million for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Management estimates include an allowance for uncollectible
accounts and contractual allowances, accrued compensation, accrued Medicare cap contractual adjustments, accrued
nursing home costs, accrued workers’ compensation, accrued patient care costs, accrued income taxes, accrued
professional fees, stock-based compensation expense and goodwill and intangible asset impairment. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued statement No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning afier November 15, 2007, with earlier
application encouraged. In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 157-1 “Application of FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13 and Other Accounting
Pronouncements That Address Fair Value Measurements for Purpose of Lease Classification or Measurement under
Statement 13 (“FSP 157-1"") which removes leasing transactions from the scope of SFAS 157. FSP 157-1 is
effective upon adoption of SFAS 157. In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB
Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 (“FSP 157-2”) which delays the effective
date of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, at least annually to fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008. Any amounts recognized upon adoption as a cumulative effect adjustment will be recorded to
the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. The Company does not anticipate a material impact
from the implementation of SFAS 157 on its financial condition and results of operations.

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159
is effective for financial statements beginning after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted. The
statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair vatue. The
unrealized gains or losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected would be reported in earnings.
The objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate
volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply
complex hedge accounting provisions. The Company does not anticipate a material impact from the implementation
of SFAS 159 on its financial position and results of operations.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141(R), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R retains the purchase method of
accounting for acquisitions, but requires a number of changes, including changes in the way assets and liabilities are
recognized in purchase accounting as well as requiring the expensing of acquisition-related costs as incurred.
Furthermore, SFAS 141R provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business
combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the
nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008, Earlier adoption is prohibited. While the Company has not yet fully evaluated the impact
of SFAS 141R on its financial condition and results of operations, the Company will be required to expense costs
related to any future acquisitions beginning January 1, 2009,

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No.160 “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements™ (‘SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 is
effective for financial statements beginning after December 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibited. All
presentation and disclosure requirements will be applied retrospectively for all periods presented. SFAS 160
establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, sometimes call
minority interest, and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. Noncontrolling interest will be reported as a
component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Consolidated net income will be reported at amounts
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that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest, with additional disclosures
on the face of the statement of operations of the amounts of consolidated net income that are attributable to the
parent and the noncontrolling interests. SFAS 160 establishes a change in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in deconsolidation are equity transactions. A gain or loss in net income is recognized
for changes that result in deconsolidation. The Company has not yet determined the full impact of SFAS 160 on its
financial condition and results of operations, but it anticipates reclassification of its minority interests in consolidates
subsidiaries in its consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity.

2. Acquisition

On March 6, 2008, the Company completed its acquisition of Scottsdale, Arizona-based VistaCare, Inc.
("VistaCare”) for $8.60 per share, or approximately $147.1 million. The transaction was structured as a two-step
acquisition including a cash tender offer for all outstanding shares of VistaCare common stock followed by a cash
merger in which the Company acquired any remaining outstanding shares of VistaCare common stock. The
transaction will substantially extend the Company’s industry leadership and geographic reach in its markets. The
transaction will also create additional visibility that adds value in recruiting and development activities. With the
completion of the transaction, the Company has approximately 110 owned or operated locations in 30 states and an
average daily census of more than 12,000. The operations of VistaCare will be included in the Company’s results of
operations beginning February 29, 2008. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, VistaCare reported annual
revenues of approximately $241.0 million. The Company is in the process of obtaining appraisals and valuations on
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The Company funded the purchase price and related transaction costs with a six-year $130 million term loan
from General Electric Capital Corporation and the other lenders. See Note 11 1o the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

The Company had paid $0.5 million in transaction costs, which are included in intangible assets in the
consolidated balance sheets at of December 31, 2007.

3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill allocated to the Company’s reportable segments at December 31, 2006 and 2007 is as follows (in
thousands):

South
Northeast _Southemt  _Central Midwest Teaa Mountain West Total
JARUACY 1, 2006......oucmoeececcr i ssssrasssmsssssses § 3397 % 12298 % 07346 $ 3,734 % 21,775 $ 31983 § 7530 § 98163
Acquisitions.......... — 16 — — = — — 16
December 31, 2006......oiiioconieicirreeeeces s sssenesaes 3,397 12,314 17,346 3,734 21,7175 31,983 7,630 98,179
ACQUISIHION oven e — == — e e — — —_
December 31, 2007 e § 3397 § 12314 $§ 17346 $ 3734 5 21775 §_31983 $._7630 §_ 98179

The Company’s total cumulative amortizable goodwill for tax purposes was $85.8 million and $84.1 million as
of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The goodwill expected to be deductible for tax purposes is $5.7
millien and $5.6 million for the tax years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Other indefinite lived intangible assets are comprised of license agreements, which totaled $2.3 million as of
December 31, 2006 and 2007, and are included in intangibles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
Company does not believe there is any indication that the carrving value of the license agreements exceeds its fair
value. '

Intangible assets subject to amortization related to non-compete agreements are being amortized based on the
terms of their respective agreements and totaled $0.3 million and $0.3 million {net of accumulated amortization of
$2.0 million and $1.9 million) as of December 31, 2006 and 20007, respectively, and are included in intangibles in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense of the assets that still require amortization
under SFAS 142 was $0.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and
2007, respectively. Amortization expense relating to these intangible assets will be approximately $0.1 million in
2008.
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Intangible assets subject to amortization related to CON costs totaled $2.1 million and $0.7 million (net of
amortization) as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, and are included in intangibles, net of accumulated
amortization in the accompanying balance sheet. During the fourth quarter of 2007, additional information arising
from a CON trial that occurred in December 2007 and other developments during the fourth quarter of 2007 related
to several pending CON applications caused the Company, along with the Company’s counsel, to reassess the
probability that the Company would prevail in the Company’s pending CON applications. Based on the Company’s
reassessment of the Company’s pending CON applications, the Company determined that the capitalized application
costs related to these pending CON applications no longer had any future value. An impairment charge of
approximately $2.3 million was recorded in the fourth quarter 2007 to reduce the value of the pending CON
application costs. An additional charge of $0.8 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2007. The remaining
CON costs pertaining to licenses received are amortized over a 20 year life.

Intangible assets subject to amortization for deferred costs related to the Expired Credit Agreement and the 2007
Credit Agreement described in Note 11 are being amortized over the terms of the respective credit agreements. The
deferred costs totaled $41,000 and $0.3 million (net of accumutated amortization) as of December 31, 2006 and
2007, respectively, and are included in intangibles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

4. Repurchase of Common Stock

On November 1, 2004, the Company announced the adoption of an open market stock repurchase program to
repurchase up to $30.0 million of the Company’s common stock over a nine-month period. The timing and the
amount of any repurchase of shares during the nine-month period was determined by management based on its
evaluation of market conditions and other factors. The Company completed this stock repurchase program in March
2005 and repurchased 2,515,434 shares of the Company’s common stock at a cost of $30.0 million (average cost of
$11.93 per share). Stock repurchases were funded out of working capital.

On August 11, 2005, the Company announced the adoption of another open market stock repurchase program to
repurchase up to $20.0 million of the Company’s common stock over a twelve-month period. The timing and the
amount of any repurchase of shares during the twelve-month period was determined by management based on its
evaluation of market conditions and other factors, The Company completed this stock repurchase progtam in August
2006 and repurchased an aggregate of 973,332 shares of the Company’s common stock at a total cost of $16.8
million (average cost of $17.30 per share). The stock repurchases were funded out of working capital.

On November 21, 2006, the Company announced the adoption of a new open market stock repurchase program
to repurchase up to $10.0 miilion of the Company’s commen stock over a twelve-month period. The timing and the
amount of any repurchase of shares during the twelve-month period was determined by management based on its
evaluation of market conditions and other factors. The Company completed this stock repurchase program in May
2007 and repurchased an aggregate of 801,683 shares of the Company’s common stock at a total cost of $10.0
million (average cost of $12.47 per share). Of this amount, 59,477 shares for approximately $0.8 million was
repurchased in 2007. The stock repurchases were funded out of working capital.

On May 4, 2007, the Company announced the adoption of a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to $50.0
mitlion of the Company’s common stock over the twelve month period beginning on May 4, 2007 either in the open
market or through privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions and other factors. The repurchased
shares will be added to the treasury shares of the Company and may be used for employee stock plans and for other
corporate purposes. The stock has been and will continue to be repurchased utilizing working capital and borrowings
under the Company’s revolving line of credit. As of December 31, 2007, the Company repurchased 1,056,623 shares
of its commeon stock for approximately $13.1 million (average cost of $12.42 per share). The Company is entitled to
repurchase up to an additional $36.9 million under its stock repurchase program; however, the terms of its credit
agreement currently restrict the Company’s ability to repurchase any additional stock until its leverage ratio reaches
a certain level, which is not expected to be reached within the next twelve months.
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5. Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards

During 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan (“Compensation Plan”). Awards
of stock options and restricted stock under the Compensation Plan shall not exceed the lesser of 225,000,000 shares
or 10% of the total number of shares of common stock then outstanding, assuming the exercise of all outstanding
options, warrants and the conversion or exchange or exercise of all securities convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for common stock. In May 2005, shareholders of the Company approved an amendment to increase the
number of common shares reserved and available for issuance from inception of the Compensation Plan to a total of
6,149,778 shares under the Compensation Plan, The Company no longer grants options under the Odyssey
HealthCare, Inc. Stock Option Plan (“Stock Option Plan™).

At December 31, 2007, there were 47,964 and 3,205,040 options outstanding under the Stock Option Plan and
the Compensation Plan, respectively, with exercise prices ranging from $1.38 to $30.64 per share. Most options
granted have five 1o ten year terms and vest ratably over a four or five year term, with the exception of certain
options that the Company accelerated the vesting.

Effective December 8, 2005, the Compensation Committee (the “Committee™) of the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the acceleration, in full, of the vesting of unvested stock options having an exercise price of
$20.00 or greater granted under the Compensation Plan that were held by current employees and executive officers
of the Company. Stock option awards granted from May 27, 2003 through February 26, 2004 with respect to
492,061 shares of the Company’s common stock, including stock options with respect to 382,500 shares of common
stock that are held by executive officers of the Company, were subject to this accelerated vesting.

Effective December 8, 2005, these stock options had per share exercise prices in excess of the closing price of
$19.48 per share of Common Stock as quoted on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (formerly known as The Nasdaq
National Market), and, accordingly, were “underwater.” The Company believed that, absent accelerated vesting,
these underwater stock options did not serve to incentivize or retain employees. The Company expected that the
accelerated vesting of these stock options would have a positive effect on employee merale, retention and perception
of stock option value. The accelerated vesting will also eliminate the future compensation expense that the Company
would otherwise r¢cognize in its consolidated statement of operations with respect to these options at January 1,
2006 when SFAS 123R became effective, The future expense that was eliminated as a result of the accelerated
vesting of these stock options was approximately $5.9 million, or $3.6 million net of tax {of which approximately
$3.8 million, or $2.3 million net of tax, was attributable to options held by executive officers of the Company).

At December 31, 2007, there were 206,788 restricted stock awards outstanding under the Compensation Plan
that are described in more detail below,

In November 2004, the Company issued grants related to 175,000 restricted stock awards to certain executive
officers for $2.1 million, which represents the fair value of the awards based on the fair market value of the common
stock of $12.10 per share on the date of grant, which was November 18, 2004. This amount is being recognized as
stock-based compensation on a straight-line basis over the four-year period following the date of grant, which is
based on the four-year vesting schedule applicable to the grant. For each of the years ended December 31, 20085,
2006 and 2007, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of $0.5 million related to these restricted stock
awards. As of December 31, 2007, there are 36,250 restricted stock awards outstanding related to the November
2004 grants.

In October 2005, the Company issued grants related to 84,000 restricted stock awards to certain employees for
$1.4 million, which represents the fair value of the awards based on the fair market value of the common stock of
$16.60 per share on the date of grant, which was October 4, 2005. This amount is being recognized as stock-based
compensation on a straight-line basis over the three-year period following the date of grant, which is based on the
three-year vesting schedule applicable to the grant. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the
Company recorded $0.1 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively, in stock-based compensation expense
related to these restricted stock awards. As of December 31, 2007, there were 66,000 restricted stock awards
outstanding related to the October 2005 grants.
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In December 2006, the Company issued grants related to 118,130 restricted stock awards to certain employees
for $1.5 miilion, which represents the fair value of the awards based on the fair market value of the common stock of
$12.88 per share on the date of grant, which was December 20, 2006. This amount is being recognized as stock-
based compensation on a straight-line basis over the four-year period following the date of grant, which is based on
the four-year vesting schedule applicable to the grant. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, the
Company recorded $11,000 and $0.3 million, respectively, in stock-based compensation expense related to these
restricted stock awards. As of December 31, 2007, there were 76,538 restricted stock awards outstanding related to
the December 2006 grants.

On December 20, 2006, the Company granted 88,129 incentive-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain
employees. The vesting of the incentive-based RSUs is dependent upon the Company attaining a specified earnings
per share (“EPS™) target for calendar year 2007. The total number of incentive-based RSUs that will be eligible for
each award recipient is dependent on the EPS level actually attained by the Company for 2007. If the actual EPS that
the Company attains is within any of the EPS ranges specified in the award, the total number of incentive-based
RSUs that will be earned and eligible for vesting will be prorated to account for the interim level of EPS. Provided
the award recipient remains an employee continuously from the date of grant through the applicable vesting date,
25% of the incentive-based RSUs eligible for vesting for each award recipient, based on the satisfaction of the
applicable EPS target, will vest on the date the Committee of the Board of the Directors of the Company certifies
that the EPS target for 2007 has been met. The remaining 75% of the incentive-based RSUs eligible for vesting for
each award recipient, based on the satisfaction of the applicable EPS target, will vest in three equal annual
installments beginning on December 20, 2008. The Company determined it was not probable the incentive-based
RSUs would be earned and eligible to vest based on the specified EPS target and no stock-based compensation
expense has been recognized.

In May 2007, the Company issued grants related to 28,000 restricted stock awards to its non-employee Board of
Directors for $0.4 million, which represents the fair value of the awards based on the fair market value of the
common stock of $12.70 per share on the date of grant, which was May 4, 2007. This amount is being recognized as
stock-based compensation on a straight-line basis over the one-year period following the date of grant, which is
based on the one-year vesting schedule applicable to the grant. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company
recorded $0.2 million in stock-based compensation expense related to these restricted stock awards. As of December
31, 2007, there were 28,000 restricted stock awards outstanding related to the May 2007 grants.

There were 1,416,293, 1,080,007 and 1,466,883 shares available for issuance under the Compensation Plan as of
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

The Company recorded $0.7 million, $5.6 million and $3.8 million in stock-based compensation expense for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, for awards under the Compensation Plan. The tax
benefit on stock-based compensation expense was $0.3 million, $2.2 million and $1.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and income per share if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to all stock-based compensation.




Year Ended
December 31,

2008

Income from continuing operations, as rePoTEd ... e e ane 3 18,750
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net of taX..........cccovrvrerreresrsrererrecas 421
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense, net of taX ..ooooeicnicnccccineceennes {8.897)
Pro forma income from continUing OPErations .........ceveeeeerieennecnie st e s e sasssesaseesse s

Nt INCOME, 88 TEPOTTE ... e rirerreresserees e e sbs i e et eae e e see e e na e essarssssaresssssat s anme e seme et e aseerer e rrs $ 18,556
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net of taX.........ocoovivirenrrrnnnecrsninnn, 421
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense, net of tax .....c.ccveveereneeveecerenennnnn, (8.897)

Pro fOITNA NEL IMCOIMIE ....uviieieieeeeieeiiit et rse s e sttt st s emae e s me e s bb e e e b b eb e s bbb b naieae §_ 10,080
Earnings per share:
Basic income per share:

Income from continuing operations per share - as TEPOTTE........ccccvveeiciniriiniiiisiiii e seessesaneeacs £ 055
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net of taX.........ccceevvevei i 0.01
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense, net of tax ....ooooccviiceinocecenccececns (0.26)
Pro forma income from continuing operations pershare.........o i,

Net income per share - as FEPOTLEA .......cevverereressesereceeeerce e b cecsmnsenasrarases $§ 054
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net of tax........cccccccvrrerreresvsrererereercnens 0.01
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense, net 0f taX .....oovvecveeenicnnvnnrernnnnnnes (0.26)

Pro forma net INCOME PEI SHATE ......coeiiiiiieiicce ettt ert e eece s re e sre e nra s bn b asas 029
Diluted income per share:

Income from continuing operations per share - s TEPOTted.........cccoemuurrirnrinner e eee e enans § 054
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net of taX.....co e, 0.01
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense, net of tax ........cccccvvrveerernrereresnene {0.25)
Pro forma income from continuing operations Per Share..............ccorveeenniniernrereeesesessserarscenenensnsasns

Net income per share - 85 FEPOTTEd .........coueeuecirrirrenree e s e e s e s e ses s sanen s $§ 053
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net 0f tAX........ccev i 0.0t
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employce compensatlon expense, Net Of tAX .o, (0.25)
Pro forma net income per share... § 029

The deemed fair value for options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes Model, which
considers volatility. The following table illustrates the weighted average assumptions for the years ended December
31:

2005 2006 2007
Risk-free INterest [ate.......ooveiiiiiic et et e 426% 4.358%  4.57%
Expected 1ife... ..ottt nenens 3 YEATS 5 years 5 years
EXpected VOIAtIHLY ..o vreeeerreeererneeeerereesene s e v srasaenesasassnssasnesnt s eceaes 0.347 0.376 0.496
Expected dividend Yield ..o ces s ss e ansssreareseones —_ — —

A summary of stock option activity under the Company’s stock compensation plans at December 31, 2007 is
presented below:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Weighted- Contractual Aggregate
Average Term Intrinsic
__Options  _ Exercise Price | __{in years) Value
Qutstanding at January 1, 2007 .o 1,852,720 $ 16.79
Granted ..o s 333,800 $ 10.63
EXEICISEA ....ooeceeeecerecietrersesaeesessssssassesenemse e sensnenens {182,114y $ 3.51
Cancelled ..o _(751.402) $ 18.98
Outstanding at December 31, 2007..........cocoiciivincciinen 4,253,004 $ 16.38 6.80 $ 1,367,673
Exercisable at December 31, 2007 .......ocoeieemnrimnmenrecnninnns 2,262,863 $ 1748 6.07 $ 1,076,347

The weighted average deemed fair value of the options granted was $6.05, $6.70 and $5.14 for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The total aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $4.4
million, $2.9 million and $1.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The
total fair value of shares that vested during the year ended December 31, 2007 was $3.6 million.
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A summary of the Company’s non-vested shares including restricted shares at December 31, 2007 is presented
below:

Compensation Plan

Weighted-
Average

i Grant-Date

Shares FairValue
Non-vested at January 1, 2007........c.cmiiimmn e e 1,879,327 $ 746
L 1 111~ « ATy U OO UUTU U 361,800 $ 572
RT3 =« OO U SRS (514,094 § 7.01
CANCEIIEA o ooree et ieciv i ibr e ssstirssssabssssststaeasabsnssesatatatstatssrsnnesssarnnesernsesassssnensnnnrnn (530,104) §$ 7.26
Non-vested at December 31, 2007 ... i ssss s besssessssratassrsseres 1,196,929 § 7.21

As of December 31, 2007, there was $8.5 million (pretax) of total unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense related to the Company’s non-vested stock-based compensation plans which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.

Cash received from option exercises under stock-based payment arrangements during the year ended December
31, 2007 was $0.6 million.

In February 2008, the Committee approved, for certain executive officers, the exchange of selected “underwater”
stock options for restricted stock. The Committee was concerned that the underwater stock options provided little or
no financial or retention incentives to the executive officers. The Committee believes that the exchange of the
underwater stock options for the restricted stock adequately addresses those concerns. Stock option awards of
685,000 shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $17.35, were exchanged for 126,146 shares of restricted
stock. Of the stock option awards exchanged, 287,500 shares were unvested. The shares of restricted stock had a fair
value of $8.72 per share and will vest ratably over a three year period beginning February 12, 2009. The Company
does not anticipate a material change to our share-based compensation expense from the exchange.

6. Net Income Per Common Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income per common share:

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Numerator for net income per share
Income from continuing operations .. §_ 18,750 $ 21372 $ 13,658
Income (loss) from discontinued operatlons e 3 (194) 3 (1,643) 3_(1,547)
NELIICOME ..c.oviiiiiirciniarri e et seee e ss e s e nenenas $ 18,356 $ 19,729 § 12,111
Denominator:
Denominator for basic net income per share - weighted average
SHATES 1ovieeii ittt bbbt ebsssabses s bsbasesabststetabstartstatarntes 34,384 34,145 33,029
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options and unvested restricted stock awards ... 522 382 157
Series B Preferred Stock Warrants convertible to common
SEOCK oottt 29 2 2
Denominator for diluted net income per share - adjusted weighted
average shares and assumed or actual conversions.............c.ceue... 34,935 34,529 33,188
Income (loss) per common share:
Basic:
CONtINUING OPEIALIONS ...eveevererarieririirrie e rerneseses e resrsanes 3 0.55 3 063 $__ 041
Discontinued Operations..........covvriereriseisesresssreesisinisessessresessnas $ (0.0]) 3 (0.05) 3 (0.04)
NEE HICOIME ..t eeiereree ettt eses e et aseesneseseasesssnesnaresen $ 054 3 038 § 037
Diluted: ...
Continuing OPErations .......oovvevevieieeeieiesieie e eeee s eee e s esneassns 3 054 $ 062 § 041
Discontinued OPerations........cccvcicisisisismrimrsissinsnesseressessens $ (00D 3 (0.05) $_ (0.05)
INEL ITICOTTIE 1ttt see e teees et e st e sassrassae s sae s sasa e bbssabssabesansessssssssnn $§ 053 § 057 $ 036
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For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2006 and 2007, options outstanding of 2,730,378, 2,715,685 and
3,014,219, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted eamnings per share because either the
exercise prices of the options were greater than the average market price of the common stock or the total assumed
proceeds under the treasury stock method resulted in negative incremental shares, and thus the inclusion would have
been antidilutive.

7. Discontinued Operations

During the second quarter of 2006, the Company decided to sell its Salt Lake City, Utah hospice program
(*SLC™), located in the Mountain region based on an ongoing strategic review of its hospice programs. The sale of
SLC was completed in July 2006. Certain assets such as furniture/fixtures, equipment, computer hardware, leasehold
improvements, prepaid expenses, office lease deposit and licenses were sold to the purchaser. Except for obligations
under certain assumed contracts, no other liabilities were assumed by the purchaser. The Company recognized a loss
of $0.2 million related to the sale of the program during the second quarter of 2006.

On January 29, 2007, the Company announced that it would exit the Tulsa, Oklahoma hospice market which is
located in the Company’s Central region and on February 22, 2007, the Company sold its Tulsa hospice program. As
part of the sale, the purchaser assumed the office lease and purchased certain assets such as furniture/fixtures,
equipment, deposits and licenses. The Company recognized a loss of $0.1 million related to the sale of the program
during the first quarter of 2007.

As part of the Company’s ongoing strategic review of its hospice programs, the Company decided in the second
quarter of 2007 to sell its Valdosta, Georgia; Columbia, South Carolina; St. George, Utah; Rockford, Illinois; and
Allentown, Pennsylvania hospice programs and the Huntsville, Alabama alternate delivery site (“ADS”). The
Company completed the sale of its Valdosta and Columbia programs which are located in the Southeast region on
June 16, 2007 and recognized a pretax loss of $0.1 million in the second quarter on the sale of the programs. The
Company completed the sale of its Huntsville ADS and its St. George and Allentown programs during the third
quarter of 2007 and recognized a pretax loss of $44,000 in the third quarter for the disposition of the programs. The
Company completed the sale of the Rockford program during the fourth quarter of 2007 and recognized a pretax
gain of $0.1 million in the fourth quarter on the sale of the Rockford program,

As part of the Company’s ongoing strategic review of its hospice programs, the Company decided in the fourth
quarter of 2007 to sell its Odessa, Texas; Big Spring, Texas; Cincinnati, Ohio; and Wichita, Kansas hospice
programs. The Company completed the sale of the Odessa and Big Spring programs which are located in the
Mountain region on January 1, 2008 and recognized a pretax loss of $17,000 during the fourth quarter of 2007
related to the sale of the Odessa and Big Spring programs. The Company completed the sale of the Cincinnati and
Wichita programs during the first quarter of 2008 and no material amounts were recorded as a result.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the Company recorded a charge of approximately
$0.2 million, $1.6 million and $1.5 million, respectively, net of taxes, or $0.01, $0.05 and $0.05 per diluted share,
respectively, which represents the operating losses and loss on disposals for discontinued operations. These charges
are included in discontinued operations for the respective periods.

The assets of these entities included in discontinued operations are presented in the consolidated balance sheets
under the captions “Assets of discontinued operations.” The carrying amounts of these assets were as follows:

Asof As of
December 31, December 31,
2006 2007
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Prepaid expenses and other CUITent SSe1S ..........coviiveiecceeeeee s $ 105
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation ... 532 154
Medicare LICEMSES ...ceeveeereiiciiiiiiii et s e 226 40
Total assets of discontinued Operations...........cvvvereevceresirninrn e $ 863 3 226
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Net revenue and losses for these entities and the write-down of assets sold were included in the consolidated
statement of operations as “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes,” for all periods
presented. The amounts are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net patient SEIVICe FEVEMUE. ......cc.evercrerrreseessrereressesesssreresesssssssssnsesens $ 27,131 $ 25,359 $ 16,126
Pre-tax loss from Operations..........o.ooecivevevceececeeceee e § (G £ (2,231 £ (2,447
Benefit for INCOME tAXES ... evererreemcecerere e rser e rassessesssesreserens 140 752 816
Loss from discontinued 0perations.........cccvcerererereseieieinnnsseesesssessnsssnns £ (194) § (1,479) £ (1,631)
Write-down of certain assets to be sold, net of income taxes............. — (164) 84
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes.................... 3§ (499 5 (1,643) $ 0.547)

8. Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

The allowance for uncollectible accounts for patient accounts receivable is as follows:

Balance at Provision for Write-Offs, Balance at
Beginning of Uncollectible Net of End of
Year Accotints Recoveries Year
(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2005.........ccocoviiviviminnenisresenenens $ 3,862 $ 4,142 $ (5975) § 2,029

Year ended December 31, 2008.........ccccv v iveesrereecenserensens $ 2,029 $ 4117 $ (3,645 % 2,501

Year ended December 31, 2007.........c.cvvvveevcveneresseersssserenssns $ 2,501 § 5493 $ (3,631) 3 4,363

9. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is as follows:
December 31,
2006 2007
{In thousands)

OFFI08 RUIMIURE ......evvvcr v ceseiereses e reses e sessesessersssessersensasersenseserssnsasess atasasessasssssssssessonsassrssntasenssnen § 56985 7203
CompuEer RATAWATE ..ottt s s ss s s s e a e sa e s e e s e e b e s b s bneabasbesbarssasesnin 5,360 6,160
COMPULET SOTIWATE ....oveeeeeeeieerteteereecece s eeeeee s et ette e emsbesesbr e be st e bebe s b e babess s st easasentessanasensen 10,429 11,384
EQUIPINENL. ......ovrrerrrirarereeresnsrerarersesessesermsessaressessssssesnmessersanesesasensassstaseiasssnssssessnrsassesssnesasesasnsarans 1,510 2,225
MOLOT VERICIES 1uiui it eees e eeerssrereesess st s e b e i s e raesrerar e sabeseaa b sass b e st sheenensn b erasabesaseresassbnants 409 409
553« O U U R 1,516 1,521
Leasehold iMPrOvVEMIENTS ... ..o it et e s e e s e s 7,872 9,390
CONSITUCTION IN PTOZTESS ..uvevereeerserseserensnesrrriererarsressrarsnenessaressessssesssrarsssssssssseseasensasssessssseresnss 2,067 —
36,198 45,498
Less accumulated depreciation and amOrtiZation ...........cceivevnnrresrerersrenniiesessninimessseserasesnens 15,849 _ 21,190
$ 20,349 § 24,308

The Company has $6.1 million and $5.2 million in unamortized computer software costs as of December 31,
2006 and 2007, respectively. The Company recorded depreciation expense related to amortization of computer
software costs of $1.0 million, $1.7 million and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and
2007, respectively. The Company expensed approximately $0.7 million and $1.8 million in maintenance and
training costs related to the new billing system for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
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10. Other Accrued Expenses

Other accrued expenses are as follows:

December 31,

2006 2007
(In thousands)

WOTKEIS” COMPENSATION c.eceeiivevrerrerertereistnersesiresiasensessssnessnssassesessesrererssarsresssanssssssarssssssseassscaens $ 2846 % 2,182
T T3 1 SO OO OO 3,956 5,020
REIL .ceeeceestiee e etseisbteeestatavar et s s mm s ee s saaneae e bees s ssaaeasssaeeesbeae s snbeseaabeeneaaabetesabataesaabneesranaeeesnanasar 1,667 1,649
PRATINACY ...c.vivirivirririsirisis ittt e se e s e s s e s e ba s e been bbb b s anneasas 1,052 333
Medical supplies and durable medical equipment ..........ooooooriii 1,582 1,677
PIOPEITY LAXES ..uviuireereisireereesetesneserrerernsenrese s s e s nr e se e nr e s renrere s e b e e b s b e R a e bR sa b b ar s e ar e bR e asaein 345 340
Medical director fEeS ...ttt e aeras 234 487
PrOFESSIONA] FEES .. vneeeeeeeeeeeeeee et et a e e s e bbbt st as s e b s b et esa s nenenes 1,135 962
New billing system and computer SORWATE. ..o s 3,006 2,646
OMHET ...ceeereeevecersnereraressesssnsserasersssrassnenssnsrerssesrsnssssasasasesemensaeesammesesmseomsseed e sb s bbb ek s bbb na bbb ans 574 2,149

$ 16,397 § 17,445

11. Line of Credit and Long-Term Deht
Line of credit and long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,

2006 2007
(In thousands)
Leasehold improvement loans due between 2005 and 2008; interest at 6.50% and 10.37%............. $3 $1
LLESS CUITETIE IMALUTTIIES. ..c.eeie e ceeeeeecieeteseceneree e s s st cessbessaesesestnanresaesshessaessnsaasesea senasersnssmnesnssanssneas _2 1
31 i=

On May 14, 2004, the Company entered into a credit agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation (as
amended on November 1, 2004, February 22, 2006, September 29, 2006 and October 19, 2006, the “Expired Credit
Agreement”) that provided the Company with a $20.0 million revolving line of credit, subject to three separate
$10.0 mitlion increase options, which expired May 14, 2007.

On May 24, 2007, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an amended and restated credit
agreement (the *2007 Credit Agreement”) with General Electric Capital Corporation that provides the Company and
such subsidiaries with a $40 million revolving line of credit, subject to a $10 million increase option. The revolving
line of credit was available to be used, if necessary, to fund future acquisitions, stock repurchases, working capital
requirements, capital expenditures, and general corporate purposes. The revolving line of credit was scheduled to
expire on May 24, 2009, but has been replaced by the new revolving line of credit described below. The revolving
line of credit had an unused facility fee of 0.25% per annum. No amounts were drawn on the revolving line of credit
as of December 31, 2007. The revolving line of credit was secured by substantially all of the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ existing and after-acquired personal property. The Company and its subsidiaries were subject to
affirmative and negative covenants under the 2007 Credit Agreement, including financial covenants consisting of a
maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. As of December 31, 2007, management
believes the Company and its subsidiaries were in compliance with ail covenants under the 2007 Credit Agreement.

In connection with the execution of the 2007 Credit Agreement, the Company incurred $0.4 million of loan costs
which are being amortized over the life of the 2007 Credit Agreement.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of VistaCare, it entered into a Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) on February 28, 2008 with General Electric Capital Corporation and
certain other lenders that provides the Company with a $130 million term loan (the “Term Loan™) and a $30 million
revolving line of credit, The Term Loan was used to pay a portion of the purchase price and costs incurred with
respect to the acquisition of VistaCare, to repay all amounts owing under certain indebtedness of VistaCare and to
pay certain fees and expenses incurred in connection with the: Credit Agreement and the acquisition of VistaCare.
The revolving line of credit will be used to fund future acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures, and
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general corporate purposes. Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at an applicable margin above an Index
Rate (based on the higher of the prime rate or 50 basis points over the federal funds rate) or above LIBOR.
Borrowings outstanding under the revolving line of credit will bear interest at an applicable margin above LIBOR or
the Index Rate. As of February 28, 2008, both the applicable term loan margin and the applicable revolver margin
for LIBOR loans was 3.00% and for Index Rate loans was 2.00% and, based on the Company’s leverage ratio, each
may increase up to 3.25% for LIBOR loans and up to 2.25% for Index Rate loans.

The final installment of the Term Loan will be due 72 months after February 28, 2008 and the revolving line of
credit will expire 60 months from February 28, 2008. The revolving line of credit has an unused facility fee of
0.25% per annum. In connection with the acquisition of VistaCare, all of the subsidiaries of VistaCare (together with
the Company, and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, including VistaCare the “Odyssey Obligors”) have
become guarantors of the obligations under the Credit Agreement and have granted security interests in substantially
all of their existing and after-acquired personal property. The Term Loan and the revolving line of credit are secured
by substantially atl of the Odyssey Obligors’ existing and after-acquired personal property, including the stock of
certain subsidiaries not party to the Credit Agreement. The Odyssey Obligors are subject to affirmative and negative
covenants under the Credit Agreement, including financial covenants consisting of a maximum leverage ratio and a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.

In connection with the execution of the Credit Agreement, the Company incurred $4.0 million of loan costs
which will be amortized over the life of the Credit Agreement.

12. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,
2006 2007
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

ACCOUNS FECEIVADIE ..ot e e s $ (1902) % (661)

IIISUTAIICE . ..c.eee et i st e sesssrae e ce e e e e et s ste st e st vsr e em e e ase s e e s am e s st s s e d e R e s R e et e e a b e e asesndsaensbarararnenn (434) (306)
ACCTUEd COMPENSALION ..ot b e rensa et 1,018 1,188
WOTKers' COMPENSATION .cucvvrvreireecicccc ittt s e 1,089 1,082
L1117 S OO OO PY 229 97
— 1,400

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred COMPENSALION c..cccccirieciriee ittt e e e sb st et 1,805 2,651
GOVEIMIMENT SEILIETHETIL ......cveviiereearirrrreenrsrarersrsseressnescesescraereirtsabsssssissarssesnsasasesnssssnssnssass (1,530) —

Amortizable and depreciable 8SSELS ........cvvirriesirice i e (14,123)  (17,425)
OBRET ... vttt te it eseeve s eaese e e smssuesasasassasasams asemc e e bbb Rt S R e R e et e r s b enes (8D 433

(13,929 __(14.041)

Net deferred 1ax Habilities. ... ..c.coireierrrcrrreerinrer ettt e § (13,929 §_(12.641)

The components of the Company’s income tax expense are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
(In thousands)

Current:
FOACRTAL 1eneeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteseressse s s aem e e aee e emeesesesssabssarssasssabarsnenbessrssasessssnnsnsesaen $ 13,159 § 5,683 $ 5245
LT L RO SO OOV RRUPRROPRT 1,596 636 1,067
14,755 6,319 6,312

Deferred:
FURTAL ..o e et ssstsesressssrsesee e seseaseeetn s 4 s bt aaba s s sanensabnsaaasaartns s s nenrasans (1,238) 4,748 466
AL oo oeeeveeeetereseessasereaaeesaeeeeaaeeaneeemnesstssaratsanss s ssseamne e rdneas bt e bateerat e i Eeanrne e s aseresennn (179) 592 52

(1417) 5340 _ 518
$.13338 § 11,650 § 6,830
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The reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the federal statutory tax rate to income tax expense is as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

Amount  _Percent _ Amount  Percent _Amount _Percent
{Dollars in thousands)

Tax at federal StAtOTY TALE .......ccovvrererererrrererreesecrsienens § 11,231 35% $ 11,561 35% % 7,171 35%
State income tax, net of federal benefit ..........cccevneenee. 1,284 4 661 2 727 4
Non-deductible portion of government settlement ......, 1,400 4 — - —_ —
Munigcipal interest income not included in taxable

ITICOMNE Loiritierice et s b ser e nssans (381) (1) 31 @ (739) @
Income tax credits.. ..o — - (130 (1) 313 @
Other non-deductible expenses and other..........coccecrann. __(196) — 344 1 (16 —

$ 15,338 42% § 11659 35% $ 6830 3%

As a result of the application of the provisions of FIN 48, the Company recorded an adjustment of $0.4 million
to its opening balance of retained earnings and reclassified $1.3 million from deferred tax liabilities to other
liabilities for uncertain tax positions. If these liabilities are settled favorably, it would impact the Company’s
effective tax rate, The only periods still subject to audit for the Company’s federal tax return are the 2003 through
2006 tax years. The Company will classify interest and penalties in the provision for income taxes. The Company
has recorded an accrual of $0.2 million for interest in the provision for income taxes during the vear ended
December 31, 2007.

The activity of the liability for uncertain tax positions is as follows (in millions):

Balance JAnUALY 1, 2007 ..ot st ss st s see s sr s s abs s se e eseasssnssssssasssensanessaserssesssasnsensnsarss § 13
ACCTUAL OF INEETESE ...vviieccrvviiricssee e eee v e re et te st e te st st s e sa et se e e s s sassaease st smnsnn gt e ne s e sbnatsseemnsrs e saeasa st nteseess 0.2
SEttIEIMENt PAYITIENL ..vvviviriicee ettt irtn et b st s s b e a e e e e e sa bR e e ia b e s e e m e o e R AR b e b S e m e ensmrne e s are e (0.1)
Reduction for lapse of statutes of HMItAtIONS ......o.ocvei it {0.1)
Balance December 31, 2007 ... et isvesssassres e e ssas s saies e & 13

The Company does not expect a significant increase or decrease to the liability for uncertain tax positions over
the next twelve months.

13. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan, which is available to substantially all employees after meeting certain
eligibility requirements. The plan provides for contributions by the employees based on a percentage of their
income. The Company at its discretion may make contributions. Maiching contributions totaled $0.7 million, $0.8
million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases office space and equipment at its various locations. Most of the Company’s lease terms
have escalation clauses and renewal options, typically, equal to the original lease term. Total rental expense was
approximately $10.7 million, $12.5 million and $14.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and
2007, respectively.

Future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases for the years subsequent to
December 31, 2007, are as follows (in thousands):

200D ... ciiitie ittt rre e re e e st re st esar e s eea e E e e e b esa ke eatesaLe Rt e Rt sn s Re R ave e eReeeneraserabetttebnetee b erare st e sabesaeanranres 10,187
4 1 SO YOO 8,474
200 it ceeeesb et e e eee e e e eyt E e ek sk s eere Rt oA SRS babssanteenea Rt ea b e A b At eeenenb e sREe LRSS taksensanennebe bbb sdes s eensrebareaban 7,070
2002 oot r et et se e e e e e e b s et e be s bt e e R e rEe e e r e AT AL s e sae e e AR s e ReesAaeea et daatanreesaneeebtteannnearsaeare 5,104
ST (oLt L= OO U U RO 8,622

$ 52437
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Contingencies and Government Setilement

On July 9, 2004, in the District Court, Dallas County, Texas, John Connolly brought a shareholders” derivative
action for the benefit of the Company, as nominal defendant, against the former Chief Executive Officers, former
Chief Financial Officer and former Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President of Human Resources and Senior
Vice President of Clinical and Regulatory Affairs of the Company and seven of the current members of the board of
directors of the Company and two former members of the board of directors of the Company. The petition alteged
breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment
on the part of each of the named executive officers, members of the board of directors and two former members of
the board of directors. The petition sought unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, as well as interest and
costs, including legal fees from the individual defendants. No damages were sought from the Company. A similar
derivative lawsuit was also filed on July 9, 2004, in the District Court, Dallas County, Texas, by Anne Molinari, for
the benefit of the Company, as nominal defendant against the same defendants, making substantially similar
allegations and seeking substantially similar damages and was consolidated with the above lawsuit filed by Mr.
Connolly. On July 28, 2006, plaintiffs filed a third amended consolidated petition making substantially similar
claims as those in the original petition. The individual defendants and the Company filed a motion to dismiss and/or
special exceptions on August 15, 2006. On September 28, 2006, the Court granted the individual defendants’ and the
Company’s special exceptions and on October 3, 2006, entered a final order of dismissal without prejudice. On
November 2, 2006, plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal to appeal the Court’s decision to dismiss the petition to the
Court of Appeals for the Fifth District of Texas at Dallas. The briefing on the appeal was completed on July 5, 2007,
and oral argument was completed on November 27, 2007. While the Company cannot predict the outcome of the
matter, it believes the claims are without merit. If any of these claims are successfully asserted against the
defendants, there could be a material adverse effect on the Company due to the indemnification provisions found in
the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Company’s certificate of incorporation and indemnification agreements
entered into between the Company and each of the individual defendants.

On December 30, 2004, in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dailas Division,
John O.Hanson brought a sharcholders® derivative action, for the benefit of the Company, as nominal defendant,
against the former Chief Executive Officers and former Chief Financial Officer and seven of the current members of
the board of directors of the Company and a former member of the board of directors of the Company. The
complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty and gross
mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment on the part of each of the individual defendants.
The complaint seeks unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, as well as interest and costs, including legal
fees from the individual defendants. No damages are sought from the Company. On November 20, 2006, the
individual defendants and the Company filed a motion to dismiss defendant’s complaint. The District Court granted
the individual defendants’ and the Company’s motion to dismiss on September 21, 2007, and plaintiff’s time to file
a notice of appeal has expired. On October 2, 2007, plaintiff sent the Company a demand letter requesting that the
Company assert the claims set forth in the complaint against the defendants named in the complaint. The Company
is currently reviewing the demand.

In September 2004, the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) informed the Company that it was
conducting an investigation of certain Company patient certification, patient referral and coordination of benefits
practices. In July 2005, the DOJ informed the Company that the investigation stemmed from two gui tam actions
filed under federal court seal in 2003. In February 2006, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the
DOJ to permanently settle for $13.0 million the two qui ram actions and the related DOJ investigation. The
settlement did not involve the admission of any liability or acknowledgement of wrongdoing by the Company. On
July 6, 2006, the Company entered into a definitive settlement agreement with the DOJ and the first in time qui tam
relator to permanently settle the first in time complaint. After fully investigating the federal allegations made in the
second gui tam complaint, the DOJ elected not to intervene in the complaint. As a result, the second in time relators
have dismissed their complaint with prejudice as to any and all federal claims. The DOJ filed a letter with the
District Court in support of the dismissal. As part of the settlement of the first qui tam complaint the Company
entered into a corporate integrity agreement on July 6, 2006 with the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services, Office of Inspector General. The Company paid the $13.0 million settlement on July 11, 2006.
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On February 14, 2008 the Company received a letter from the Texas Attorney General’s office notifying the
Company that it is conducting an investigation concerning Medicaid hospice services provided by Odyssey and
requesting approximately 50 medical records of patients served by the Company’s programs in the State of Texas.
Based on the early stage of this investigation and limited information that the Company has at this time it cannot
predict the outcome of this investigation, the Texas Attorney General’s views of the issues being investigated, any
actions that the Texas Attorney General may take or the impact, if any, that the investigation may have on the
Company’s business, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources. The Company believes that it is in material
compliance with the rules and regulations applicable to the Texas Medicaid hospice program.

From time to time, the Company may be involved in other litigation matters relating to claims that arise in the
ordinary course of its business. Although the ultimate liability for these matters cannot be determined, based on the
information currently available to the Company, the Company does not believe that the resolution of these other
litigation matters to which the Company is currently a party will have a material adverse effect on the Company. As
of December 31, 2007, the Company has accrued approximately $0.3 million related to the other litigation matters.

15, Segment Reporting

The Company currently evaluates performance and allocates resources by regions primarily on the basis of cost
per day of care and income from continuing operations. The hospice programs that are included in each region were
changed in 2007, but regions are presented for all periods here in a comparative format. The distribution by regions
of the Company’s net patient service revenue, direct hospice care expenses, income (loss) from continuing
operations before other income (expense} (which is used by management for operating performance review),
average daily census and assets by geographic location are summarized in the following tables (amounts have been
reclassified for discontinuing operations):

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

{In thousands)

Net patient service revenue:
NOTMHEASE. ..ottt srne s ess oo B 28,796 8 36,935 3 46,446

SOULhEESE ... e e 55,193 63,625 68,005
South Central ..o e 39,585 42,476 44,121
MIAWESE ..o s 44,876 51,618 51,433
TEXAS ..ot b et 51,155 59,786 63,074
MOUTAIN .t e e s s ssssssnsserens 77,413 74,529 71,835
WEST et rs R s e e ne e r 58,774 60,587 60,819
COTPOTALE ..ot e s sss st sbs s e s b e {1,275) {(4,575) (861)

5 354017 § 384,981 3 404872
Direct hospice care expenses:
NOMREASt .1ttt s B 10,749 8 21,394 § 25,714

SOULREASE...... et 30,662 39,072 43,445
South Central ... 23,553 26,514 29,418
MIAWESE .ottt s e e e b et 22,931 27,692 29,585
TEXAS ittt e e et e 30,486 37,259 40,080
MOUNTAIN ..ot e se e neeassrere e 42,742 41,441 40,311
WESL .ttt ettt e e v e s s bt 30,757 33,814 31,712
COTPOTALE ...ceecerirnrcrsrseme e e nsase s st ve b — —_ _(128)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before other income {expense):
NOFHEASE ..cooveeercnrie e srs s ssnssssnss e 0 3,920 8 5,833 8 9,935

S OUIIIEAS ettt rttee sttt e oo s e v e b e e bbb st e eeegaa bt s bbbt em e aenmr sttt st a b bae s e eemsrrneras 13,083 10,842 8,680
SOULH CENILTAL.....ovveerieeei e e isieesteeeeeereesessserssenseemsenessesstes sreentesssssesnssnnens 6,257 5,573 2,696
IMIAWESE «oevriiciiiii ittt see e e eeesresstobssneeemeen s abssbnasb e et eenbessnonnesnresanaes 12,346 13,969 9,938
TeXas....covrervirrirneenns eeerevereastesesenareeeenereraetasanatettie e eaateterassesenarsasennaearanenes 9973 9,022 6,943
1% G101 41 | OO 20,602 18,514 15,784
TWEST coatoivrereieiiire e st e s e e s s es et s s e s e s sasssabassbmas vrbesasntssbassta sesbsesnbessesravaasare 17,188 13,620 14,563

COIPOTALE ...covevrrriarsiees e siras b s r b ass st ssnsen e s s s ssnasa b et e e e s e e nsnssmsene (52,424} _ (46.731) __ (50,338)
§ 30945 § 30642 § 18,201
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Performance Graph

The companies that comprise Odyssey HealthCare, Inc.’s (the "Company™) Peer Group for purposes of stockholder return comparisons are as
follows: Lincare Holdings. Inc.. Amedisys. Inc.. Gentiva Health Services, Inc.. United Surgical Parters lnternational. Inc.. ViscaCare. Inc. and
Chemed Corporation.  Uneil the Company completed its acquisition of VistaCare, Inc. on March 6. 2008, VistaCarc. Inc. was the only publicly held
healtheare provider other than the Company thar exelusively provided huspice services. The Company includes Chemed Corporation in its Peer
Group. because Chemed Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiary, VITAS Healchcare Corporation. is one of the largest hospice providers in the United
States and is generally considered a peer by the invesement community. Amedisys, Inc. and Gentiva Health Services, Inc. are included in the
Company’s Peer Group. because they provide hospice services in addition to their core home health business, which is a non-faciliry based healthcare
serviee Yike hospice. Lincare Holdings. Inc. is included in the Company’s Peer Graup, because it also provides non-facility based healtheare services.
United Surgical Partners International. Inc.. is included in the Company’s Peer Group. beeause it primarily provides ourpatient healtheare services
and shares many of the same financial characteristics of the Company. The Company belicves that its Peer Group is comparable to the Company.
because it consists of primarily non-facility based healtheare services providers that are generally characeerized by relatively fow levels of leverage,
sulid cash flow and multipte sources of groweh, including sume store groweh, de nove development and modest acquisition programs.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return®
Among Odyssey HealthCare, Ine.. The NASDAG Compusite Index and A Peer Group
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